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IFRS 
in EUR millions unless otherwise stated 

10/2017 – 
09/2018

10/2016 – 
09/2017 Absolute delta Delta in %

Earnings Situation      

Sales revenues 332.4 300.5 31.8 11

EBITDA 31.2 29.4 1.8 6

   EBITDA margin (in %) 9.4 9.8    

EBITA 25.4 24.8 0.6 2

EBIT 20.6 20.1 0.5 3

   EBIT margin (in %) 6.2 6.7    

Earnings after tax 13.7 13.1 0.6 5
          

Balance Sheet      

Total assets 183.2 168.7 14.4 9

Equity 77.0 69.5 7.5 11

   Equity ratio (in %) 42 41    

Net liquidity  7.0 2.5 4.5 176
          

Employees      

Number of employees (at end of financial year) 1,677 1,476 201 14

Full-time equivalents (ø) 1,436 1,262 174 14
          

Share      

Number of shares (ø) 4,982,000 4,982,000 0 0

Share price (at end of financial year, in EUR) 59.60 65.05 -5.45 -8

Market capitalisation (at end of financial year) 296.9 324.1 -27.2 -8

Earnings per share (in EUR) 2.82 2.63 0.19 7
          

Non-financial performance indicators     
Delta in 

percentage points

Employee retention (in %) 91.6 94.3   -2.7

Health index (in %) 97.5 97.4   0.1
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About Us 
 
 
All for One Steeb AG (ISIN DE0005110001) is a leading IT ser-
vices and consulting provider and sought-after partner for digi-
talisation in the midmarket. The full-service provider’s portfolio 
comprises end-to-end services and solutions across the entire 
IT value chain, from management and technology consulting, 
SAP industry solutions and cloud applications up to highly scal-
able multi-cloud services out of German data centers, where All 
for One Steeb is orchestrating highly available IT operations for 
all business-related IT systems – including SAP as well as Mi-
crosoft. This is why market observers also rank All for One Steeb 
as the number 1 in the German-speaking SAP market amongst 
the leading IT service providers for Cloud Transformation, SAP 
HANA and SAP S/4HANA, Business Analytics and Performance 

Management, Human Capital Management, Customer Engage-
ment & Commerce, Application Management Services or Com-
munications and Collaboration.  
 
As an SAP Platinum Partner, All for One Steeb is a reliable gen-
eral contractor and serves with more than 1,600 employees 
over 2,000 clients in Germany, Austria and Switzerland, mainly 
among the manufacturing and consumer goods industry. As a 
founding member of United VARs, the largest global network of 
leading SAP partners, All for One Steeb guarantees a compre-
hensive consulting and service portfolio as well as the best lo-
cal support in some 90 countries.  
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»Venturing into a New  
Dimension« 
 
Lars Landwehrkamp and Stefan Land have designed the Strategy Offensive 2022 to gain a 
firmer footing among larger midmarket companies. Between now and 2023, they plan to 
increase sales to 550 to 600 million euros and to raise the EBIT margin to more than 7%. 
Ambitious goals! Having said that, the forecasts have always been met or even exceeded for 
the last 10 years. In November 2018, both members of the management board extended 
their contracts until 2023. 

    

» Our environment is changing 
dramatically. Five years from now, we 
still want to be one of the top teams.« 

Lars Landwehrkamp (CEO) 
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The mission: »We enhance our customers' 
ability to compete«. This requires a holistic 
mindset to address questions relating to 
strategy and culture and the best IT solution 
landscapes – for more efficient and smarter 
processes, for example –, closer ties to cus-
tomers and suppliers, real-time information 
for all types of decisions or new work envi-
ronments to improve collaboration. None of 
which sounds really new. Nevertheless, All 
for One Steeb AG will be investing a one-off 
amount in the mid-single-digit euro millions 
in 2018/19 in its Strategy Offensive 2022, 
which was presented mid-November 2018. 
Why? What's the point?  
 
But the business is running fine. Why 
bother with a strategy offensive now? 
Landwehrkamp: Our development in 
2017/18 has indeed been very good again. 
Over the past 10 years, we have laid an 
enormously robust foundation. About half of 
our business generates sustainably recur-
ring revenues. But our success so far is no 
reason to lie back and relax. Our environ-
ment is changing dramatically. Five years 
from now, we still want to be one of the top 
teams. Added to which, the widespread 
transformation among our customers 
opens up huge additional opportunities for 
us. Trends such as SAP S/4HANA, machine 
learning, Internet of things, the role played 
by cloud platforms as future operating sys-
tems, the leading positions occupied by SAP 
and Microsoft – all of these cornerstones 
are increasingly growing stronger. Our strat-
egy offensive aims to make our organisa-
tion fit for the next big growth step. And now 
is the right time to do it. By the end of the fi-
nancial year 2022/23 we want our sales to 
be between 550 million and 600 million eu-
ros and our EBIT margin to top 7%.  
 

You have invested a lot over the past three 
years, as well...  
Land: ...that is true. That had nothing to do 
with our strategy offensive, though. Now, 
we are targeting these three new themes: 
brand architecture, go to market, and build-
ing entirely new growth businesses. 
 
What is behind it all? 
Land: Ultimately, our strategy offensive is 
all about offering our customers much more 
comprehensive support with services pro-
vided by our entire Group. The emphasis is 
on the Group. We plan to rollout a new um-
brella brand and a new brand architecture to 
create a consistent visual identity through-
out the whole Group. It will then be clear at 
first glance that we and our subsidiaries to-
gether all form a strong group. The individual 
performance of each unit builds on that of 
the others. Their collaboration and interac-
tion allows customers to reap maximum 
added value in excess of the mere sum of 
the individual performances. We will also be 
restructuring our sales and consulting 
teams – we talk of customer success man-
agement in this respect – and, by doing so, 
expand our market access to encompass 
larger midmarket companies. This is also 
where our new areas of growth business will 
increasingly come to bear. To achieve this, 
we are investing heavily in IT security, Inter-
net of things, machine learning, new work 
and proprietary software solutions, above 
and beyond our main areas of focus, such as 
SAP S/4HANA and cloud services. Likewise, 
part of our strategy offensive will involve 
building broader cross-sectional areas – 
shared services – for Group management. 

» Ultimately, our strategy 
offensive is all about offering our 

customers much more 
comprehensive support with 

services provided by our entire 
Group.« 

Stefan Land (CFO) 
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Where does the acquisition of TalentChamp 
fit into your strategy offensive? 
Landwehrkamp: When it comes to shaping 
digital transformation, the human resource 
manager is of key importance. Just con-
sider topics such as e-recruiting and talent 
management in an environment character-
ised by a severe shortage of specialists. 
With our subsidiary KWP INSIDE HR we be-
lieve we are a leading provider of all-inclu-
sive HR services and HR IT. KWP already 
manages more than one quarter of the total 
market of an estimated 4,000 SAP HCM cus-
tomers in Germany. Notwithstanding that, 
most companies have yet to start their jour-
ney into the HR cloud. Market observers 
expect HR cloud deployments to grow by 
86% over the coming years. TalentChamp 
has cloud DNA and is recognised as a talent 
management specialist with years of SAP 
SuccessFactors expertise. Together with 
KWP and TalentChamp, we want to leverage 
in full the potential digital value to be found 
in HR departments. Our shared potential is 
huge. Both companies are the perfect com-
plements in terms of customer and service 
portfolios. Together, they offer what is pos-
sibly the most comprehensive HR process 

and technology expertise for SAP solutions 
combined with HR best practices that have 
been specially developed for the midmar-
ket. Added to which, TalentChamp has excel-
lent references among larger midmarket 
companies and therefore fits perfectly into 
the roadmap of our strategy offensive. 
 
More growth equates to more staff. How are 
you doing in this respect? 
Landwehrkamp: It is becoming increasingly 
difficult. Excluding acquisitions, our team 
grew by 200 employees in the financial year 
2017/18. Our employee retention level is 
about 92%, which is still unusually good for 
our sector and is partly due to the high de-
gree of individual entrepreneurial responsi-
bility and personal freedom we allow, which 
is key to our culture and values. Added to 
which, one thing that is always noticeable in 
rankings such as Germany's best employer 
or Kununu is how warmly our employees 
recommend their employer. A recruiter can-
not ask for better support than that. We also 
work closely with universities, offer our own 
training schemes, run dedicated online re-
cruiting campaigns and regularly organise 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

» Most companies have yet to start 
their journey into the HR cloud. 

Together with KWP and TalentChamp, 
we are in a very good position.« 
Lars Landwehrkamp (CEO) 

»As part of our strategy 
offensive, we have clearly 

defined IT security as a driver 
of growth and plan to 

continue growing this area 
enormously.« 

Stefan Land (CFO) 



Company    I    Group Management Report    I    Consolidated Financial Statements    I    Notes     I    Additional Information 

 Annual Report All for One Steeb AG 9 

 programmes for trainees and working stu-
dents. We even received a Human Re-
sources Excellence Award 2018 for our new 
recruiting campaign »At home with All for 
One Steeb«. Nevertheless, in doing so, we 
can only cushion the shortage of special-
ists. Finding sufficient good staff remains a 
huge challenge. 
 
The shortage of specialists seem to be 
commonplace in the midmarket. Does the 
same hold true for IT security? 
Land: For some years now, cyber attacks on 
business-critical systems have been in-
creasing strongly. IT landscapes are becom-
ing increasingly hybrid and more complex. 
Each and every area of work is involved. Ac-
cordingly there are an increasing number of 
increasingly large gaps through which at-
tackers can slip. They need to be monitored 
and closed to avert damage – an enormous 
workload. A second strong driver is the new 
EU General Data Protection Regulation. Vio-
lations can now incur painful fines. Not to 
mention the increased risk of damage to 
your reputation if violations become public  

knowledge. As such, IT security is high on 
the agenda, not just for me but also for my 
CFO colleague. As part of our strategy offen-
sive we have therefore identified this topic 
clearly as a driver of growth and plan to con-
tinue growing this area enormously. 
 
Where do you see yourselves at the end of 
the transition year 2018/19? 
Land: In 2018/19, we will see a growing shift 
from one-off revenues from the sale of soft-
ware licenses to recurring cloud revenues. 
Accordingly, we expect total sales of be-
tween 345 million and 355 million euros in 
2018/19.  Adjusted for the special effects of 
the strategy offensive costs, our EBIT is ex-
pected to total between 21 million and 
22  million euros. The one-off special costs 
of the strategy offensive will be a mid-sin-
gle-digit euro million amount at EBIT level. 
The end to our high capital expenditures is, 
however, foreseeable. We expect margins to 
gradually start growing again from 2020.  

 
 
 

»The end to our high capital 
expenditures is, however, foreseeable. 
We expect margins to gradually start 

growing again from 2020.« 
Stefan Land (CFO) 
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The Share 
 

»Promising investment for investors with a long-term horizon« 
 

Despite increased investment in the future as part of its strategy offensive 2022, All for One 
Steeb AG plans to continue its sustainable dividend policy. 
 

 
2017/18 was the tenth consecutive year in which All for One 
Steeb AG has met its forecast targets for sales and EBIT. The ac-
curacy of this guidance is due in large part to the high recurring 
revenues, which meanwhile account for around half of total rev-
enues. Boersengefluester.de – a widely-respected financial 
blog – called the company a »Promising investment for inves-
tors with a long-term horizon« on 10 September 2018. 
 
More than 140 Meetings with Investors 
And yet All for One Steeb AG enjoys a good reputation among in-
vestors for more than just the accuracy of its guidance. Inves-
tors also appreciate its reporting quality: continuous, transpar-
ent and open. Our efforts focus in equal measure on institu-
tional investors, private investors, analysts and the financial 
and business press alike. More than 140 individual meetings 
(2016/17: more than 80) were held with institutional investors 
in the year under review. On top of these, we provided detailed 
reports on the company's business performance at events for 
investors, press dates, trade fairs and in telephone and ana-
lysts' conferences. Investors can find a wealth of information 
that is constantly updated in the Investor Relations section on 
our website (www.all-for-one.com/ir). 

Share Price Decline over the Course of the Year 
When the financial year started on 2 October 2017, the shares 
closed at EUR 64.61. Five months later, on 19 February 2018, 
the share price had risen and peaked at EUR 71.80. At year-end 
on 28 September 2018, the shares closed at EUR 59.60. Over-
all, therefore, market capitalisation over the course of the cur-
rent year under review decreased by 8% from EUR 321.9 million 
to 296.9 million. Just a reminder: Back in March 2009, the 
share price was EUR 1.50. Since then, the shares have not only 
gained enormously in visibility; they have also become consid-
erably more vulnerable to fluctuations in the market as a whole. 
Market observers expect 2019 to generally be another chal-
lenging year for investors. Opportunities are seen to exist, 
above all, for stable companies with strong business models. 
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Sustainable Dividend Policy 
Our business model is robust and generates sustainable 
growth. This success is due in large part to our focus on the right 
areas of innovation and growth, which will continue to hold true 
into the future. Accordingly, we will be investing more in the fu-
ture in the financial year 2018/19 as part of our strategy offen-
sive 2022. Nevertheless, since we plan to continue our divi-
dend policy, we will be proposing payment of an unchanged 
stable dividend of EUR 1.20 per eligible share to the annual gen-
eral meeting on 13 March 2019. 

Relative to Group earnings after tax of EUR 13.7 million in the 
financial year 2017/18 (2016/17: EUR 13.1 million), this 
equates to a distribution ratio of 44% (2016/17: 46%). We plan 
to continue our sustainable dividend policy in the future. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Key Figures   

ISIN / WKN  DE0005110001 / 511 000 

Market Segment Prime Standard  

Stock Exchange Centre Frankfurt Stock Exchange 

Date of Listing 30 Nov 1998 (then: AC-Service AG) 
Indices CDAX, Prime All Share, Technology All Share, DAXsector All Software, DAXsector Software, 

DAXsubsector All IT-Services, DAXsubsector IT-Services 

Designated Sponsor BankM, Baader Bank 

Highest Price Financial Year 2017/181 EUR 71.80 (19 Feb 2018) 

Lowest Price Financial Year 2017/181 EUR 56.40 (21 Aug 2018) 

Price at Start of Financial Year 2017/181 EUR 64.61 (2 Oct 2017) 

Price at End of Financial Year 2017/181 EUR 59.60 (28 Sep 2018) 

Market Capitalisation2 EUR 296.9 million 

Earnings per Share in Financial Year 2017/18 EUR 2.82 

Share Capital EUR 14.95 million 

Number of Shares 4,982,000 registered shares 
1)  end-of-day share price (XETRA)   
2)  based on closing share price on 28 September 2018 (XETRA) and 4,982,000 shares 

   
Shareholders' Structure   

Unternehmens Invest AG approx. 25% 

UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH approx. 25% 

BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co KG approx. 12% 

Management and Supervisory Board approx. 3% 
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Corporate  
Governance Report 
 

Good corporate governance strengthens the faith of all stakeholders in our company. 
Responsible, sustainable and transparent corporate governance is therefore not only firmly 
anchored in our daily business; it is also valued very highly at our company. 
 
Transparency, sustainability, responsible management and 
control: our shareholders, business partners, employees and 
the financial markets appreciate how we actively implement 
corporate governance at All for One Steeb AG. We regularly draw 
upon the recommendations made by the Government Commis-
sion on the German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) as a 
source of ideas, suggestions and guidance for improving and 
enhancing the way we control and manage our company. The 
most recent recommendations of the DCGK dated 7 February 
2017 that came into effect on 24 April 2017 are still applicable. 
No new recommendations were issued in the current year un-
der review. We therefore focused on applying and implement-
ing the current recommendations over the period. 
 
The following Corporate Governance Report by the manage-
ment board and supervisory board also includes the Corporate 
Governance Statement: 
 
Declaration of Conformity and  
Corporate Governance Statement  
The Declaration of Conformity by the supervisory board and 
management board prepared in accordance with §161 »Ak-
tiengesetz« and the Corporate Governance Statement pursu-
ant to §289f of the German Commercial Code (hereafter called 
»Handelsgesetzbuch« or »HGB«) can be found in the Investor 
Relations section of  our website www.all-for-one.com. The Dec-
laration of Conformity approved and published in September 
2018 reflects our efforts to maintain high standards of corpo-
rate governance. 
 
Shareholders and the Annual General Meeting 
The shareholders of All for One Steeb AG exercise their rights be-
fore or during the annual general meeting. Each registered 
share carries one vote in accordance with §13 of the company 
articles of association. The chairman of the supervisory board 
chairs the annual general meeting. The annual general meeting 
makes decisions in all matters assigned to it by law and the 

company articles of association. 
 
Supervisory Board 
The primary task of the supervisory board is to advise and over-
see the management board. In accordance with the company 
articles of association, the company’s supervisory board 
consists of six members, two of whom are employee 
representatives. The responsibilities und obligations of the 
supervisory board and its committees are as regulated in the 
»Aktiengesetz«, the company articles of association and in the 
standing rules of the supervisory board and its committees. 
The supervisory board has set specific goals regarding its com-
position and has drawn up a related competency profile for the 
board as a whole. The goals and competency profile can be 
found in the Investor Relations section of the company’s web-
site www.all-for-one.com. The nominations forwarded for con-
sideration to the annual general meeting are all based on these. 
 
Management Board 
As the managing body of a stock corporation, the management 
board »shall have direct responsibility« for the management of 
the company (§76, section 1 »Aktiengesetz«), exercises its 
own discretion, and is bound by the company‘s interests and 
operating policies within the framework of stock corporation 
law. In exercising its executive authority, the management 
board is committed to increasing the company’s sustainable 
enterprise value. It reports to the supervisory board compre-
hensively and on a regular basis about all issues concerning 
business performance, corporate strategy and potential risks. 
The responsibilities and obligations of the management board 
are as regulated in the »Aktiengesetz«, the company articles 
of association, the standing rules and in the management 
board’s schedule of responsibilities.  
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The Work of the Management Board  
and Supervisory Board  
The management board and supervisory board maintain a 
close and trusted relationship as they work in the interest of 
the company. The chairman of the supervisory board co-ordi-
nates the work of the supervisory board and chairs its meet-
ings. The supervisory board also appointed committees. The 
management board usually participates in the meetings of the 
supervisory board, reports orally and in writing about the indi-
vidual agenda items and proposed resolutions, and answers 
questions put forth by the members of the supervisory board. 
 
In accordance with §6 of the company articles of association, 
the supervisory board appoints the members of the manage-
ment board and establishes the standing rules and a schedule 
of responsibilities for the management board. The chairman of 
the supervisory board decides if the members of the manage-
ment board should take part in the supervisory board meet-
ings. And finally, the supervisory board establishes standing 
rules for itself and for its committees. The supervisory board 
provides details about its activities and the activities of its com-
mittees in its annual report to the shareholders at the annual 
general meeting. 
 
Diversity 
As regards the composition of the management board, the su-
pervisory board evaluates the personal and professional sides 
of candidates using such criteria as industry knowledge, expe-
rience, technical expertise and international qualities. Nomina-
tions for the election of supervisory board members that are 
submitted for consideration to the annual general meeting are 
based on the supervisory board competency profile and on the 
goals that the supervisory board has established for constitut-
ing the board as a whole. 
 
Likewise, both the supervisory board and the management 
board support a policy of equal opportunities for men and 
women to participate in holding management positions, and 
follow the recommendations of the DCGK by promoting diver-
sity when filling such executive positions. The »diversity 
targets« we defined in the summer of 2015 serve to guide us 
over the long term and therefore continued to apply unchanged 
throughout the current reporting year. We had set ourselves 

the target of raising the share of women at second manage-
ment level at All for One Steeb AG (parent company, excluding 
subsidiaries) to at least 10% (30 Sep 2018: 0%), and at the 
company's third management level to at least 20% (30 Sep 
2018: 18%, 30 Sep 2017: 20%). As such, we continue to only 
partially achieve our long-term goals by multi-year comparison.  
 
We also pay attention to diversity in the configuration of the 
management and supervisory boards. In May 2015, the super-
visory board decided that we should achieve the target of 
having a 20% share of women serving on the management 
board and that the share of women on the supervisory board 
should increase to at least 16.66%. Here again, we only partially 
achieved our long-term goals. We were able to raise the share 
of women on the supervisory board to 16.66% (30 Sep 2017: 
0%), while the share of women on the management board re-
mained unchanged at 0% (30 Sep 2017: 0%). 
 
 
Code of Conduct 
Foremost among the corporate governance practices that All 
for One Steeb applies are the guidelines set forth in our compli-
ance management system and which apply to all Group em-
ployees. Such guidance accentuates the high standards of con-
duct that we expect from our employees, managing directors 
and board members. It also codifies and announces to our cus-
tomers, partners, suppliers, competitors and shareholders 
what the key principles are that govern our conduct. Imple-
menting these guidelines in our day-to-day business demon-
strates our commitment not only to acting and competing in a 
manner that is within the law, responsible and of unimpeach-
able integrity, but to safeguarding personal and other sensitive 
information as well. At the same time, we condemn corruption 
and any form of discrimination. Our Non-Financial Statement 
highlights the particular importance of our »Code of Conduct« 
in respect of employee, environmental and social matters as 
well as the protection of human rights and can be found in the 
Investor Relations section on our website www.all-for-one.com. 
 
Transparency 
We attach great importance to an information policy that 
stresses the disclosure of information that is uniform, compre-
hensive and timely. This is why the company informs all inter-
est groups about the company’s situation and all significant 
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changes and developments within the business on a regular 
and timely basis. The most important communication tools 
used for this purpose are the Internet and the company’s 
website. Reporting is also made in the annual report, in interim 
reports and quarterly statements, as well as through meetings 
and conferences with the press and analysts.  
 
Furthermore, information is also published in the form of press 
releases and ad hoc announcements. The company also com-
plies with the disclosure requirements regarding such matters 
as voting rights announcements and the conducting of busi-
ness for one’s own account by management executives. Disclo-
sures, announcements, presentations and reports are also 
available in the Investor Relations and the Press sections of the 
company’s website. The company has also prepared, and con-
tinually maintains and updates, the statutory insider list pursu-
ant to article 18 of the European Market Abuse Directive. The 
individuals included in this list are informed of their statutory 
duties and the sanctions associated with access to insider 
information. 
 
In line with the principle of fair disclosure, all shareholders and 
significant target groups are treated equally when it comes to 
the disclosure of information. For statutory reasons principal 
shareholders may receive some information in advance if such 
is required for preparing its group financial statements, group 
interim reporting, business plans and budgets. In such an 
event the recipients of this information are formally bound to 
treat this information as confidential and not disclose it to oth-
ers. 
 
Accounting and Auditing 
The company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with IFRS, and the annual financial statements 
in accordance with the »Handelsgesetzbuch«. Once prepared 
by the management board, the consolidated financial state-
ments and the annual financial statements are audited by the 
auditors, approved and finalised by the supervisory board, and 
then published within 90 days after the end of the financial 
year. Interim reports in the form of two quarterly statements 
and one half-year financial report are also published for the first 
three quarters of a financial year. The auditors do not review the 
interim reports. 
 

Key Performance Indicators and Control Systems 
Sales revenues and operating earnings (EBIT) are the key fi-
nancial figures used in the financial management of the Group. 
These control parameters are aligned with one another with an 
eye toward pursuing as sustainable and profitable a path to 
growth as possible. The company also employs non-financial 
control parameters. 
 
As part of its overall responsibility for the Group, the manage-
ment board is required in accordance with §91, section 2 »Ak-
tiengesetz« to establish a risk early warning system to identify 
existential risks as early as possible. This risk early warning 
system is an integral part of the planning, budgeting, control 
and reporting processes. The management board has also es-
tablished a group-wide compliance management system. A de-
tailed description of the risk management system, the internal 
control system and the compliance management system is in-
cluded in the Opportunities and Risk Report section of the 
Group Management Report.  
 
Compensation Report 
The management board’s compensation system is explained in 
the Group Management Report. The notes to the consolidated 
financial statements also provide detailed information about 
compensation for each member of the management board and 
supervisory board divided into fixed and variable components 
as well as benefits granted and type of inflow. This disclosure 
of the management board’s compensation complies with the 
current recommendations of the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code. The structure of the compensation system is re-
viewed regularly. 
 
Stock Option Programmes and  
Similar Incentive Systems 
There are currently no stock option programmes or similar in-
centive systems in place for the members of the supervisory 
board or the management board. 
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Shares Held by Board Members 
The members of the management board and the supervisory 
board hold shares in All for One Steeb AG as shown in the fol-
lowing table: 

 
 

 

Shares 
30.09.2018

Direct
30.09.2018

Indirect
30.09.2017 

Direct 
30.09.2017

Indirect

Supervisory Board      

Josef Blazicek 0 0 6,500 12,000

Peter Brogle (up to 15 Mar 2018) – – 42,513 0

Paul Neumann 0 0 0 0

Peter Fritsch 24,000 0 24,000 0

Dr. Rudolf Knünz (from 15 Mar 2018) 0 0 – –

Maria Caldarelli (from 26 Feb 2018) 0 0 – –

Jörgen Dalhoff 250 0 250 0

Detlef Mehlmann (retired) – – 0 0

Nicole Schultheiß (30 Nov 2017 to 26 Feb 2018) – – – –
          

Management Board      

Lars Landwehrkamp 50,000 22,500 50,000 22,500

Stefan Land 32,000 0 32,000 0
           

  106,250 22,500 155,263 34,500
          

 
 
Supervisory board members Paul Neumann and Dr. Rudolf 
Knünz are members of the management board of Unterneh-
mens Invest AG and managing directors of UIAG Informatik-
Holding GmbH, both in Vienna/Austria. These two companies 
each hold an unchanged number of 1,248,873 shares as at 
30  September 2018. There is also a voting agreement in place 
between the two companies regarding their shareholdings in All 
for One Steeb AG. Supervisory board chairman Josef Blazicek is 
CEO of Qino PIPE ONE Ltd, Limassol/Cyprus. This company holds 
a minority share in the aforementioned UIAG Informatik-Hold-
ing GmbH, Vienna/Austria. Supervisory board member Peter 
Fritsch performs management duties at BEKO HOLDING GmbH 
& Co KG, Nöhagen/Austria, in his capacity as managing director 
and shareholder. This company’s holdings total an unchanged 
576,742 shares as at 30 September 2018.  
 
All changes in the amount of stock held by the members of the 

management board and the supervisory board are disclosed in 
accordance with statutory regulations and also made available 
to the public on the company’s website.  
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Report of the  
Supervisory Board 
 
 

 
 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
For the tenth consecutive year, the performance of All for One 
Steeb AG has been a success. We are acquiring a lot of new cus-
tomers. We are continuing our strong growth. We are expanding 
our business as planned. Our robust business model, a leading 
position in our target market and the renewed strong increase 
in recurring revenues provide a strong footing. Building on this 
footing, we are investing in our future in line with our Strategy 
Offensive 2022, strengthening both our and our customers' 
ability to compete and, in doing so, continuing to drive the suc-
cess of the company. 
 
The composition of the supervisory board changed over the 
course of the financial year 2017/18. At the annual general 
meeting on 15 March 2018, Dr. Rudolf Knünz was newly elected 
to the company’s 6-person supervisory board. Dr. Knünz is the 
CEO of Unternehmens Invest AG, Vienna/Austria, which together 
with UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH, Vienna/Austria, 50.14% of 
the shares of All for One Steeb AG. Re-elected by the sharehold-
ers to the company’s supervisory board were Josef Blazicek 
(independent businessmann), Paul Neumann (a memeber of 
the management board of Unternehmens Invest AG and man-
aging director of UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH, both of Vi-
enna/Austria) and Peter Fritsch (managing director of BEKO 
HOLDING GmbH & Co KG, Nöhagen/Austria). No longer standing 

for election was Peter Brogle (independent businessman), who 
had been a member of the All for One Steeb AG supervisory 
board since the year 2000. On 26 February 2018, Maria Caldar-
elli, head of legal & compliance, and for another term Jörgen 
Dalhoff, organisation development,  were elected by the work-
force of All for One Steeb AG in the newly formed supervisory 
board in accordance with provisions governing a one-third par-
ticipation of employees.  
 
The supervisory board diligently carried out the duties required 
of it as prescribed by law, the company articles of association, 
the standing rules and the German Corporate Governance Code 
– particularly that of advising and overseeing the management 
board – during the financial year 2017/18. The supervisory 
board was briefed thoroughly and regularly – usually through 
written, but also verbal reports by the management board – 
about the course of business, the direction the company is tak-
ing, the position of the company and Group, the earnings, as-
sets and financial situation including the return on equity, the 
risk situation, risk management and compliance and also about 
all fundamental issues relating to corporate planning and 
budgeting (including financial, capital and human resource 
budgeting), as well as developments, decisions and plans of 
particular importance for the company. These also included ex-
traordinary events to the extent such were required to be re-
ported.  
 
The supervisory board also requested additional and more in-
depth reports in isolated cases and as deemed necessary. The 
management board ensured that the supervisory board was 
provided with all the required information at all times, and for-
warded the essential decision-making documents and files to 
the members of the supervisory board on a timely basis prior to 
each of the supervisory board meetings. There was no cause to 
warrant special investigative or auditing actions.  
 
The further development of the strategy (»strategy offensive 
2022«), acquisition projects, integration projects and the im-
plementation of the new EU General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) were the primary orders of business in the financial 
year 2017/18. During the times between supervisory board 
meetings, the respective chairman of the supervisory board 
was in continuous contact – including personal discussions – 
with the management board, and gathered information about 
the latest business developments, the status of the projects 
and other important actions and decisions. 

Josef Blazicek 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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Focus of the Supervisory Board Meetings  
During its meetings, the supervisory board regularly concerned 
itself with overseeing the projects, as well as with business 
developments, planning, budgeting, compliance management 
and corporate governance within the company. The supervi-
sory board gathered information about the risk situation and 
further improvements in risk management, especially in regard 
to the risk early warning and internal control system. In so do-
ing, and by having made spot checks of specific cases and in-
stances, the board expressed its confidence in the effective-
ness and efficiency of the accounting-based control system. 
No grounds were found for raising any objections. The board 
also discussed acquisition projects in great detail, and is satis-
fied that a comprehensive due diligence and auditing system is 
in place. Enhancing diversity within the company and dealing 
with new legal requirements and legislative reforms were also 
the focus of the supervisory board’s work during the reporting 
year. Furthermore, the supervisory board carried out and then 
discussed an efficiency review of its own activities, and incor-
porated the review’s findings and conclusions into its work. 
 
The supervisory board came together for five meetings in the 
reporting year, some of which were in the form of telephone 
conferences. There were also a number of co-ordinating discus-
sions made by telephone, as well as decisions made electroni-
cally, by telephone or in writing. The following matters were dis-
cussed specifically: 
 
The major subjects of the financial-statements meeting on 
6  December 2017 were presented in the supervisory board’s 
report to the annual general meeting on 15 March 2018 and in 
the Annual Report 2016/17. This meeting focused on consulta-
tions and in-depth discussions of the documentation relating 
to the annual accounts, as well as finalising the annual finan-
cial statements and approving the consolidated financial state-
ments. In the telephone conference held 19 January 2018 the 
agenda of the annual general meeting was discussed and ap-
proved. The latest business developments, including the fore-
cast for the financial year, the status of acquisition projects, 
the implementation of the EU General Data Protection Regula-
tion and the upcoming annual general meeting were the main 
orders of business discussed during the supervisory board 
meeting on 8 February 2018. The constituent meeting of the 
newly elected supervisory board took place on 15 March 2018. 
The agenda focused on electing the chairman and deputy chair-
man, and appointing nominees to the human resources com-
mittee and the audit committee. During its meeting of 9 May 
2018, the supervisory board primarily addressed the business 
performance during the first half of the financial year and the 
draft of the half-year financial report. Other important items on 
the agenda at this meeting were a detailed discussion of the 
forecasts and outlook for the full year, the status of acquisition 
projects, the efficiency and the competency profile of the su-
pervisory board and also the corporate strategy. In keeping 
with the continued development of the company's corporate 
governance, a resolution was passed by telephone circulation 

procedure on 20/23 August 2018 approving the updated state-
ment of compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. In a 
further circulation procedure on 21/24 September 2018, a res-
olution on changes relating to a subsidiary was adopted.  
 
On 1/2 October 2018, during its first meeting of the new finan-
cial year 2018/19, the supervisory board dealt primarily with 
the budgeting for the financial year 2018/19 and subsequent 
financial years. Other items on the agenda were the business 
performance after nine months, the outlook for the full 
2017/18 year, the status of acquisition projects, the non-finan-
cial statement and the further development of the corporate 
strategy (»strategy offensive 2022«). A data centre contract 
was also discussed. In the supervisory board meeting on 25 Oc-
tober 2018, the corporate strategy was discussed and a train-
ing programme for supervisory board members agreed. At its 
meeting on 16 November 2018, the supervisory board focused 
primarily on the final discussion and resolution of the strategy, 
the budget for 2018/19 and the mid-term plan (»strategy of-
fensive 2022«). Likewise, the premature extension of both 
management board appointments and a new compensation 
structure were discussed and agreed. In its telephone confer-
ence on 26 November 2018, the supervisory board discussed 
the status of an acquisition project and gave its authorisation 
for it. 
 
Each member of the board took part in at least 50% of the meet-
ings in the financial year 2017/18. 
 
Committees 
Specifically, the audit committee monitors the accounting pro-
cess, the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk 
management system and the internal audit system, the audit 
of the annual accounts and in particular the auditor’s independ-
ence, qualifications and performance, including the commis-
sioning of additional, non-auditing services. The audit commit-
tee also reviews the effectiveness of the compliance manage-
ment system. The audit committee consists of three members. 
The committee chairman is supervisory board member Peter 
Fritsch. The other committee members during the 2017/18 re-
porting year were the chairman of the board Josef Blazicek and 
the deputy chairman of the board Paul Neumann. The audit 
committee held four meetings during the reporting year. The 
major subjects of this meeting on 5 December 2017 were pre-
sented in the supervisory board’s report to the annual general 
meeting on 15 March 2018 and in the Annual Report 2016/17. 
The meeting focused on consultations and in-depth discus-
sions of the annual financial statements. A meeting was con-
vened on 5 December 2017 to review and approve in advance 
the commissioning of services not related to audits. Further 
telephone consultations also took place, and resolutions were 
adopted by circulation procedure. Also in this way and sup-
ported by the audit committee’s recommendation, the appoint-
ment of the auditor for the 2017/18 annual and consolidated 
financial statements was initiated by the supervisory board, 
who made this proposal to the annual general meeting on 
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15  March 2018. In its meeting on 8 February 2018, the audit 
committee established the audit focal points for the internal 
audit for the financial year 2017/18 and approved a budget for 
commissioning services not related to audits. Following the 
election of new supervisory board members at the annual gen-
eral meeting on 15 March 2018, the constituent meeting and 
election of the chairman and deputy chairman of the audit com-
mittee took place on 9 May 2018. In its meeting on 16 Novem-
ber 2018, the audit committee adopted a resolution specifying 
the areas of particular interest with regard to the audit of the 
annual financial statements.  
 
The human resources committee consists of three members. 
The chairman of the supervisory board Josef Blazicek is com-
mittee chairman and co-ordinates the committee’s work. The 
other committee members during the reporting year were the 
deputy chairman of the board Paul Neumann and supervisory 
board member Peter Brogle, until his withdrawal from the hu-
man resources committee on 15 March 2018, at which time 
(beginning on 15 March 2018) supervisory board member Dr. 
Rudolf Knünz was elected the new member of the human re-
sources committee. This committee is primarily responsible for 
making recommendations to the supervisory board regarding 
the appointment and removal of members of the management 
board, for the agreements with company directors, for making 
preparations for setting the compensation of company direc-
tors, as well as for reviewing the management board’s compen-
sation system. The human resources committee held three 
meetings during the reporting year. In its meeting on 6 Decem-
ber 2017 the management board’s variable compensation for 
the financial year 2016/17 was approved. The constituent 
meeting and election of the chairman and deputy chairman of 
the human resources committee took place on 15 March 2018. 
In its meeting on 9 May 2018, the committee decided to adjust 
the relevant management board contracts with regard to the 
variable compensation. In its meeting on 25 October 2018, the 
human resources committee discussed the premature exten-
sion of the management board contracts – which were due to 
expire on 30 September 2019 – and the compensation system 
with a view to extending the same. Resolutions were adopted 
approving the new management board contracts and the new 
compensation structure for the management board in the 
meeting of the human resources committee on 16 November 
2018. Consultations also took place between these meetings. 
 
Annual and Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Management Reports 
The annual general meeting of 15 March 2018 elected the 
Stuttgart offices of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Berlin, (»KPMG«) to be the auditors of the company and con-
solidated financial statements for the financial year 2017/18. 
The audit committee contracted with KPMG to carry out the au-
dit. KPMG examined the annual financial statements and man-
agement report, as well as the consolidated financial state-

ments and Group management report prepared by the manage-
ment board pertaining to the financial year 2017/18, and is-
sued them an unqualified audit opinion. 
 
The documents relating to the annual accounts and the audit 
reports from the auditor for the financial year 2017/18 were 
duly submitted for review to the audit committee and the su-
pervisory board. The audit committee discussed and examined 
the documents at length and in detail with the auditor and man-
agement board, which were present at its meeting on 11 De-
cember 2018 and prepared the supervisory board resolution 
approving the annual and consolidated financial statements in 
its meeting on 12 December 2018. The auditor reported about 
the findings of its audit in the audit committee meeting on 
11  December 2018. The auditor’s explanations, especially 
those regarding the earnings, assets and financial situation of 
the company and the Group, were then discussed at length and 
in detail. All of the audit committee’s questions were answered. 
The audit committee was satisfied that there was no evidence 
of bias or conflicts of interest on the part of the auditor. The au-
dit committee was also briefed in depth about the services 
KPMG provided that were not part of the audit itself. In line with 
its supervisory function, the audit committee also reviewed the 
Group‘s internal control and risk management system as well 
as its compliance management system during its meeting of 
11 December 2018 and expressed confidence in its effective-
ness. The risk management documents for the financial year 
2017/18 were presented for examination to the audit commit-
tee and supervisory board on a timely basis. Furthermore, the 
risk manager and the head of internal auditing reported directly 
to the audit committee about the findings in their reports. The 
compliance officer also outlined the group-wide compliance 
management system and was questioned by the audit commit-
tee about compliance violations. All of the audit committee’s 
questions were answered. In its meeting on 11 December 
2018, the audit committee also discussed at length and re-
viewed the combined non-financial statement (»Non-Financial 
Group Report«). The management board provided complete an-
swers to all questions relating to the same. The Non-Financial 
Group Report has not been externally audited.  
 
During the supervisory board meeting on 12 December 2018 to 
finalise the financial statements, the audit committee reported 
to the supervisory board about its deliberations with the audi-
tor and the management board, its oversight and monitoring of 
the accounting process, and the findings of its own audit. Fur-
thermore, the audit committee described to the supervisory 
board how, as part of its supervisory function, it concerns itself 
with the Group’s internal control and risk management system, 
the internal audit and the compliance management system 
and how it was satisfied with the systems’ effectiveness and 
appropriateness. The supervisory board also expressed its con-
fidence in the effectiveness and appropriateness of the inter-
nal control and risk management system and the compliance 
management system following its own thorough review. The 
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risk manager, the compliance officer, the head of internal audit-
ing, and the management board answered all of the questions 
that the supervisory board had about this subject. The auditor 
also gave a detailed report to the supervisory board about the 
audit and the findings that were presented and discussed ear-
lier in the audit committee meeting. The supervisory board 
carefully discussed the documents relating to the annual ac-
counts in the presence of the auditor on 12 December 2018 
and concluded that the audit by KPMG was conducted properly 
and that the audit reports and the audit itself comply with stat-
utory requirements. The auditor and the management board 
answered all of the questions raised by the supervisory board. 
In its evaluation of the situation of the company and the Group, 
the supervisory board concurred with the assessment ex-
pressed by the management report in the respective Group and 
company management reports. Based on the final results of its 
own examination of the annual financial statements, the con-
solidated financial statements, and the management reports, 
the supervisory board raised no objections to the annual and 
consolidated financial statements prepared by the manage-
ment board, followed the audit committee’s recommendations, 
and concurred with the findings of the auditor. On 12 December 
2018, the supervisory board approved the annual and consoli-
dated financial statements prepared by the management 
board. The annual financial statements for All for One Steeb AG 
were thereby finalised pursuant to §172 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (hereafter called »Aktiengesetz«). After a long 
and careful discussion, the supervisory board approved the 
management board’s recommendation as presented for the 
appropriation of the net earnings. Also during its meeting on 
12  December 2018, the supervisory board discussed the man-
agement and supervisory boards’ diversity goals as well as the 
current business situation and the agenda for the annual gen-
eral meeting scheduled for 13 March 2019. In its meeting on 
12  December 2018, the supervisory board also learned more 
from the audit committee about the latter's review of the Non-
Financial Group Report, and discussed and reviewed the same 
at length itself. The management board provided answers to all 
questions asked about the same by the supervisory board. Fol-
lowing the conclusion of its own review, the supervisory board 
raised no objections to the Non-Financial Group Report com-
piled by the management board and adopted the recommenda-
tions of the audit committee in approving the publication of the 
same. 
 
Dependent Company Report 
The management board prepared a report about relationships 
with affiliated companies pursuant to §312 »Aktiengesetz«. 
The auditor examined this report and issued the following audit 
opinion: 
 

»Based on our audit and review in accordance with profes-
sional standards, we certify that 
 
1. The actual information contained in the report is accurate. 
2. The consideration paid by the company for the transac-

tions listed in the report was not inappropriately high.« 
 
The management board informed the audit committee and the 
supervisory board promptly about the Dependent Company Re-
port and the audit report that the auditor prepared concerning 
it. The audit committee and the supervisory board thoroughly 
examined and discussed these documents again in its meet-
ings on 11 and 12 December 2018. These examinations did not 
give rise to any objections. 
 
Corporate Governance 
During the financial year 2017/18, the supervisory board and 
the management board were both extensively involved in im-
proving and enhancing corporate governance within All for One 
Steeb AG and again reviewed the recommendations that the 
Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance 
Code made in the version of the code dated 7 February 2017 
and which came into force on 24 April 2017. We continue to fo-
cus on anchoring the recommendations in our daily business. 
The management board and supervisory board fulfilled their 
obligation to prepare a joint Declaration of Conformity pursuant 
to §161 »Aktiengesetz« in September 2018. The exact wording 
of the declaration was published in the Investor Relations sec-
tion of the company’s website. Additional information about 
corporate governance can be found in the Corporate Govern-
ance Report in this annual report. No conflicts of interest arose 
between the members of the management board and supervi-
sory board during the reporting period, such as would be re-
quired to be reported to the supervisory board or about which 
the annual general meeting would have to be informed.  
 
The supervisory board would like to thank the management 
board, the management team and all employees. With their 
personal dedication and know how, they have taken our cus-
tomers and All for One Steeb AG another major step forward. The 
supervisory board is convinced that implementing the Strategy 
Offensive 2022 will provide very good opportunities for suc-
cessfully growing the business. 
 
Filderstadt, 12 December 2018 
For the Supervisory Board 
 
 
 
 
Josef Blazicek 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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 Principles of the Group 

 General Information 

All for One Steeb AG, Filderstadt/Germany is a leading IT ser-
vices and consulting provider and sought-after digitalisation 
partner for the German-speaking midmarket. The company is 
listed on the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(ISIN DE0005110001, WKN 511 000). 
 
The All for One Steeb Group 

Unless otherwise indicated or apparent from context, the desig-
nations »All for One Steeb AG«, »All for One Steeb«, »All for One 
Steeb Group«, »company«, and »Group« as used in this Group 
Management Report indicate the All for One Steeb AG Group 
including its subsidiaries.  
 
Financial Year 

The financial year 2017/18 of All for One Steeb AG began on 
1  October 2017 and ended on 30 September 2018. The corre-
sponding prior year period covers the timeframe of 1 October 
2016 to 30 September 2017.  
 
Rounding Differences  

Unless otherwise indicated, percentages in this Group Manage-
ment Report are derived from figures in thousand euros. As a 
result, some minor rounding differences may occur – when 
adding figures in million euros, for example. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 

This Group Management Report contains statements pertain-
ing to the future performance of All for One Steeb AG and to fu-
ture economic conditions and developments. These state-
ments represent estimates and projections that we made 
based on the information that was available to us at the time 
this Group Management Report was prepared. Actual results 
may differ materially from the results forecast here in the event 
that the underlying assumptions do not materialise or addi-
tional opportunities and risks arise.  
 
Non-Financial Statement and »Compensation Report« 

We have published our non-financial statement as a separate 
report (»Combined Non-Financial Statement« as stipulated in 
§315b »HGB« (German Commercial Code) resp. DRS 20 (248)) 
in the Investor Relations section on our website. Information 
contained therein relating to All for One Steeb AG as an individ-
ual company rather than the Group as a whole is marked sepa-
rately in our Combined Non-Financial Statement (§298, sec-
tion 2, sentence 3 »HGB«). Our equal opportunities and equal 
pay report (»Compensation Report«) is also published as a 
separate report in the Investor Relations section on our web-
site. 

 Strategy 

All for One Steeb AG sees itself as a leading IT services and 
consulting provider and sought-after digitalisation partner for 
the midmarket and is the number 1 in the German-speaking 
SAP midmarket. As a strategic partner covering all aspects of 
digitalisation, we want to provide our customers with compre-
hensive and continuous support, strengthen their ability to 
compete and thus generate high recurring income. Our cloud 
services play a key role in this respect. Our industry and sales 
focus is directed primarily toward businesses within the ma-
chinery and equipment manufacturing, automotive and con-
sumer goods sectors in countries where German is spoken. As 
a founding member of United VARs, the global alliance of lead-
ing SAP midmarket partners, we offer what are mostly export-
oriented clients an extensive on-site consulting and services 
portfolio in some 90 countries around the world.  
 
As digital transformation progresses, our entire environment is 
changing quickly and dramatically (»disruptive«). We are fo-
cusing intently on further developing our strategy to enable us 
to consistently take advantage of the opportunities offered by 
these trends. We are increasingly positioning the company as 
an integrated provider with a specifically expanded portfolio for 
the midmarket and departments in major corporations. 
 
Market observers, such as ISG (Information Services Group 
GmbH, Frankfurt), PAC (Pierre Audoin Consultants GmbH, Mu-
nich), Lünendonk (Lünendonk & Hossenfelder GmbH, Mindel-
heim) or Crisp Research AG, Kassel, rank us among the leading 
IT providers in sub-markets as well, for example in cloud trans-
formation, big data, business analytics and performance man-
agement, human capital and application management services 
or managed communications and collaboration (see such re-
ports as Provider Lens Managed Services and Transformation – 
Midmarket, ISG, 2018; Provider Lens SAP HANA Services, ISG, 
2018; PAC Radar SAP Services, 2017). In the »Digital Champi-
ons in Germany Test / Companies with a Future« we rank first 
among companies in the information and telecommunications 
sector (source: Focus Money, issue 10/2018). Apart from the 
IT market rankings, All for One Steeb AG was also recognised 
non-sector-specifically in the »Grand Prix of SMEs 2018« as 
one of the best companies. 
 

 Business Model and Portfolio 

With our business model combining business process, technol-
ogy and strategy expertise with smart IT solutions and ser-
vices, we provide all our customers' corporate divisions with in-
tegrated and comprehensive digitalisation support from a 
single source. Our full-service portfolio therefore addresses all 
facets of digital corporate transformation. They include issues 
such as strategy, business model, product and service innova-
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tion, business workflows in all departments, corporate organi-
sation and culture, new way of working, digital supply chains 
and customer experience. They improve our customers' ability 
to master digital transformation, implement innovations faster 
and more reliably, and enhance their competitive strength. We 
»orchestrate« the operation of the application landscapes 
from the cloud.  
 
In order to bring our portfolio and business model in line with 
new growth fields, we actively and consistently use the many 
opportunities offered by new and promising technologies – es-
pecially from SAP, but also increasingly from Microsoft and IBM 
– which we enhance with proprietary solutions and services. 
 
Industry-Focused Products and Services 

Our proprietary SAP industry solutions (scope items) based on 
a newly developed business process library for SAP S/4HANA 
form one of the key pillars of our integrated business model. 
This library contains business processes and scenarios of our 
target industries, which our customers can quickly and easily 
test and activate. With this new portfolio we are mainly target-
ing the machinery and equipment manufacturing, the automo-
tive and the consumer goods sectors. This is how we want to 
take a leading role in the generational change from the SAP 
Business Suite to SAP S/4HANA within the midmarket segment 
and further extend our penetration of key markets.  
 
Sales Organisation and Customer Service and Support 

We use our own sales, consulting and support resources to 
serve our customers in Germany, Austria and Switzerland. In 
addition to our key account management and direct sales 
teams organised by regions and themes, we also operate an in-
direct sales channel, »All for One Steeb Business Partners«. We 
collaborate with our partners »as if from a single source« to en-
able us to provide the most comprehensive and integrated sup-
port possible to our customers. Our consulting and advisory 
services in countries where German is spoken are provided in 
close touch with the customers and from a number of locations.  
 
In order to support our customers globally, we established the 
United VARs partner alliance in 2006, which today applies uni-
form quality standards and recognised project methodologies 
to deliver professional on-site services and support in over 90 
countries. For All for One Steeb AG, United VARs represents more 
than just an unmatched degree of efficiency and capabilities in 
providing global, on-site services and support to international 
clients. It is also the key to gaining customers in those heavily 
export-driven target markets in countries where German is spo-
ken. United VARs is also one of only nine SAP global platinum 
resellers. 
 
Partnership with SAP, the SAP Ecosystem, Partnership with 
Microsoft and Further Significant Partnerships 

By its own estimates, All for One Steeb directly serves the larg-
est installed base of SAP midmarket customers within the Ger-
man-speaking region with regards to software maintenance 
and cloud contracts. This is why the partnership with SAP is the 

hub of our daily business. SAP itself underscores the important 
role that All for One Steeb AG plays within the SAP midmarket 
segment. SAP recognised All for One Steeb with several awards 
for its outstanding performance during the reporting year (SAP 
Pinnacle Award 2018 SAP Hybris Partner of the Year and many 
others). Moreover, SAP has awarded All for One Steeb AG multi-
ple certifications in recognition of our comprehensive solutions 
and services portfolio (for example: »SAP-Certified Provider of 
Cloud Services«, »SAP-Certified Provider of HANA Operation Ser-
vices«, and many more). Our working relationship with Mi-
crosoft was also significantly enhanced during the reporting 
year. We are also a Microsoft Hosting Partner Gold, an Access 
and Identity Partner Gold and a Microsoft Shared Computer Ac-
tivation Partner. Our extended partnership with Microsoft has 
gained even more momentum following the further intensifica-
tion of collaboration between SAP and Microsoft themselves 
over the course of the reporting year. In addition to SAP, Mi-
crosoft and IBM, All for One Steeb also works closely together 
with such technology partners as NetApp, Cisco and VmWare. 
 
Competition 

All for One Steeb faces intense competition. Besides ERP man-
ufacturers and system resellers outside of SAP, our competi-
tors include other SAP system resellers, Microsoft partners and 
internationally operating IT outsourcing and technology ser-
vice providers. The company also competes with specialised 
suppliers offering software designed for specialised depart-
ments, such as for personnel management, the financial sector 
or sales and marketing. Competitors also include the SAP con-
sulting units of major international IT service groups and, in-
creasingly, our customers' own IT activities. 
 
Two Segments – CORE and LOB 

We manage, plan and control our business in two segments: 
CORE and LOB. The CORE segment comprises ERP and collabo-
ration solutions for companies' core business processes. The 
LOB segment (»Lines of Business«) includes our business 
with IT solutions for departments such as sales and marketing, 
or human resources, which are increasingly being sourced in 
the cloud. 
 

 Customers 

As a strategic partner we provide comprehensive support to 
help our customers with their digital transformation to improve 
the way they compete, make their business processes more ef-
ficient and consistent, enhance the security and availability of 
critically important software applications and systems, and 
keep them performing successfully on the market. We also sup-
port them with software, technology and process innovations 
not only developing new business models, but in the forward 
planning, control and analysis of business performance as well. 
We also give special attention to human capital, including the 
creation of new working environments as part of extensive dig-
italisation projects. We work closely with our clients on every 
level. Our extensive customer communications programme in-
cludes regular event formats tailored to the appropriate levels. 
We also make extensive and very targeted use of our own 
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online and social media channels to communicate with cus-
tomers. We actively encourage the exchange of views among 
our customers, and their departments and divisions. Added to 
which, in doing so, we gain an early insight and chances to get 
involved in new developments and fields of application. 
 

 Employees 

For an IT services company, sustained business success is 
closely linked to highly qualified and motivated employees. A 
consistent and sustained programme of personnel develop-
ment forms an essential pillar of our growth strategy. With 
these activities we aim to maintain and promote our employ-
ees’ commitment to performance with an eye towards out-
standing service quality and customer satisfaction, as well as 
managing our human capital resources to match our growth 
plans. 
 
Likewise, we want to further enhance our image as an attrac-
tive employer and be better equipped to deal with the severe 
shortage of specialists. During the current reporting year, for 
example, we restructured our recruiting strategy. Its core is 
made up of »At home at All for One Steeb«, a »home story« 
where employees and Board members show how they manage 
to balance their own private environment with working for All for 
One Steeb. Our large-scale »Corporate Influencer Campaign« 
includes videos and e-books combined with digital job vacan-
cies and our employer profile on the social media channels that 
applicants use and in the Careers section on our website. Par-
ticular focus here centres around exciting assignments, flexi-
ble work hours in an actively-lived  home office culture, working 
time accounts for sabbaticals, part-time employment and nu-
merous other benefits. »UP Talent« is our talent fostering pro-
gramme designed to make »high potentials« fit for future chal-
lenges. We not only systematically identify the starting points 
from which we can begin to improve our leadership culture, but 
also calculate a leadership culture index every year. 
 
Overall, we have been able to further increase the number and 
quality of applications for our numerous vacancies. Contrib-
uting to this were special incentive programmes (such as an 
employee referral programme). We have received multiple 
awards in employer surveys based strongly on employee as-
sessments in leading online job portals such as Kununu and 
XING. Some of the distinctions we have earned include having 
»Germany’s Best Jobs with a Future« (Focus, 2018) and be-
longing to the »Best Employers in Germany« (Focus, 2018). 
 
All for One Steeb is also actively involved in training and educa-
tion. We offer training schemes for disciplines that include IT 
specialists, system integration or application development, 
and administrative assistants for IT systems or office manage-
ment. We work together with colleges and universities in the 
training of students pursuing degrees in accounting and con-
trolling (bachelor of arts), business information systems or 
computer science (both bachelors of science). We also serve 
as advisors for term papers and bachelor’s and master’s the-
ses. We gladly join in school and university sponsorships and 

offer both school-age and college students orientation visits 
and internship opportunities. We have put together exclusive 
training programmes for both apprentices and trainees (col-
lege graduates whom, for example, we are educating to become 
SAP S/4HANA consultants) in order to better meet our urgent 
need for skilled workers trained and qualified through practical 
experience. 
 
Besides a fixed rate of compensation, salaries include addi-
tional and variable performance-based components as well as 
a results-oriented component. The amounts of the variable and 
the results-oriented components depend on the scope and re-
sponsibilities of the job and the position held within the com-
pany.  
 
The ability to continue with our expansion strategy clearly de-
pends on further increasing our staffing levels. The shortage of 
specialists worsened again in the current reporting year. The 
markets for recruits are proving to be extremely tight. This is 
why we have reinforced our recruiting staff and efforts, and 
have significantly accelerated our training activities. We attrib-
ute the drop in the rate of employee retention from 94.3% 
(2016/17) to 91.6% to the increased competition we faced in 
recruiting highly trained and skilled workers to fill the many va-
cant positions in our industry and among our customers. The 
health index score improved over the prior year and is now 
97.5% (2016/17: 97.4%). The calculation of these two non-fi-
nancial performance indicators is explained in section 1.6 (In-
ternal Management System). 
 
Thanks to new hires, staffing strength as at 30 September 
2018 increased 14% to 1,677 employees (30 Sep 2017: 1,476 
employees) of which 49 were apprentices and trainees (30 Sep 
2017: 44 employees). The average personnel capacity in-
creased from 1,262 (2016/17) to 1,436 (2017/18) full-time 
equivalents. Of the 1,496 full-time equivalents as at 30 Sep-
tember 2018 (30 Sep 2017: 1,322), a total of 1,341 were in 
Germany (30 Sep 2017: 1,186), 56 in Austria (30 Sep 2017: 
50), 34 in Switzerland (30 Sep 2017: 27) and 65 full-time 
equivalents were in the other countries (30 Sep 2017: 59). 
 
The following charts show the percentage distribution of full-
time equivalents as at 30 September 2018: 
 
Distribution  by Country in % 
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Distribution  by Field of Work in % 

 
 
Of the 1,496 full-time equivalents (30 Sep 2017: 1,322), 1,194 
were employed in the areas of cloud and consulting (30 Sep 
2017: 1,040), 150 were in sales and marketing (30 Sep 2017: 
141) and 152 were in administration (30 Sep 2017: 141) as at 
30 September 2018. 
 
Diversity in the Company 

Qualifications, professional competence and »cultural fit« are 
our decisive criteria when filling assignments and positions. 
Likewise, we are increasingly approaching female applicants, 
specifically, as part of our »diversity strategy«, and promoting 
the inclusion of men and women at equal terms in management 
positions. To improve the compatibility of work and family life, 
we offer part-time working arrangements at management lev-
els, enable working from a home office, and support our em-
ployees in finding and selecting appropriate types of child and 
senior citizens' care models. 
 
The »diversity targets« we defined in the summer of 2015 
serve to guide us over the long term and therefore continued to 
apply unchanged throughout the current reporting year. We set 
ourselves the goal of increasing the share of women in All for 
One Steeb AG’s (parent company, not including subsidiaries) 
second level of management to at least 10% (30 Sep 2018: 0%, 
30 Sep 2017: 0%) and in the company’s third level of manage-
ment to at least 20% (30 Sep 2018: 18%, 30 Sep 2017: 20%). As 
such, we continue to only partially achieve our long-term goals 
by multi-year comparison. The talent development programme 
(»UP Talent«) that we designed and launched this reporting 
year could provide added momentum in this respect. 
 
The supervisory board also decided in May 2015 that we should 
achieve the target of having a 20% share of women on the man-
agement board and that the share of women on the supervisory 
board should increase to at least 16.66%. Here again, we only 
partially achieved our long-term goals. We were able to raise 
the share of women on the supervisory board to 16.66% 
(30  Sep 2017: 0%), while the share of women on the manage-
ment board remained unchanged at 0% (30 Sep 2017: 0%). 
 

We are also taking small steps to strengthen our »diversity« 
over the long term, such as our regular »Girls Days« where we 
try to raise awareness among schoolgirls for technical profes-
sions. Overall, the share of women throughout our Group in-
creased to 30.9% as of the reporting year-end (30 Sep 2017: 
29.7%) relative to 1,677 employees (30 Sep 2017: 1,476 em-
ployees). Our efforts to promote equality between men and 
women, especially with regard to equal pay, are discussed in 
our separate Compensation Report in the Investor Relations 
section on our website. 
 

 Internal Management System: Financial and Non-
Financial Performance Indicators 

Because »human resources« is such a critical factor in so 
many ways within a services company such as All for One Steeb 
AG, our group-wide management and control parameters in-
clude the following non-financial performance indicators:  
 
Employee Retention 

The success of our business depends in no small part on the 
quality we offer our clients, business partners, suppliers and 
shareholders. Personnel continuity and the ability on this basis 
to establish and maintain business partner relationships that 
are stable, sustainable, and resilient play a tremendous role in 
how the quality of our service and support is perceived. The 
control indicator we use for this purpose is the employee reten-
tion rate (100% minus the ratio of undesired separations to the 
staffing strength at the beginning of the reporting period, plus 
additions to the workforce during the reporting year). 
 
Health Index 

The aim of our health management programme is to maintain 
and enhance our workforce’s high level of capabilities and ef-
fectiveness. We also want to proactively counteract potential 
health-related absences. A health index (100% minus the num-
ber of sick days relative to the scheduled working days of a 
given reporting period) serves as a control indicator to help us 
achieve these objectives. 
 
A standardised system was used to calculate, analyse and plan 
these non-financial indicators on a group-wide basis and then 
monitor them in terms of achieving the benchmarks and their 
impact on attaining the financial objectives. For this reason, our 
Outlook (see section 4) also includes information pertaining to 
non-financial performance indicators. Other non-financial per-
formance indicators at the subsidiary, department and team 
leadership levels are used for fine tuning purposes. These in-
volve what are primarily qualitative goals. As an example, spe-
cific qualification programmes are an integral part of the perfor-
mance objective agreements for many employees in the con-
sulting field.  
 
Besides non-financial performance indicators, All for One Steeb 
AG‘s internal management system also encompasses financial 
performance indicators. As was the case in the prior year, the 
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same two control indicators of sales revenues (IFRS) and oper-
ating results (EBIT, IFRS) were again used in the current 
2017/18 reporting year. Both control indicators are aligned 
with an eye towards pursuing – consistent with the business 
planning – as sustainable and profitable an approach to growth 
as possible and are re-adjusted annually in terms of their abso-
lute figures.  
 
 

 Report on Economic Position 

 Economy and the Market  

Overall Economic Development 

In the year under review, the German economy proved to be 
surprisingly robust despite the dramatic increase in manifold 
sources of tension. For a long time, it looked as though the 
growth in economic output could be as strong as the previous 
year (2.2%) (source: Ifo-Institut, Spiegel Online, 19 Jun 2018). 
Not until the reporting year was drawing to a close did the signs 
of weakening demand, especially from abroad, start growing. At 
the same time, the shortage of specialists has become even 
more acute. Leading economic research experts (RWI, DIW, ifo 
Institut, IfW, IWH) were prompted by these signs to reduce their 
forecasts for 2018 as a whole from 2.2 percent to currently 
1.7  percent (source: Joint economic forecast, Spiegel Online, 
27 Sep 2018). Our target markets in the machinery and equip-
ment manufacturing and automotive sectors, which are strong-
ly dependent on exports, initially confirmed their optimistic ex-
pectations over the course of the year before they too started 
to increasingly feel the effects of an economic slowdown. In 
light of strong growth in incoming orders and the good pro-
spects, the German Mechanical Engineering Industry Associa-
tion (Verband Deutscher Maschinen und Anlagenbau, VDMA) in-
itially increased its production forecast for 2018 from plus 3 to 
plus 5 percent in real terms as the year progressed (source: 
VDMA, 23 Apr 2018). The German Electrical and Electronic Man-
ufacturers' Association (Zentralverband Elektrotechnik und El-
ektroindustrie e.V., ZVEI), to which a lot of our customers in the 
supply sector belong, is also confident of meeting its expecta-
tions for 2018, based on production growth to date, with the 
production forecast to increase by 3 percent in real terms 
(sources: ZVEI, 23 Apr and 9 Aug 2018). Unlike the aforemen-
tioned sectors, which are very dependent on exports, economic 
development in our consumer goods target market is driven 
strongly by private consumer spending. Consumer business re-
mained intact in Germany in the year under review. To date 
there is no indication of a looming slowdown. The sector was 
boosted, in particular, by higher wages and an increase in the 
number of people in employment as of mid-year 2018 to 
44.8  million, 0.6 million more by year on year comparison 
(sources: GfK consumer climate, 26 Jul 2018; Handelsblatt, 
14  Aug 2018).  
 

IT Market Developments and their Impact on  
All for One Steeb 

The IT markets in Germany are enjoying additional stimulation 
from the, so far, robust economic trend overall. Market observ-
ers expect an expansion of 1.9 percent to EUR 154.7 billion. 
Growth in the German markets for software and for IT services 
is expected to be much stronger than the IT market as a whole, 
at plus 6.3% to EUR 24.4 billion and plus 2.6% to EUR 40.0 billion, 
respectively. The ongoing digitalisation of the economy as a 
whole is seen as the main driver of growth. Ever more compa-
nies are looking into the use of IT security technology (67  per-
cent), cloud computing (61 percent), internet of things 
(48   percent), Industry 4.0 (47 percent), big data (43 percent) 
and digital platforms (33 percent). Every fourth company 
(26  percent) is, moreover, already examining next-generation 
technologies such as blockchains or artificial intelligence. It is 
the prospects for increased use of such technologies, in partic-
ular, that are steadily boosting growth in the market for busi-
ness software solutions towards new fields of application (»in-
telligent enterprise«). The sentiment is optimistic as a result. 
The Bitkom Index – an economic barometer measuring sales 
expectations of all IT companies – reached a new all-time high 
of 78 points in the first six months of 2018 (prior year: 
71  points). The growing shortage of specialists is seen as the 
greatest obstacle to growth. The number of vacancies for IT 
specialists in Germany has meanwhile exceeded 55,000 
(March 2017: around 50,000) (sources: German Association 
for IT, Telecommunications and New Media (Bundesverband In-
formationswirtschaft, Telekommunikation und neue Medien, 
Bitkom) Feb/Mar/May 2018). 
 
SAP, the world’s largest maker of business software, intensified 
the marketing of its SAP HANA real-time application platform, 
advanced the commercial launch of its entirely new generation 
of SAP S/4HANA enterprise software and again significantly ex-
panded its portfolio of cloud applications. SAP’s leading part-
ners, including All for One Steeb, are most notably the ones 
playing an ever-bigger role in marketing this extended range of 
products. Microsoft, the world's largest maker of software 
overall, also drove its focus on the cloud (»Infrastructure as a 
Service«) strongly and successfully in the year under review 
and created a platform – Microsoft Azure – for using SAP 
solutions from the public cloud. We think this is a great oppor-
tunity. 
 
Altogether, the aforementioned developments resulted in ro-
bust demand overall for IT investments in the year under re-
view. Going beyond the IT department, we also managed to ex-
pose and position our portfolio of services and solutions within 
the many specialised departments and lines of business, as 
part of extensive digitalisation projects and increasingly 
among top (C-level) management and considerably expand our 
cloud business.  
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 Acquisitions 

We view acquisitions as investments in customers, employees, 
know-how and growth. For this reason we use strategic acqui-
sitions to enlarge the Group beyond our normal organic growth. 
In November 2017, we increased our shareholdings in Grand-
consult GmbH, Filderstadt, from 74.9% to 100%. Details are dis-
cussed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
In the current financial year we increased our focus on integrat-
ing transactions from years in the more distant past, as well as 
identifying potential future acquisitions. 
 

 Business Performance 

Key Figures: Business Performance 

 
Sales  EBIT 

in EUR millions  in EUR millions 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017 
 10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017 

332.4 300.5  20.6 20.1 
+11%  +3% 

    

Cloud and Software 
Revenues 

 Recurring  
Revenues 

in EUR millions  in EUR millions 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017 
 10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017 

198.9 174.7  155.5 136.1 
+14%  +14% 

 
All for One Steeb AG continued to execute its growth strategy in 
the financial year 2017/18. Our strong market position, unwa-
vering focus on the customer, integrated business model and 
major investments in future growth fields contributed greatly 
to these developments. 
 
Forecast 2017/18 and Actual Performance 

In terms of financial performance indicators, our forecast from 
6  November 2017 called for revenues of between EUR 315 mil-
lion and 325 million with an EBIT of EUR 20.5 million to 22.0 mil-
lion. On 7 May 2018, as a result of the continued powerful dy-
namics that are driving our cloud and software revenues, we 
made a slight upward adjustment to the revenue side of this 
forecast and expected revenues within a range of EUR 325 mil-
lion to 335 million. On 8 August 2018, we defined our EBIT guid-
ance in more detail based on the continued high levels of in-
vestment in building our business with solutions for specific 
departments (LOB segment, »Lines of Business«) and pre-
dicted that we would be within our EBIT target corridor of be-
tween EUR 20.5 million and 22.0 million, at the lower end. 
 

We closed the financial year 2017/18 with an increase in reve-
nues of 11% to EUR 332.4 million (2016/17: EUR 300.5 million) 
and an EBIT increase of 3% to EUR 20.6 million (2016/17: EUR 
20.1 million). As such, actual sales were at the upper end and 
EBIT at the lower end of our predicted target corridor. The rea-
son EBIT did not increase at the same pace as sales is primarily 
the strong initial investment (building the teams in sales, mar-
keting and consulting, recruiting) in the only recently formed 
LOB segment (»Lines of Business«, cloud-based solutions for 
specific departments). A more detailed analysis of revenues 
and earnings performance can be found in section 2.3.1 (Earn-
ings Situation). 
 
Furthermore, we had set goals for the development of our non-
financial performance indicators aimed at keeping employee 
retention and the health index more or less on a par with the 
prior-year level (+/- 0.5 percentage points). The health index 
reached a rate of 97.5% (2016/17: 97.4%). The employee reten-
tion rate in the current reporting year was 91.6% (2016/17: 
94.3%). More details can be found in section 1.5 (Employees). 
 
2.3.1. Earnings Situation 

Sales Reporting, Reclassification of Types of Revenue 

We have started classifying sales by cloud and software reve-
nues and recurring revenues to emphasise the dynamic further 
expansion of our business. Cloud and software revenues in-
clude sales from cloud services and support and from software 
licenses and software support. Recurring revenues collate the 
aforementioned revenues from cloud services and support and 
from software support (SAP maintenance).  
 
Sales Performance: Strong Growth in All Types of Revenue 

In the year under review, the companies in our installed cus-
tomer base increased their capital expenditure on turnkey pro-
jects in preparation for migrating to SAP S/4HANA, the new gen-
eration of business software. In addition, we again acquired nu-
merous new accounts whose rollout projects were launched 
with the new generation of software. It is turnkey such as 
these, in particular, that result in the individual types of reve-
nue relating to our integrated business model pushing each 
other up.  
 
During the reporting period All for One Steeb generated sales of 
EUR 332.4 million, which is an increase of 11% over 2016/17 
(EUR 300.5 million). We posted substantial gains in all types of 
revenue through our integrated business model of being a full-
service provider for all things relating to the digitalisation in the 
midmarket.  
 
Recurring Revenues and Cloud and Software Revenues 

Our particular focus is on recurring revenues and cloud and 
software revenues. Recurring revenues increased by 14% to 
EUR 155.5 million (2016/17: EUR 136.1 million) and now ac-
count for 47% (2016/17: 45%) of total sales. Cloud and software 
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revenues also increased by 14% and amounted to EUR 198.9 
million (2016/17: EUR 174.7 million). Individual performance 
was as follows: 
 

 
 
Detailed Discussion of Performance by Type of Revenue  

The following two charts show the sales performance in detail: 
 
Sales by Type of Revenue in EUR millions / Change in %  

 
 
Sales by Type of Revenue / Shares in %  

 
 

Alongside a larger number of complete projects in preparation 
for migration to a new »Digital Core«, SAP S/4HANA, we were 
also able to raise the use of our largely cloud-based solutions 
and services in the lines of business among our installed cus-
tomer base. In addition, we were able to convince lines of busi-
ness – such as human resources, sales and marketing – at nu-
merous new accounts of our performance capabilities. As such, 
we are marching ahead with the transformation of our custom-
ers and were able to significantly increase sales from cloud ser-
vices and support (plus 28% to EUR 59.6 million), software li-
censes (plus 12% to EUR 43.4 million) and software support 
(plus 7% to EUR 96.0 million). Transformation projects must, 
moreover, be actively supported. As a result, we were able to in-
crease sales from consulting and services by 6% to EUR 133.4 
million.  
 
Sales by Country 

The percentage distribution of sales revenues by country 
(based on the domicile of the customer) changed slightly from 
that of the financial year 2016/17. The following chart shows 
the rounded figures for the current reporting period: 
 
Sales by Country / Shares in % 

 
 
EUR 284.5 million (share of sales: 86%) of the sales revenues 
in the reporting period were attributable to Germany – a gain of 
11% over the EUR 257.2 million in the prior year (share of sales 
2016/17: 86%). Sales revenues in Austria increased signifi-
cantly by 19% to EUR 18.0 million (2016/17: EUR 15.1 million). 
Sales revenues in Switzerland decreased by 6% to EUR 14.6 mil-
lion (2016/17: EUR 15.5 million). The revenues of EUR 15.2 mil-
lion generated in the other countries also clearly surpassed 
those of the prior year (2016/17: EUR 12.8 million). As such, 
Germany remains our largest market, followed by Austria and 
Switzerland.  
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Key Figures: Earnings Performance 

 

in EUR millions 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017 Delta in %

Sales revenues 332.4 300.5 11

Cost of materials and 
purchased services -119.9 -109.2 10

Personnel expenses -139.8 -124.2 13

Depreciation and 
amortisation  -10.6 -9.3 14

Other operating 
expenses/income -41.4 -37.7 10

EBIT 20.6 20.1 3

Financial result -1.0 -0.7 53

EBT 19.6 19.4 1

Income tax -5.8 -6.3 -7

Earnings after tax 13.7 13.1 5

 
EBIT up 3% / EBIT Margin of 6.2% / Earnings after Tax up 5% to 
EUR 13.7 million 

Continuous major investments in the future of our business ac-
tively complement our growth strategy. We are developing a 
proprietary business process library for SAP S/4HANA, further 
expanding our cloud portfolio, and investing in connecting our 
cloud infrastructure with the resources of major public cloud 
service providers to improve the scalability of our own services. 
We are also investing heavily in increasing our personnel re-
sources, conducting training, managing knowledge and in ex-
panding our line of business strategies (LOB segment).  
 
The increase of EUR 2.0 million in other operating income to 
EUR  5.0 million is largely due to increased marketing support 
in connection with the strong license sales. Cost of materials – 
including purchased services – increased at a slightly lesser 
rate than sales, by 10% to EUR 119.9 million (2016/17: 
EUR  109.2 million). This performance was dictated by the 
sales mix and reflects, above all, license purchases and soft-
ware maintenance. During the year under review we also con-
tinued to involve consulting resources from our partner net-
work in our project delivery. The cost of materials ratio (cost of 
materials relative to sales) remained virtually unchanged at 
36%. Market availability of consulting experts who have fin-
ished training and can start to generate sales immediately is 
limited due to the small markets and enormous speed of inno-
vation at SAP and Microsoft. Accordingly, training and upskilling 
programmes are increasingly preceding the generation of reve-
nue in customer projects. In line with the strong increase in the 
headcount, personnel expenses increased at a greater rate 
than sales, by 13% to EUR 139.8 million (2016/17: EUR 124.2 
million). The ratio of personnel expenses to sales also in-
creased slightly as a result, to 42% (2016/17: 41%). Other op-
erating expenses increased at a slightly higher rate than sales, 
by 14% to EUR 46.4 million (2016/17: EUR 40.7 million). The ra-
tio to total sales increased only marginally and remained un-
changed at around 14%. The increase in other operating ex-
penses was primarily due to the strong expansion of business 

and ongoing establishment of future growth business (includ-
ing stronger focus on training, higher recruiting costs, expan-
sion of digital marketing) and was caused by virtually all sum-
marised expense items (see note 7, Other Operating Expenses 
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). EBITDA 
increased by 6% to EUR 31.2 million year on year (2016/17: 
EUR 29.4 million) and equates to an EBITDA margin of 9.4% 
(2016/17: 9.8%).  
 
Depreciation and amortisation increased to EUR 10.6 million, 
which is a gain of 14% over the prior year (2016/17: EUR  9.3 
million), and was mostly a result of increased investment in 
technology to enhance our data centers. This figure includes 
EUR 4.8 million (2016/17: EUR 4.8 million) for the regular amor-
tisation of other intangible assets.  
 
The EBIT of EUR 20.6 million was 3% higher than that of the prior 
year (2016/17: EUR 20.1 million). The EBIT margin decreased 
from 6.7% (2016/17) to 6.2% (2017/18). This modest decline 
in margin resulted primarily from the further increase in ex-
penses, as discussed above, relating to the establishment of 
future growth business in the LOB segment, which was only re-
cently created. By contrast, the higher expenditure on growth 
in the CORE segment is increasingly beginning to bear fruit, as 
demonstrated by the disproportionately high increase in EBIT 
(see section »Revenues and Earnings Performance by Seg-
ment«).  
 
The EBT increased slightly by 1% to EUR 19.6 million (2016/17: 
EUR 19.4 million). Income taxes declined to EUR 5.8 million 
(2016/17: EUR 6.3 million). The decrease in the financial result 
to minus EUR 1.0 million (2016/17: minus EUR 0.7 million) and 
the reduction of the Group’s arithmetical tax rate (income 
tax/EBT) to 30% (2016/17: 33%) led to an increase in the earn-
ings after tax of 5% to EUR 13.7 million (2016/17: EUR 13.1 mil-
lion). The average number of shares outstanding in the report-
ing year was an unchanged 4,982,000. Earnings per share in-
creased by 7% to EUR 2.82 (2016/17: EUR 2.63).  
 
Other comprehensive income was negative this year, at minus 
EUR 0.2 million (2016/17: plus EUR 1.5 million). The prior year 
figure was dominated by revaluations of employee retirement 
benefit plans amounting to EUR 1.8 million (2016/17).  
 
Revenues and Earnings Performance by Segment 

In the CORE segment (ERP and collaboration solutions for com-
panies' core business processes), we were able to increase 
EBIT by 13% to EUR 21.4 million, despite high investments in 
SAP S/4HANA (expertise, building experience, business process 
library), »internet of things« (IOT) solutions, machine learning 
and platform business (SAP Leonardo, Microsoft Azure, AWS). 
As a result, the increase in the ratio of segment EBIT to segment 
sales was disproportionately high, rising by 10% to EUR 281.8 
million. 
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In our young LOB (»Lines of Business«) segment, which we are 
still in the process of building, capital expenditure is focusing 
on expanding the teams (sales, marketing, consulting) and, ac-
cordingly, investing in recruiting, training and in strengthening 
the organisation. As a result, although LOB sales increased sig-
nificantly by 12% to EUR 64.3 million, EBIT decreased consider-
ably by EUR 2.1 million to minus 0.8 million (including ex-
penses of EUR 1.0 million relating to changes in management).  
 
2.3.2. Assets and Financial Situation 

Financial Management Principles and Objectives 

Financial management at All for One Steeb is primarily under-
stood as liquidity management, capital structure management 
and the management of interest rates and currencies. Another 
key focus of financial management is the monitoring of and 
compliance with the terms and conditions of loan agreements 
used to fund the company. The Opportunities and Risk Report 
(section 3) provides more details about financial and liquidity 
risks. 
 
Key Asset and Financial Indicators 

 

  
30.09. 

2018 
30.09. 

2017 Δ in %

Equity to assets (%) 97 89 9

Days of sales outstanding 
(days) 51 51 0

Cash (EUR million) 36.3 29.8 22

Net liquidity (EUR million) 7.0 2.5 176

Equity ratio (%) 42 41 2

Return on equity (%) 18.7 20.1 -7

Return on total capital (%) 7.8 8.1 -3

 
In the table above, the equity to assets position is expressed as 
the total of goodwill, other immaterial assets and tangible fixed 
assets as a percentage of equity. We measure the days of sales 
outstanding (the number of days between invoicing and re-
ceipt of payment) on the basis of dividing trade accounts re-
ceivable by sales and then multiplying the result by the number 
of days in a year. 
 
Group Balance Sheet 

The balance sheet total increased by 9% to EUR 183.2 million 
(30  Sep 2017: EUR 168.7 million) as at 30 September 2018. 
The following developments were the primary contributors to 
this increase in total assets: 
 

Balance Sheet Structure in EUR millions 

 
 
Non-current assets increased from EUR 85.7 million (30 Sep 
2017) to EUR 88.5 million (30 Sep 2018). This change is mainly 
due to the increase in tangible fixed assets of EUR 5.5 million to 
17.3 million – technology investments in the data centers. The 
slight decrease in goodwill to EUR 23.6 million (30 Sep 2017: 
EUR 24.5 million) was due to the now finalised allocation of the 
purchase price for the former inside Unternehmensberatung 
GmbH, Oldenburg, which is discussed in the Notes to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements.  
 
Current assets increased considerably from EUR 83.0 million 
(30 Sep 2017) to EUR 94.6 million (30 Sep 2018). In the wake 
of the strong closing quarter (Jul – Sep 2018), trade receiva-
bles increased by EUR 4.4 million to 47.3 million (30 Sep 2018). 
Despite a further increase in business volume, we were able to 
keep the days of sales outstanding (the number of days 
between invoicing and receipt of payment) at the same good 
level of the previous year, at 51 days. Cash and cash equiva-
lents increased by EUR 6.6 million to 36.3 million (30 Sep 2017: 
EUR 29.8 million).  
 
Promissory Notes 

In order to align our corporate financing structure to match our 
planned business development, to secure favourable financing 
terms and conditions over the long term and to create an ex-
panded framework for additional growth, we had already con-
tinued improving our financing structure back in the financial 
year 2016/17 and had fundamentally restructured our portfo-
lio of promissory notes. A residual financial liability consisting 
of a promissory note tranche of EUR 5 million (fixed rate of 
around 3.4%) was repaid as scheduled as of 30 April 2018 and 
replaced with a new tranche of EUR 5 million (fixed rate of 
around 1.4%, due on 30 April 2022). As a result, the entire port-
folio of promissory notes for a total of EUR 23.5 million (30  Sep 
2017: EUR 23.5 million) now has a long-term structure. 
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Non-current liabilities increased by EUR 5.1 million to 45.2 mil-
lion (30 Sep 2018), primarily as a result of the marked increase 
of EUR 6.7 million in financial liabilities to EUR 27.3 million 
(30  Sep 2018), which also includes the promissory note 
tranche of nominal EUR 5.0 million discussed above. 
 
Current liabilities increased by EUR 1.8 million to 61.0 million 
(30 Sep 2018). Tax liabilities rose by EUR 2.9 million to 
4.3  million (30 Sep 2018), whereas current financial liabilities 
decreased by EUR 4.6 million to 2.0 million (30 Sep 2018), fol-
lowing the restructuring of the promissory notes, as discussed 
above. The amount of other liabilities rose by EUR 2.2 million to 
37.8 million (30 Sep 2018). Net liquidity increased signifi-
cantly from EUR 2.5 million (30 Sep 2017) to EUR 7.0 million 
(30 Sep 2018). 
 
Equity rose by EUR 7.5 million to 77.0 million (30 Sep 2018) 
thanks to earnings performance. The equity ratio also improved 
from 41% (30 Sep 2017) to 42% (30 Sep 2018). The return on 
equity (earnings after income tax divided by the average equi-
ty) declined from 20.1% (2016/17) to 18.7% (2017/18). The re-
turn on total capital (earnings after income tax divided by the 
average total assets) declined slightly from 8.1% (2016/17) to 
7.8% (2017/18). 
 
Cash Flow and Investments  

Cash flow from operating activities was EUR 2.1 million above 
the prior year value of EUR 21.3 million and therefore amounted 
to EUR 23.4 million. This development is due, to a large extent, 
to lower income tax payments which had resulted in cash out-
flows of EUR 7.5 million in the previous year but only EUR 2.7 
million in the year under review. Other liabilities increased by 
EUR 0.7 million compared to an increase of EUR 4.5 million the 
previous year, mainly as a result of higher personnel provi-
sions. In addition, trade receivables increased by EUR 3.7 mil-
lion (2016/17: increase of EUR 5.4 million), while trade paya-
bles rose by EUR 0.6 million (2016/17: increase of EUR 2.4 mil-
lion).  
 
Cash flows from investing activities totalled minus EUR 7.7 mil-
lion in the current reporting year. The prior-year value of minus 
EUR 11.7 million was influenced by company acquisitions (mi-
nus EUR 7.8 million). Net cash of EUR 7.7 million (2016/17: EUR 
4.7 million) was used to purchase intangible assets, tangible 
fixed assets and other assets, which pertain primarily to tech-
nology investments for the further expansion of our data cen-
ters to provide managed cloud services.  
 
Total cash flows from financing activities were minus EUR  8.9 
million (2016/17: minus EUR 12.7 million) and mainly com-
prised higher dividend payments of EUR 6.0 million (2016/17: 
EUR 5.5 million). The promissory note tranche of nominal 
EUR  5.0 million that was due on 30 April 2018 was replaced 
with a new tranche for the same amount. The assumption and 
repayment of long-term financial liabilities led to a cash inflow 
of EUR 3.0 million in the prior year. A one-off cash outflow of 

EUR  7.9 million was also made in the prior year to raise the eq-
uity interest in OSC AG to 100%.  
 
Cash funds as at 30 September 2018 therefore totalled 
EUR  36.3 million (30 Sep 2017: EUR 29.8 million). 
 
2.3.3. Overall Financial Position 

In the financial year 2017/18, we continued to successfully 
push ahead with our evolution from all-inclusive SAP service 
provider to leading IT services and consulting provider and 
sought-after digitalisation partner for the German-speaking 
midmarket, and also defined our strategy with more clarity. Our 
high investments in the future in both the year under review 
and the previous year to fund the generational change from SAP 
ERP to SAP S/4HANA (segment: CORE) and in the expansion of 
our mainly cloud-sourced portfolio of lines of business solu-
tions (segment: LOB) are already starting to have an effect on 
sales but are burdening the margin for the time being. To speed 
up implementation of our LOB strategies, we also strengthened 
our focus in the year under review on integrating the compa-
nies purchased in previous years and posted significant in-
creases in cloud services and support revenues. Despite con-
siderable »top line« growth, we were able to generate a dispro-
portionately high increase in recurring revenues. Their already 
large share of total sales thus increased further and enhance 
the stability of our earnings situation. The balance sheet total 
increased moderately and DSO (»Days of Sales Outstanding«) 
remained unchanged year on year, while equity and the equity 
ratio improved. Furthermore, All for One Steeb maintained a 
sustained operating cash flow, reported cash and cash equiva-
lents totalling EUR 36.3 million (30 Sep 2018) and enjoys a 
sound financial position. Operational funding lines of credit in 
the amount of EUR 8.4 million are also available, which offer ad-
ditional short-term financial flexibility. Looking beyond the cur-
rent reporting period that ended on 30 September 2018, and 
after these first few weeks of the financial year 2018/19, we 
continue to regard the business situation of All for One Steeb AG 
as robust. 
 
 

 Opportunities and Risk Report 

All for One Steeb AG operates in a dynamic market environment 
and is managed in a value-based manner. We have established 
a Governance Model to ensure successful implementation of 
our strategies, sustainably profitable growth, and the achieve-
ment of our financial and non-financial targets and forecasts. 
This model is continuously being improved and developed. It 
builds on our company culture LIVING VALUES and the princi-
ples of good corporate governance: responsible, sustainable 
and transparent leadership. These three pillars form the frame-
work within which our governance model is designed: 
 
 Opportunities and Risk Management System 
 Compliance Management System 
 Internal Control System 
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Each pillar has specific »mechanisms« for planning and man-
aging financial and non-financial issues, and their interactions 
and interdependencies. Our approach to opportunities and risk 
management (identification methodology, monitoring, assess-
ing opportunities and risks) is the same for both financial and 
non-financial issues. As part of our opportunities and risk man-
agement system, we also monitor non-financial aspects. The 
management of opportunities and risk thus go hand in hand 
with one another. Our following report begins with opportuni-
ties management.  
 

 Opportunities Management 

The innovative strength and quality of our solutions are critical 
for the businesses of our customers. We show how to success-
fully digitalise business workflows or even how to design and 
expand new business models in order to secure competitive ad-
vantages and, at the same time, make our own company fit for 
the future. The numerous individual »opportunities« offered by 
digital transformation therefore define our entire opportunities 
management to a very considerable degree. At the same time, 
our own workflows benefit from the specific use of new technol-
ogies, becoming more efficient and helping us to successfully 
grasp the opportunities. 
 
Our work focuses on those submarkets, industries and special-
ised departments in which we can secure and maintain leading 
positions. An essential part of our opportunities management 
effort is carefully examining the current and future needs of our 
customers and their industry-specific success factors in partic-
ular with regard to the ongoing digital transformation. We ana-
lyse market, industry and technology trends, opportunities 
SAP, Microsoft and IBM innovations and their related software 
solutions, and how these can be employed to benefit our cus-
tomers. In order to enhance our enterprise value, we always 
take a values-based approach to opportunities. We also assess 
opportunities in terms of investments, personnel resources, 
capabilities, and other factors that are vital for best accessing 
and using the identified opportunities. We then reconcile these 
with the appropriate risk mitigation measures in order to strike 
a careful balance between opportunities and risks. 

 
Our revenues and earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook) 
take into consideration that portion of the following described 
opportunities, which we consider as being likely to arise. Not 
taken into consideration, however, were the opportunities from 
the trend towards further consolidation on the market, such as 
through acquisitions. 
 
The Opportunities of Digital Transformation:  
SAP S/4HANA and the Cloud  

Digital transformation has reached the DNA of German busi-
ness and thus our customers. Our widely praised market sur-
vey entitled »Digitalisierung im Mittelstand 2018« (Digitalisa-
tion among SMEs, 2018), which was compiled in collaboration 
with IUBH Internationale Hochschule, Bad Honnef, European In-
stitute for Leadership and Transformation, Cologne, and our 
management consultants Allfoye, clearly revealed that the 
path to specific implementation is still a long one and our po-
tential therefore enormous. Without a digital core in the form of 
an entirely new generation of enterprise software – SAP 
S/4HANA on the basis of the SAP HANA in-memory database 
management system – it is unlikely that any pervasive trans-
formation to a real-time enterprise can be accomplished suc-
cessfully. Cloud computing is another key element of digital 
transformation. »SAP operation in the public cloud« is growing 
in popularity as predicted by our survey of the same name com-
piled in collaboration with Crisp Research AG, Hanover. We want 
to make use of this strong momentum and focus our capital ex-
penditure on Microsoft Azure, for example – in addition to the 
transformation of our customers to SAP S/4HANA as the new 
»digital core« and new solutions for lines of business. We plan 
to give public cloud platforms such as these a fixed place in our 
portfolio and to further strengthen our »cloud readiness«. All 
for One Steeb sees huge digitalisation potential in this field, 
which should ensure sustainable growth opportunities over 
several years. In the process, recurring revenues could also in-
crease further and the planability and scalability of the busi-
ness could be further improved. A higher-than-expected pene-
tration of our target markets could have a positive impact on 
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our earnings, assets and financial position and lead to more fa-
vourable changes in our revenues and earnings forecasts (see 
section 4, Outlook). 
 
The Opportunities of Digital Transformation: »Orchestrating« 
Comprehensive Business Solutions 

Jobs increasingly require customised production (»on de-
mand«, »batch size 1«). Damage events, such as potential 
shutdowns of »devices« (machinery, equipment, etc.), need 
to be averted with pinpoint accuracy wherever possible: repairs 
only when imminent shutdowns are sufficiently predictable ra-
ther than replacement on suspicion over rough service inter-
vals. Whoever wants to successfully drive their business model 
in the world of digital business must be able to analyse and 
compress »big data« in real time (»smart data«). This is the 
only way to ensure the faster and better safeguarded imple-
mentation of decisions (»business transactions«). The asso-
ciated data stems from all conceivable sources, is structured or 
totally unstructured. As a result the company software land-
scapes themselves are becoming ever more extensive. Up-
grades, release changes or the inclusion of entirely new func-
tions (artificial intelligence, »machine learning«) are just 
some of the factors adding to their already considerable com-
plexity and dynamic growth. The operation of such landscapes 
is virtually entirely »hybrid«-based, spread among local cus-
tomer mainframes (»on premise«) and the All for One Steeb 
enterprise cloud, which is increasingly incorporating the (pub-
lic) cloud infrastructures of »hyperscalers« with their virtually 
unlimited scalability. At the same time, business software is 
becoming increasingly critical to the business. Applications 
must continue to run even in the event of a shutdown (»busi-
ness continuity«, »service continuity«). Added to which, oper-
ation must »conform with compliance requirements«. At the 
same time, the requirements for data and information security 
are growing – to defend against cyber attacks, for example. 
Rollout and utilisation of the numerous innovative solution mo-
dules also mean a growing need for consulting services focus-
ing on business processes and integration. Even larger mid-
market companies are therefore increasingly engaging exter-
nal providers such as All for One Steeb. As such, we have the op-
portunity to take on much more responsibility for the corporate 
IT of our customers than has so far been the case. This enables 
companies to better limit their own risk exposure and specifi-
cally assign human capital resources to creating business pro-
cesses with a greater degree of digitalisation, for example. 
 
As digital transformation progresses, our former role as an all-
inclusive service provider and »one stop shop« for SAP should 
evolve into an »orchestrator« of comprehensive business so-
lutions that increasingly incorporate manufacturers such as 
Microsoft and IBM, together with SAP. As a result, we will in-
creasingly have the opportunity to craft new or extended com-
plete solutions, to add to solutions, and to offer our customers 
ongoing and comprehensive digitalisation support. Accord-
ingly, we are increasingly positioning ourselves as an inte-
grated provider, and are strengthening our organisation for 

Group-wide and »key account management«, and for expand-
ing our innovation culture. By thus expanding our portfolio, the 
opportunities for providing comprehensive support to custom-
ers even in phases of declining economic development and for 
gradually embedding our entire range of services and solutions 
above and beyond the initial sale of services will also increase. 
In response to the pioneering role adopted, not just by the IT 
department (CORE segment) but also by the specialist depart-
ments (LOB segment), in particular, when it comes to numer-
ous new topics, we have specifically adapted our portfolio and 
market approach, opening up opportunities to specifically drive 
the use of such services and, at the same time, further raise the 
value added for our customers. If these trends can be imple-
mented ever more quickly and comprehensively than planned, 
the benefits will not only be reaped by our earnings, assets and 
financial position. On the contrary, such a strong development 
could also result in positive deviations from our revenues and 
earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook). 
 
The Opportunities of Digital Transformation: Including our 
360° Approach, Strategy and Corporate Culture 

Digital transformation will probably bring radical change of 
hitherto unprecedented dimensions. Whole sectors of industry 
and large parts of the business and employment worlds are fac-
ing fundamental adjustments. Many of our customers are go-
ing to have to change immensely and fundamentally to remain 
fit for the future and to expand their good competitive ability. 
Smarter business processes and better technologies are im-
portant but not sufficient on their own. Company transfor-
mations without the right strategies and matching culture are 
usually not successful in the long run. As a sought-after partner 
for digitalisation among midmarket companies, our portfolio of 
products and services therefore extends far beyond business 
process and technology solutions. Together with our manage-
ment consultants Allfoye, we host »Design Thinking Work-
shops« with the executive boards and management of our cus-
tomers (»C Level«) to review their strategies, develop new 
business models and smarter workflows, realign the corporate 
culture, and encourage the exchange of views, new business 
relationships and innovation partnerships through our start-up 
network (»Start-up meets Mittelstand« programme) 
 
In doing so, we also expand the access to customers for our 
software and technology services. Because digital transfor-
mation affects every single area and department of an enter-
prise, our extended business approach providing all-inclusive 
services is particularly emphasised. We are a provider who ad-
ditionally and increasingly assumes »orchestration responsi-
bility« to guarantee the smooth interaction among the numer-
ous components that make up complex enterprise software 
landscapes. This offers the opportunity of further enhancing 
customer loyalty and increasing the share of our recurring rev-
enues relative to total sales, and of further improving the plan-
ability and scalability of our business. Executing more turnkey 
projects than budgeted could impact our earnings, assets and 
financial position and result in positive deviations from our 
revenues and earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook). 
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Opportunities Arising from Greater Visibility  
on the Target Markets 

Despite another significant increase in business volume, our 
clear focus remains on key industries within selected midmar-
ket segments, specialised departments, and countries where 
German is spoken. At the same time we have again enlarged our 
core customer base. This ongoing development provides us 
with greater opportunities of being the first choice for custom-
ers seeking a consulting, solutions, and services partner for 
their IT projects for the digitalisation of business processes and 
business models. All for One Steeb is also listed as one of the 
leading providers in many market profiles and is often named 
in the media. Strong and effective direct selling, along with 
sales through partners, contribute to further expanding the 
portfolio of reference customers. The character of being a qual-
ity-conscious and economically sound service partner that in-
vests heavily in innovations and offers its customers long-term 
investment prospects, has not only afforded the company a 
very good reputation on the market, but offers good opportuni-
ties for a greater and more successful sales performance. Our 
positioning in the SAP midmarket segment, our leadership role 
in the generational change to SAP S/4HANA, and our high visibil-
ity within the SAP organisation provide us with good opportuni-
ties for selling cloud subscriptions and SAP licenses. Doing so 
could lead to an expansion of the portfolio of software mainte-
nance agreements and cloud services, which in turn can lead to 
a rise in recurring revenues. Our closer collaboration with Micro-
soft is also contributing to this development. Our earnings, as-
sets and financial situation could benefit from any major im-
provement in our visibility on the market, which in turn could 
lead to favourable deviations in our revenues and earnings 
forecasts (see section 4, Outlook). 
 
Opportunities Arising from Expanded Partner Relationships 

Alongside SAP solutions, nearly every company uses Microsoft 
software. We are therefore strongly expanding our partnership 
with Microsoft above and beyond our expertise derived from our 
partnership with SAP, which is probably unparalleled in the mar-
ketplace. At the same time, SAP and Microsoft are themselves 
working together more closely. This gives us the opportunity to 
»design« solutions and services incorporating the world's two 
largest software companies and thus create a hitherto unpar-
alleled »user experience« for our customers. 
 
As the leading SAP full-service provider on our markets, we re-
main highly focused and work closely and carefully with se-
lected partners in areas that include sales and consulting. Do-
ing so allows us to comprehensively and efficiently serve our 
customers as if from one source without having to diminish our 
otherwise clear operational focus. Our »All for One Steeb Busi-
ness Partner Programme« has given us a real competitive 
edge. This indirect sales channel in German-speaking countries 
works in close co-ordination with our own direct salesforce. The 
support provided by these partners enables us to better pene-
trate our current target markets and sell additional SAP li-
censes and cloud subscriptions. As another example, these All 
for One Steeb Business Partners also help place SAP licenses 

and cloud subscriptions with companies outside our target seg-
ments. On a worldwide scale, our co-operation with United VARs 
– now an SAP Global Platinum VAR – ensures low-risk and well-
established worldwide customer service and support of a very 
high quality in around 90 countries. Our direct sales perfor-
mance and the expansion of our partner relationships influence 
our earnings, assets and financial situation. Better-than-ex-
pected performance could therefore also lead to favourable ad-
justments in our revenues and earnings forecasts (see sec-
tion  4, Outlook). 
 
Opportunities Arising from the Trend Towards  
Consolidation in the Market 

This same high pace of innovation at SAP should continue to ac-
celerate the trend towards specialisation and consolidation 
among its system resellers and consultancies. Being one of the 
biggest and strongest full-service providers within our target 
markets creates opportunities for us to apply our buy & build 
strategy and use acquisitions to pursue external growth and 
gain additional market shares beyond our organic growth tar-
gets (see section 4, Outlook). Further successful acquisitions 
could significantly influence our earnings, assets and financial 
situation. Because they are so difficult to predict, these oppor-
tunities are not reflected in our revenues and earnings fore-
casts (see section 4, Outlook). 
 
Although the number of aggregated opportunities has only in-
creased slightly overall year on year, the continued advance-
ment of digital transformation and the emerging enhanced 
clarity of definition of the same are enabling a more robust ap-
proach towards further adapting our strategies. At the same 
time, the risks always associated with the same can be better 
controlled. 
 

 Risk Management System 

All for One Steeb AG is exposed to a number of different risks. As 
part of its overall responsibility for the Group, the management 
board established a system for risk management and internal 
controls especially for the purpose of identifying, analysing 
and implementing effective countermeasures against existen-
tial risks as early as possible. In addition, we have established 
a compliance management system that is being applied uni-
formly across the entire Group. This system forms the basis for 
adequately ensuring we can achieve our financial, operational 
and strategic goals and that rules and regulations are complied 
with. Risk early warning and internal controls are integral parts 
of our budgeting, control, and reporting processes and as such 
are firmly anchored within our business processes and work-
flows in the form of a number of monitoring and management 
mechanisms.  
 
Consequently, our risk management system represents an im-
portant cornerstone for making our business decisions. The en-
tities included in the risk consolidation are the same as those 
within the scope of the consolidation of the All for One Steeb 
Group. All identified risks (gross risks, i.e. before exposure-mit-
igating countermeasures) are recognised for the purpose of 
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risk reporting and hence also include those risks that have 
largely been avoided thanks to appropriate countermeasures. 
The actual reporting is divided into various risk groups (see sec-
tion 3.5, List of Individual Risks). The basic structure of the risk 
management organisation has not changed from the prior year. 
The organisation is headed by the risk manager under whose 
leadership the risk management team performs its operational 
risk management functions. Risk officers from the various 
areas and departments of the lead operating company form the 
core of this team. The subsidiaries also appoint risk officers. 
They continuously monitor the development of risks and the 
effectiveness of measures to limit risks within their respective 
areas or subsidiaries, and on the basis of this prepare a risk 
analysis and assessment and report regularly to the risk man-
ager. The risk handbook prescribes a standardised method, 
documents the risk management processes, and provides 
tools for continuously recording and tracking the results. The 
risk management team periodically attends workshops under 
the direction of the risk manager. The findings and results of 
these workshops are incorporated into the risk report that the 
risk manager prepares and submits to management. Alongside 
this, individual risks are monitored on a decentralised basis 
within each of the departments and subsidiaries by means of 
special analyses and additional assigned duties and responsi-
bilities.The management board and the risk manager discuss 
the identified risks in detail, examine and update counter-
measures and assess any residual exposure.  
 
This risk management system is fully integrated within the or-
ganisational and operational structure and provides the foun-
dation for risk early warning and control.  
 

 Internal Control System 

Our Internal Control System is based on the pillars of the »four-
eye principle«, »separation of duties«, »integrated reporting« 
and »internal audits«. The »four-eye principle« is operation-
ally implemented and monitored within the Group with the help 
of structured and uniform policies, such as signatory guide-
lines, operational rules, and organisational guidance. Another 
effective control and security mechanism is the carefully 
crafted and tailored rights and authorisations concept. that 
applies across the entire management organisation, and which 
precisely defines and limits the access and activities of individ-
uals and groups of people to what are predominantly SAP-
based and Microsoft-based applications and functional fea-
tures. We refined these internal systems and applications, 
along with their respective rights and authorisation concepts, 
in the course of the acquisitions we made. The »separation of 
duties« relating to critical business processes further en-
hances the security, reliability and quality of the workflow. 
Individual groups of people are also assigned horizontal duties, 
so that a system of mutual checks and balances is imple-
mented across the various departments and areas of responsi-
bility. 
 

Integrated reporting includes a detailed planning, control and 
reporting system with numerous analyses and reports about 
the Group’s situation, position and outlook. The planning 
process runs from the bottom up and on a monthly basis. In 
addition, regular forecasting is carried out for the individual 
business units, their companies and departments. These are 
carried out in order to further improve management controls, to 
recognise any discrepancies or deviations as early as possible 
and to be able to counteract them with appropriate measures. 
The current Group information system is supplemented by 
management meetings and business reviews on various levels 
within the individual departments, companies and business 
units. At these meetings and reviews, risks are also discussed, 
tracked and evaluated, and documented in reports and 
minutes. 
 
Our established Group-wide compliance management system 
is designed to ensure adherence to all laws, ordinances, regu-
lations, guidelines, contractual obligations and voluntary com-
mitments, as well as conformity with standards. The core is 
formed by a code of conduct that is derived from our corporate 
values and sets forth a binding set of rules about behaviour that 
applies to each and every employee and executive. Our compli-
ance management organisation oversees adherence to our 
code of conduct. This organisation is led by a compliance man-
ager and staffed by compliance officers from the companies of 
the Group. Employees can report any information, concerns or 
suspected violations of the code in person, by telephone or 
anonymously to a designated e-mail address. Every employee 
will be given access to and may review the individual elements 
of our compliance management system on our intranet. Our 
compliance management efforts were expanded during the re-
porting year. Here the focus was on training about compliance 
issues, the expansion of the data management system with an 
eye toward the implementation of the EU-wide General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), and further improving infor-
mation security to provide effective safeguards against cyber 
criminality. 
 
As part of internal audits, selected companies and Group pro-
cesses and procedures undergo a separate audit each year 
which, among other things, examines their compliance with in-
ternal regulations and the quality of the internal control sys-
tem. During the current reporting year, two subsidiaries, the 
Group-wide business processes, and the business processes 
within the Group parent All for One Steeb AG all underwent an 
internal audit.  
 
The risk manager, compliance officer and head of internal au-
dits report their findings to the management board and directly 
to the supervisory board. 
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 Risk Management Method and Reporting 

We use the following tables to assess identified risks in terms 
of their probability of occurrence and their impact on our earn-
ings, assets and financial situation and our revenues and earn-
ings forecasts: 
 

Probability of  
Occurrence Description

Less than 1%  Unlikely

1% to 5% Remote

6% to 10% Infrequent

11% to 30% Probable

31% to 50%  Frequent
    

 
Our risk catalogue does not include those risks with a probabil-
ity of occurrence greater than 50%, as we have not identified 
any such risks. In addition to our own experience and outside 
appraisals, we also include comparative values from other mar-
ket participants in our assessment.  
 
The severity or degree of damage that these identified risks can 
present range from »negligible« to »critical« according to the 
following scale. This rating depends on the expected impact the 
damage will have on our earnings, assets and financial situa-
tion as well as on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see 
section 4, Outlook). The timeframe for the assessment of these 
impacts corresponds at least to the forecast period specified in 
the Outlook section. 
 

Severity /  
Degree of Damage Description

1 Negligible

2 Minor

3 Moderate

4 Serious

5 Critical
    

 
We have compiled both assessments – namely the probability 
of occurrence and severity/degree of damage – in the form of 
risk priority benchmarks in the following risk matrix. In this 
way, the corresponding risk classification, which ranges from 
»low risk« to »medium risk« up to »high risk«, is determined 
for each individual risk.  
 

Risk Matrix of All for One Steeb AG 
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 List of Individual Risks  

The following provides a list of risk factors that we have identi-
fied and are addressing as part of our risk management sys-
tem. We do not quantify the individual risks depicted here ac-
cording to a consistent Group-wide methodology for the pur-
pose of internal control and management. These individual 
risks are instead classified qualitatively as part of an overall as-
sessment of their probability of occurrence and severity. The 
following table provides a concise overview of individual risks 
that also includes risk assessments. This list shows those risks 
most inclined to endanger our earnings, assets and financial 
situation, as well as our revenues and earnings projections: 
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Individual Risks 
 

Individual risks 

Probability 
of occur-

rence Impact 
Risk 

category

Environmental risks      
Risks associated with 
social, political, overall 
economic and regulatory 
developments Probable Serious High

Market and industry risks Infrequent Moderate Medium

Strategy risks      
Risks associated with 
»co-competition« with 
strategic partners Infrequent Serious High

Financial risks      

Financial and  
liquidity risks Unlikely Serious Low

Operational risks      

Risks associated with the 
operation of data centers Remote Serious Medium

Cyber risks Remote Serious Medium

Data protection risks Remote Serious Medium

Risks associated with 
human resources Infrequent Moderate Medium

Risks associated with 
acquisitions Infrequent Moderate Medium

Project risks Infrequent Moderate Medium
Risks associated with bad 
debts and customer 
insolvencies Infrequent Moderate Medium

Risks associated with  
legal disputes Infrequent Moderate Medium
        

 
Environmental Risks 

The »environmental risks« category is where we address and 
examine the risks that stem from social, political, overall eco-
nomic and regulatory changes and developments. They include 
transformation risks to which we are exposed in both the IT 
market and our target industries by virtue of our business 
model and our product and service portfolio. Our more detailed 
assessment of these risks is as follows: 
 
Risks Associated with Social, Political, Overall Economic and 
Regulatory Developments 

The global economy is being threatened by a number of geopo-
litical tensions. National protectionism and government inter-
vention in competition are increasingly resulting in trade re-
strictions, such as customs tariffs, and could significantly 
cloud the prospects for our core geographical markets Ger-
many, Austria and Switzerland. Both the mechanical and plant 
engineering and automotive supply sectors are strongly de-
pendent on exports. For this reason their ability to grow and ex-
pand beyond domestic demand is determined to a great extent 
by the health and condition of global sales and procurement 

markets as well as their access to markets. Societal develop-
ments and the enactment of stricter regulatory requirements 
can also adversely impact our business performance Among 
these, we include both transformation processes and the 
knock-on effects, such as the progress of e-mobility, and regu-
latory measures and their targets – for climate protection, en-
ergy management and pollutant emissions, for example. Con-
forming with aspects of sustainability, such as compliance with 
environmental, social and ethical standards, changes to laws 
and regulations and their interpretations in the fields of taxa-
tion and accounting, or generally the growing density of regula-
tions for capital market-oriented companies are all exposed to 
risks. 
 
Individual aspects, such as overall economic prospects, are 
characterised by counter-trends that have the opposite effect 
in some cases. Accordingly, a fundamentally robust and strong 
economy in our target markets could be considerably ad-
versely affected by an increased willingness to erect politically 
motivated trade barriers and by the manifold knock-on effects. 
 
The ramifications of the risks discussed above are mostly be-
yond our direct control. Although difficult to estimate, we cate-
gorise it as »probable« that such risks will materialise. We con-
sider the potential impact on our earnings, assets and financial 
situation, the other risks discussed in this report, and on our 
revenues and earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook) to be 
»serious«. For this reason we have categorised these risks in 
our overall assessment as »high«. 
 
Market and Industry Risks 

When examining the market and industry risk situation during 
the current reporting year, we again gave special attention to 
the increasingly clear consequences of the digital transfor-
mation and the risks involved. We are increasingly encounter-
ing transformation risks in both our customer markets and the 
IT market itself.  
 
Industries such as the automotive sector are facing fundamen-
tal changes in respect of their product and services portfolios 
as focus centres on expanding new mobility concepts. Accord-
ingly, our large customer base in the supply industry is also af-
fected. Machinery and equipment manufacturing and consum-
er goods – other target industries of ours – are facing similar 
»disruption«. Technologies such as 3-D printing could result in 
the growth of customer-specific »batch size 1« production, 
while at the same time business models evolve more towards 
user-based billing rather than conventional sales of equipment  
and machinery. This core transformation of our customers 
could compete more than planned with investments in IT solu-
tions and services and thus impair our business development. 
 
As a »trusted advisor«, trendsetter and driving force behind 
the change processes of our customers, we are moreover par-
ticularly exposed to an »innovator's dilemma«. We need to es-
tablish and expand a whole host of new topics and, in doing so, 
quickly leverage additional growth accelerators. At the same 
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time, we need to continue servicing our large base of regular 
customers and their business-critical application landscapes 
before we can gradually and seamlessly migrate them to the 
new world – a process that will probably take several years. The 
risks associated, for example, with managing and prioritising 
our financial and human resources are considerable. 
 
Even the IT market itself is undergoing far-reaching changes 
from such innovations as big data, cloud computing, Industry 
4.0, the Internet of things, artificial intelligence or even the 
blockchain technology. And naturally there are risks involved 
with the generational change from a sophisticated and well-es-
tablished SAP business suite that has been on the market for 
more than two decades to a new type of SAP S/4HANA applica-
tion. Such factors as delays in the delivery of features, func-
tions and releases could further exacerbate what are already 
highly volatile licensing sales. A lack of customer confidence 
stemming from concerns about security, integration capacity, 
scalability, configurability and reliability could also impair our 
marketing and distribution of cloud solutions. A sustained and 
successful marketing of cloud solutions could, on the other 
hand, lead to temporarily weaker-than-planned one-time reve-
nues from the sale of conventional software licenses before 
these, after a few years, can be over-compensated for by what 
would be lower, yet recurring, revenues from using cloud-based 
software. On top of this there is the risk that future enterprise 
software landscapes will increasingly detour around our pri-
vate cloud data centers on their way to public cloud environ-
ments from large platform providers. As market consolidation 
progresses and in light of the rapid speed of innovations, such 
as the increasing incorporation of artificial intelligence in enter-
prise software landscapes, capital expenditures to further ex-
pand our solutions and service portfolio could be higher than 
planned, the shortage of specialists could worsen, and compet-
itive pressure could become fiercer than expected. Such trends 
could, moreover, increase price and margin pressure more than 
anticipated. 
 
In order to mitigate these market-driven and sector-related 
transformation risks, we have continued to drive our develop-
ment in the current year under review. We revisited the fine tun-
ing of our business model, continued to significantly expand 
our portfolio of products and services and our customer base, 
strengthened our organisation and further improved our means 
of controlling our business units through two areas of business 
and improved reporting systems. We pay great attention to 
providing »key account management« that is as integrated 
and comprehensive as possible. To do this, we nowadays ap-
proach all lines of our customers' businesses, not just the IT de-
partment, to offer solutions, and have focused our efforts on 
advancing our acquisitions of previous years. In addition, we 
are increasingly adopting the role of »conductor« who has 
mastered all the platforms and »orchestrates« the entire cor-
porate software landscape of our customers and the operation 
of the same. Back in the previous year, we had already 
strengthened our consulting capacity through our manage-
ment consultants Allfoye, and support our customers in de-

signing and successfully implementing digitalisation strate-
gies. With our private cloud services managed from data cen-
ters in Germany, we are also getting increasingly closer to ma-
jor public cloud operators (»hyperscalers«), more and more of 
whom are also working from Germany. In doing so, we are striv-
ing to keep on increasing the scalability of our services. Unlike 
many of our competitors, and since 2007, we have been con-
sistently utilising the co-location services of leading providers 
and their facilities for the data centres that we use ourselves. 
Doing so gives us greater flexibility and scalability, reduces to-
tal assets, and helps mitigate risks. Overall, we want to raise 
the perceived value, advantages and benefits of our services 
for our customers, enhance their speed and flexibility, and thus 
help to secure their ability to compete. 
 
Despite these measures, there remain market and industry 
risks whose probability of occurrence we estimate as being 
»infrequent«. We consider the potential impact on our earn-
ings, assets and financial situation, the other risks discussed 
in this report, and on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see 
section 4, Outlook) to be »moderate«. For this reason we have 
categorised these risks in our overall assessment as »me-
dium«.  
 
Strategy Risks 

Our analysis of »strategy risks« encompasses the examina-
tion of the impacts of changing competitive situations along 
our supply chains and in our »business networks«. These in-
clude, in particular, the risks associated with strategic partner-
ships, especially with SAP and, increasingly, Microsoft, their so-
lutions, technologies, partnering models and resulting compet-
itive situations (»co-competition«). Our detailed assessment 
of these trends and the associated risks is as follows: 
 
Risks Associated with  »Co-Competition« with  
Strategic Partners 

Digital transformation could result in even greater restructur-
ing of our present competitive landscape than expected and 
could impair our business development. For example, custom-
ers could launch strategic initiatives to raise the loyalty of their 
customers by increasingly establishing their own industry plat-
forms and business models and by making more of their own 
arrangements than anticipated by ourselves to procure the 
requisite IT resources and services, or procuring them straight 
from strategic partners. In addition, our suppliers – operators 
of major platforms (»hyperscalers«), for example – could suc-
cessfully attempt to offer our customers their own higher qual-
ity support on top of their infrastructure-based services and 
thus increase the price and margin pressure on our service 
portfolio. 
 
Furthermore, our strategy of an all-inclusive service provider 
focusing on the portfolio of the world's two leading business 
software providers – SAP and Microsoft – is exposed to consid-
erable risks. The continued success of our services and prod-
ucts in the marketplace, and the sustainability of midmarket 
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strategies and associated rules and conditions governing part-
ner sales cannot be definitively predicted. In order to integrate 
our industry expertise into SAP S/4HANA, we continue to invest 
heavily in proprietary scope items, which are ready to use, pre-
configured business process solutions that can be rapidly and 
easily activated to help our customers make the transition to 
the new generation of enterprise software. These are run either 
in our data centers (private cloud) or on computers at the cli-
ent’s location (on premise). The commercial success of our 
new business process solutions for S/4HANA could be limited 
by the strategy SAP is pursuing to step up the marketing of its 
own cloud services for S/4HANA (SAP S/4HANA Public Cloud Edi-
tion). In connection with the generational change from the SAP 
Business Suite to SAP S/4HANA, we are also investing a great 
deal in transforming our consulting teams, which by its very na-
ture is vulnerable to significant risks. 
 
Bearing in mind the increasingly digitalised worlds of work 
(»new work«), we further expanded our »communications & 
collaboration activities« in the current year under review, to-
gether with Microsoft. We have also developed new, Microsoft-
based service portfolios – to better protect data and identities 
(»security & privacy«), for example, or to simplify the use of 
operating platforms (Microsoft Azure) or to map business 
workflows as continuously as possible. Alongside SAP, Mi-
crosoft – as the world's largest provider of e-mail communica-
tion software – and, accordingly, its cloud, technology, product 
and partner strategies are therefore becoming the focus of our 
strategy risks. In addition to SAP and Microsoft, the successful 
expansion of our cloud services and support business also 
leads to further strategic partnerships – with NetApp and Cisco, 
for example. Further risks are inherent in their technology, 
product and partner strategies and the resulting competitive 
situations (»co-competition«). 
 
Innovations on the part of our strategic partners could also re-
sult in unexpected shifts and changes in direction. Trends, such 
as connectivity and interaction within enterprise software 
landscapes (the Internet of things), could take a direction 
other than the one we planned, temporarily result in gaps in our 
service portfolio, inhibit the quality of our customer service and 
support, and provide an opening for our new competitors. 
 
Here we are working closely and intensively with our strategic 
partners to mitigate the risks and identify as accurately as pos-
sible what additional products and services we can provide to 
expand upon the standard scope of solutions and best fit the 
needs of our target customers. Our mutual dependencies also 
have a risk-mitigating effect. Our strong performance as the 
Number 1 in the SAP midmarket segment and as a member of 
United VARs, one of the leading SAP global platinum resellers, 
are important for the progress of SAP’s own business in the Ger-
man-speaking midmarket segment. This gives us a high degree 
of visibility and relevance in the eyes its customers and SAP 
alike.  
 

Likewise, all our strategic partners want to boost the growth 
momentum offered by their indirect business and are therefore 
reliant, above all, on major partners with strong innovative ca-
pabilities who also have a wealth of experience in managing 
comprehensive change processes. As a result, we can also 
more specifically identify co-innovation projects with custom-
ers and suppliers other than our strategic partners and thus 
better manage the risks of new competitive situations. Our 
manifold contacts to young, recently established technology 
companies and their founders are beneficial to us in innovation 
partnerships such as these (»Start Up meets Mittelstand« pro-
gramme). 
 
We assess as »infrequent« the probability that those risks as-
sociated with new competitive situations and strategic part-
nerships, will materialise. We do, however, consider their poten-
tial impact on our earnings, assets and financial situation, the 
other risks discussed in this report, and on our revenues and 
earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook) to be »serious«. 
For this reason we continue to categorise these risks in our 
overall assessment as »high«. 
 
Financial Risks 

The »financial risks« category is where we primarily address fi-
nancial- and liquidity-associated risks. Our more detailed as-
sessment of these risks is as follows: 
 
Financial and Liquidity Risks 

In the current year under review, we completed the restructur-
ing of our promissory note portfolio, a process we had already 
begun. Accordingly, all current financial liabilities arising from 
promissory note tranches have been replaced (see sec-
tion  2.3.2, Assets and Financial Situation). The remaining 
promissory notes are not subordinated and are unsecured. 
Should certain events occur, the holders of the promissory 
notes are authorised to raise the interest margin or, as applica-
ble, to call the promissory notes due immediately. These 
events primarily involve adhering to the agreed targets for the 
amount of equity and the equity ratio and the relationship be-
tween total net debt and EBITDA. Should there be certain 
changes in the shareholder structure of All for One Steeb 
(change of control), the creditors will also be authorised to 
completely cancel their loan commitments and call the loans 
due immediately. The management board carefully monitors 
compliance with the terms and conditions of the promissory 
notes. Furthermore, earnings, as well as the assets and finan-
cial situation, are monitored monthly using a Group-wide re-
porting system and variances to budget are analysed to coun-
teract any unplanned outflows or too few inflows of cash as 
quickly as possible. The management board still expects to ful-
fil the covenants associated with the promissory notes during 
the reporting year just ended and in the future as well. 
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We estimate the probability of these financial and liquidity 
risks occurring as being »unlikely«. We consider the potential 
impact on our earnings, assets and financial situation, the 
other risks discussed in this report, and on our revenues and 
earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook) to be »serious«. 
Our overall assessment categorises these risks as »medium«. 
 
Operational Risks 

Risks associated with the operation of data centers, cyber 
risks, data protection risks, risks associated with acquisitions, 
project risks, risks associated with human resources, risks as-
sociated with bad debt and customer insolvencies and risks as-
sociated with legal disputes are all addressed under »opera-
tional risks«. Our more detailed assessment of these risks is as 
follows: 
 
Risks Associated with the Operation of Data Centers 

All for One Steeb AG is exposed to the specific risks inherent 
with the operation of data centers. Unscheduled service inter-
ruptions can not only seriously impair our customers’ and our 
own business operations, but can also negatively impact our 
business performance, reputation and outlook (see section 4, 
Outlook).  
 
All for One Steeb employs extensive measures to reduce these 
risks. Systems and applications are operated redundantly in 
modern buildings and infrastructures that are located entirely 
separatly. In the event of an interruption in systems opera-
tions, which in the case of disaster could extend as far as to the 
failure of an entire data center, operations can be continued es-
sentially without interruption from other data centers. We also 
invest in sophisticated and cutting-edge technologies from 
pre-eminent manufacturers, such as for data mirroring and 
back-up purposes.  
 
We estimate the probability of these risks materialising as »re-
mote«. We consider the potential impact on our earnings, as-
sets and financial situation, the other risks discussed in this re-
port, and on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see section 
4, Outlook) to be »serious«. Therefore we have categorised the 
risks associated with the operation of data centers in our over-
all assessment as »medium«. 
 
Cyber Risks 

Our business, and that of our customers, depends to a great ex-
tent on unimpaired enterprise data and processes together 
with data communications that comply with regulations and re-
quirements. Criminal and other unlawful or malicious acts, such 
as cyberattacks against critical enterprise software applica-
tions, intrusions into information systems and data networks, 
or intentionally misleading employees with the goal of them 
disclosing confidential information (fake president), can sig-
nificantly damage the integrity, authenticity and confidential-
ity of business data (including personal information). Cyber at-
tacks against companies are becoming increasingly sophisti-
cated and are by no means just an »external« threat; on the 

contrary, they can be launched by employees in house or indi-
rectly as a result of stolen smartphones and tablets. Besides 
disrupting business and manufacturing procedures, attacks 
such as these can also be used to manipulate payment trans-
actions, access systems, and the operation of machinery and 
facilities (Internet of things) or cause data losses. Cyber at-
tacks can, moreover, intentionally spread »fake news« or trig-
ger »shitstorms« and thus cause harmful damage to our repu-
tation, which could significantly impair our business prospects. 
 
In order to most effectively mitigate such risks, we again in-
creased investments in cyber security while further expanding 
our information security management system. Our service 
management processes reflect and adhere to strict process 
definitions and compliance is monitored on an ongoing basis. 
Thorough special cyber training of the workforce and audits 
with periodic re-certifications – according to the requirements 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (ISAE 3402) or ISO 27001, for exam-
ple – empower us to fully anchor the high quality of our opera-
tions within our day-to-day business. We also took even more 
additional precautions and conducted further training during 
the reporting year mainly with the intent of increasing our al-
ready high security standards in such areas as monetary 
transactions. Our extensive rights and authorisations systems 
are always used to control access to our information systems 
and the data contained therein. This is yet another way we 
achieve and maintain a very high level of security and protec-
tion for the data of both our customers and our own business. 
Our data centers are located exclusively in Germany. In order to 
maintain and further expand our high standards of security, 
protection and process quality, we are constantly looking into 
further certification options. With the aid of external service 
providers, our »Security Board« coordinates measures for mit-
igating cyber risks throughout the Group so that – if waves of 
attack are recognisable – it can respond quickly and trigger 
agreed countermeasures. In addition, we have insurance cover 
– including a special cyber risk policy – to further contain the 
potential damage. We also use our well-established customer 
communication formats – such as the All for One Steeb forum 
for the midmarket – which are in high demand in the market-
place, and actively communicate the dangers associated with 
cyber attacks in workshops and seminars as well as advising 
on how to implement and handle countermeasures and the ap-
propriate technologies (»identity management«, »security 
governance«). The increased attention attracted by the en-
forcement of the EU's General Data Protection Regulation on 
25  May 2018 has also raised the awareness of our customers 
further as far as cyber risks are concerned. In spite of these ex-
tensive precautions, cyber risks and their economic conse-
quences – including reputational damage – cannot be entirely 
ruled out. Furthermore, events beyond our control, such as the 
public announcement of cyber attacks against other compa-
nies, could compromise customer willingness to invest in our 
cloud services. 
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We estimate the probability of cyber risks materialising as »re-
mote«. We consider the potential impact on our earnings, as-
sets and financial situation, the other risks discussed in this re-
port, and on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see sec-
tion  4, Outlook) to be »serious«. Therefore we have catego-
rised the risks associated with the operation of data centers in 
our overall assessment as »medium«. 
 
Data Protection Risks 

As a cloud services and HR business process outsourcing pro-
vider, we handle on behalf of our customers a high degree of 
personal information that may concern their workforce, suppli-
ers, clients and business partners. In addition, we process a 
wide variety of other business information, including that relat-
ing to trade secrets and intellectual property. We also handle 
an extensive array of personal data and information concern-
ing trade secrets with our proprietary systems and applica-
tions that are used strictly for internal processes. Such data is 
highly sensitive and subject to extremely stringent require-
ments in terms of privacy and data protection. The new EU Gen-
eral Data Protection Regulation has been bindingly applicable 
since 25 May 2018. This will once again significantly raise the 
bar on what is already a high level of protection offered to per-
sonal information. This regulation give users more rights and 
control over their personal data. Moreover, service providers 
like All for One Steeb will have to fulfil significantly greater infor-
mation, documentation, verification and notification require-
ments. Each violation is subject to very heavy fines. 
 
Even in the run-up to these new regulatory developments, we 
had already begun adapting our data protection organisation to 
comply with the EU General Data Protection Regulation. We 
have also undertaken a number of individual steps to expand 
and enhance our data protection landscape. We are one of the 
first companies on the market that successfully underwent 
certification of its data protection processes to ISO 27008 
(data protection for cloud services) in addition to the earlier au-
dit completed in accordance with ISO 27001 (information secu-
rity).  
 
We estimate the probability of data protection risks materialis-
ing as »remote«. We consider the potential impact on our earn-
ings, assets and financial situation, the other risks discussed 
in this report, and on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see 
section 4, Outlook) to be »serious«. Therefore we have catego-
rised the data protection risks in our overall assessment as 
»medium«. 
 
Risks Associated with Human Resources  

Risks associated with human resources are dominated by the 
further exacerbation of the shortage of specialists. This trend 
applies to both the IT market and our customer markets in vir-
tually equal measure. In the case of service companies such as 
All for One Steeb, sustained business success is inextricably 
linked to having highly qualified and motivated people working 
for you. Should we fail to adequately develop and retain our cur-
rent employees, promote and reward talent, recruit enough 

new personnel resources, and effectively manage, lead and de-
velop our entire workforce, we may no longer be able to suc-
cessfully grow and expand our business. It is when more em-
ployees than planned, especially managers, leave the com-
pany without being able to smoothly transition their duties and 
responsibilities to qualified replacements that we face the risk 
of deterioration in service quality and customer satisfaction, 
and consequently the impairment of the business.  
To counter these risks, we have continued to further expand our 
personnel development programmes in the current year under 
review. What’s more, our internal management system in-
cludes selected human resources non-financial performance 
indicators so that we will be able to more rapidly and accurately 
counteract any indication that human resources related risks 
may be materialising. For example, we have increased our re-
cruiting resources in light of the very tight labour markets and 
our additional need for manpower to handle the upcoming gen-
erational change from the SAP Business Suite to SAP S/4HANA, 
have expanded our training programmes and have further 
strengthened the All for One Steeb brand as an attractive em-
ployer (»employer branding«) (see section 1.5, Employees). 
In spite of these measures, the risks associated with tight la-
bour markets – which could hinder the planned expansion of 
our team and its progression over time – can only be mitigated 
to a limited extent.   
 
We estimate the probability of these risks occurring as being 
»infrequent«. There remain risks associated with human re-
sources despite intensified human-resource related activities 
and constant monitoring. The fact that we consider the poten-
tial impact on our earnings, assets and financial situation, the 
other risks discussed in this report, and on our revenues and 
earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook) to be »moderate«, 
is why we have categorised these risks in our overall assess-
ment as »medium«. 
 
Risks Associated with Acquisitions 

In the current year under review, we have intensified our efforts 
to develop and integrate our company acquisitions of previous 
years. Such transactions are, by their very nature, exposed to 
integration risks, particularly with regard to the acquired cus-
tomers and employees. Equally, incorrect financial and eco-
nomic estimations or disputes with former shareholders or re-
maining minority interests can seriously harm business devel-
opment and, accordingly, the balance sheet value of the ac-
quired investment interests. Despite our wealth of experience 
with company acquisitions and the care we take with prepara-
tion, due diligence and integration of the new customers and 
employees, risks always remain. 
 
We estimate the probability of these risks occurring as being 
»infrequent«. We consider the potential impact on our earn-
ings, assets and financial situation, the other risks discussed 
in this report, and on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see 
section 4, Outlook) to be »moderate«. For this reason we have 
categorised these risks in our overall assessment as »me-
dium«. 
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Project Risks 

One key element of our business model is the planning, rollout 
and integration of extensive business-critical software land-
scapes at our customer’s locations. These projects can extend 
over periods of years. In addition to our own teams of consult-
ants, we sometimes engage partners in carrying out the pro-
jects. But most importantly, our customers contribute a great 
deal of their own resources to delivering a successful project 
outcome. 
 
Implementation projects can take longer than planned, such as 
when recommended best practices result in new functional re-
quirements or deviations or when the dynamics of the custom-
er’s business demand that resources be directed more to their 
daily operations than to the project. For this reason, our own 
costs might exceed the agreed revenues, especially in the case 
of fixed-price projects. What’s more, customers who are dissat-
isfied with the implementation may hold back payment, harm 
our good reputation on the market and make it more difficult for 
us to win additional projects. Special project risks, such as 
those relating to the capacity to meet service, features and per-
formance commitments or scheduling and cost targets, are an 
inherent part of the generational change from the SAP Business 
Suite to the completely new SAP S/4HANA solution. 
 
In order to reduce the impact of project risks, we generally con-
centrate our project business on selected industries and appli-
cations in countries where German is spoken. This concentra-
tion has enabled us to establish a high degree of business pro-
cess competence that is reinforced by the ongoing skills quali-
fication of our consultants and consulting partners. Thanks to 
that, we can identify and appropriately manage quality and 
completion risks mostly at an early stage. The integrated pro-
ject management methods we have developed ourselves also 
help to ensure compliance with the agreed project objectives. 
For example, we monitor aspects such as quality and risks, pro-
ject progress and resources, cost and communication within 
the project on an ongoing basis. Our own business process and 
add-on solutions offer considerable help in containing project 
risks as does our global partner network United VARs in the case 
of international projects. In order to limit the project risks asso-
ciated with the coming generational change from the SAP Busi-
ness Suite to the SAP S/4HANA solution, we continue to invest 
heavily in the training of our consultants. We are also com-
pletely redesigning our business process and add-on solutions 
for SAP S/4HANA to also limit as much as possible the risks as-
sociated with the transition to this new generation of software. 
We are also working closely with SAP to this end. With respect 
to the remaining project risks, insurance coverage is in place 
that can further mitigate losses from project risks. Adequate 
safeguards are also undertaken by including these in our finan-
cial planning and budgeting. Despite these measures, we can-
not rule out any project risks.  
 

We estimate the probability of project risks occurring as being 
»infrequent«. We consider the potential impact on our earn-
ings, assets and financial situation, the other risks discussed 
in this report, and on our revenues and earnings forecasts (see 
section 4, Outlook) to be »moderate«. For this reason we have 
categorised these risks in our overall assessment as »low«. 
 
Risks Associated with Bad Debts and Customer Insolvencies 

The risks associated with bad debts and customer insolvencies 
are also included within the category of »operational risks«. 
We further refined our systems and practices – including a vig-
orous receivables management programme – for the early de-
tection of risks of insolvency among customers in order to spe-
cifically limit exposure. Insurance is also used to mitigate the 
risks posed by bad debts.  
 
Overall, we estimate the probability of these risks occurring as 
being »infrequent«. We consider the potential impact on our 
earnings, assets and financial situation, the other risks dis-
cussed in this report, and on our revenues and earnings fore-
casts (see section 4, Outlook) to be »moderate«. For this rea-
son we have categorised these risks in our overall assessment 
as »medium«. 
 
Risks Associated with Legal Disputes 

In light of the strong growth we have been experiencing contin-
uously for years, we are of course also exposed to the in-
creased risk of possible legal disputes that can arise in the 
wake of the individual risks described above. For example, dis-
puted rollout projects or gaps in the implementation of the Gen-
eral Data Protection Regulation could lead to bad debts and 
fines, or even claims for damages. We also invest significant 
amounts in expanding our lines of business strategies, devel-
oping proprietary products in the process. These actions could, 
for example, infringe the existing proprietary rights of others. In 
addition, we are increasingly exposed directly and indirectly 
(through our supply chain) to compliance risks – in connection 
with employee, social or environmental matters, for example. 
Legal risks can also arise in connection with anti-corruption or 
human rights violations, such as discrimination or harassment 
of any kind. The major increase in the size of our workforce 
could result in more employment-related litigation.  
 
To limit the risks associated with legal disputes, we have fur-
ther expanded our own legal and compliance department and 
refined our strategies and processes to enable better manage-
ment of legal risks. We are also seeking greater assistance from 
specialised external legal counsels and have extended and bet-
ter tailored our insurance coverage. 
 
We estimate the probability of risks associated with legal dis-
putes occurring as being »infrequent«. We consider the poten-
tial impact on our earnings, assets and financial situation, the 
other risks discussed in this report, and on our revenues and 
earnings forecasts (see section 4, Outlook) to be »moderate«. 
For this reason we have categorised the risks associated with 
legal disputes in our overall assessment as »medium«. 
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 Overall Risk Profile 

In the interest of giving balanced consideration to opportuni-
ties and risks, our revenues and earnings forecasts (see sec-
tion 4, Outlook) not only appropriately take into account the 
preceding opportunities, but also the overall qualitative as-
sessment of the risks discussed above. 
 
In our overall assessment, and in spite of the apparent domina-
tion of reported risks as compared to the aforementioned op-
portunities (see section 3.1, Opportunities Management), we 
believe that opportunities outweigh the risks. Given our market 
position and the large and ever-growing number of regular cus-
tomers, and in light of our highly trained and dedicated employ-
ees, and our further expanded foundation of solutions and ser-
vices, we are confident that we can successfully meet the new 
challenges posed by this latest overall risk profile and further 
expand our position as a leading IT service provider and – in our 
own estimate – the recognised Number 1 on the SAP market in 
German-speaking countries and a sought-after digitalisation 
partner for the midmarket. The digitalisation of business pro-
cesses within our customer markets, the generational change 
to the new SAP S/4HANA enterprise software with close connec-
tions to innovative cloud solutions for lines of business will 
probably gain momentum and are expected to continue over 
the medium and long terms. We continue to specifically gear 
both our organisation and range of products and services to the 
powerful momentum of these trends with the determination of 
underscoring our claim to a permanent place in the relevant set 
of IT contract awards and projects within our target industries.  
 
 

 Outlook  

Outlook for the Economy as a Whole 

Protectionist tendencies, trade conflicts, the uncertain out-
come of the Brexit negotiations and increasing geopolitical ten-
sions could weigh on what has so far been robust economic 
growth. Greater disruptive influences on the economy could hit 
Germany as an exporting nation – and therefore our customers 
as well – particularly hard. In the autumn joint economic fore-
cast, the predicted growth of gross domestic product in Ger-
many was reduced from 2.0 to 1.9 percent for 2019. The joint 
economic forecast is compiled jointly by RWI in Essen, DIW in 
Berlin, ifo Institut in Munich, IfW in Kiel and IWH in Halle (source: 
Spiegel Online, 27 Sep 2018). In early November 2018, the 
panel of »economic experts« for the (German) federal govern-
ment reduced its economic growth forecast for 2018/19 from 
1.8 to 1.5 percent. As such, overall economic development is 
plagued by considerable uncertainty, whose specific conse-
quences for our target markets are difficult to estimate. 
 
Projected Developments in our Target Markets 

Looking ahead to 2019 in our target markets, the positive stim-
ulus from 2018 and the signs of growing slowdown and uncer-
tainty are more or less balanced. The good order situation and 

ample orders in hand in the machinery and equipment manu-
facturing sector could result in significant production growth in 
2019 again. So far, market observers are expecting production 
to increase by 2% compared to 2018 (source: VDMA, 13 Sep 
2018). The development of the global electric car market is ex-
pected to stimulate the automotive sector, which is strongly 
dependent on exports. For 2019, ZVEI expects growth in this 
sector of 4% compared to the previous year. An increase of 3% 
is forecast for Germany (source: ZVEI, 31 Jul 2018). Whether or 
not this forecast proves to be sufficiently robust is uncertain in 
light of stricter climate regulations or the increased risk facing 
the sector as it evolves towards increased e-mobility. The im-
mense innovative strength of numerous companies remains a 
source of hope. These companies are increasingly grasping the 
opportunities offered by digital change, are investing more in 
new technologies and business models to defend or even ex-
pand their good standing in the global market. Given their abil-
ity to change combined with their equally strong industrial and 
technological substance, many market observers believe that 
German companies will continue to occupy good positions in 
the global market in future although there is no guarantee that 
the aforementioned forecasts will not be seriously hindered by 
a further escalation of trade conflicts and political tensions, in 
particular. 
 
Outlook for the IT Markets 

The digitalisation of companies' workflows and business mod-
els will continue to grow. In the process, the role played by cor-
porate IT will shift increasingly towards becoming a business 
partner in the digital transformation. The severe shortage or 
specialists, a lack of strategy, application and technology ex-
pertise and growing requirements in respect of security and 
availability when operating the applications and systems will 
result in the increased involvement of external service provid-
ers. IT providers, particularly, who work in close proximity to 
their customers' business workflows, are recognised process 
experts, and operate in the still small, but strongly growing IT 
sub-markets for »new themes« should again witness positive 
momentum in 2019. The worsening shortage of specialists 
could hinder growth (source: »Der Markt für IT-Beratung und IT-
Service, Deutschland« (The market for IT consulting and IT ser-
vice in Germany), Lünendonk, Sep 2018).   
 
In terms of our outlook for the financial year 2018/19, we con-
sider overall economic developments to be an important, yet 
difficult to gauge, element of uncertainty and one that could 
significantly influence probable developments in our target 
markets and in turn the IT business as a whole.  
 
Projected Business Performance of the Group 

As a »front runner«, »trusted advisor«, trendsetter and driving 
force behind the change processes of our customers, we be-
lieve we have climbed to the top position in the German-speak-
ing SAP market over the past years. Keeping pace with the high 
speed of innovations at SAP and Microsoft, we have expanded 
our strategy and made targeted investments in further building 
our portfolio for our traditional target markets. On our journey 



Company    I    Group Management Report    I    Consolidated Financial Statements    I    Notes     I    Additional Information 

 Annual Report All for One Steeb AG 43 

to becoming a leading IT and consulting company and sought-
after digitalisation partner for SMEs, we have also maintained 
our clear focus in terms of geography and target sectors.  
 
Provided demand in our markets remains stable and robust in 
the financial year 2018/19, our business strategy and overall 
risk profile should enable us to achieve further growth. Focus 
will be on driving the expansion of our cloud business to gener-
ate sustainable recurring revenues. Our large base of regular 
customers will continue to provide a solid foundation for further 
growth in the financial year 2018/19. The sale of conventional 
software licenses will continue to fluctuate strongly and there-
fore remains difficult to plan. Our guidance for 2018/19 consid-
ers potential counter-movements, such as the continuing shift 
from one-off license sales towards cloud software leasing mod-
els and, at the same time, the special boost to license sales 
from the forthcoming generational change from SAP Business 
Suite to SAP S/4HANA. Accordingly, we expect one-off license 
sales to decline and our recurring cloud services and support 
revenues to increase further. 
 
The task of integrating our extensive industry expertise into 
SAP S/4HANA may again lead to additional major investments 
in our proprietary business process library (scope items) in 
2018/19. Likewise, we want to continue strongly expanding 
our portfolio of Microsoft-based services for improving commu-
nication and »collaboration« in companies, towards digital 
worlds of work (»new work«), towards »Cloud First« (business 
solutions on Azure), security and data protection and »one 
stop shopping« (integration of SAP plus Microsoft). Our guid-
ance also takes higher future investments in training pro-
grammes into account, which we want to use to strengthen our 
consulting resources, direct sales and partner ecosystem for 
the upcoming generational change and intensified marketing 
of SAP S/4HANA.  
 
We believe that the momentum driving the expansion of our 
good position in the strongly growing and gradually emerging 
cloud transformation sub-markets is generally consistently fa-
vourable albeit the knock-on effects of a possibly greater slow-
down in economic growth on our development in the financial 
year 2018/19 are still difficult to assess. With an eye on addi-
tional growth opportunities, we want to expand our portfolio, ex-
tend the scalability of our cloud services and, to achieve this, 
invest more in technologies and processes for the dynamic in-
corporation of »public cloud data center resources«.  
 
As part of our strategy offensive 2022 that we launched mid-
November 2018, we will be investing extensively in new growth 
areas – such as IT security, new work and proprietary solutions 
on cloud platforms – in the financial year 2018/19, above and 
beyond our main areas of focus, such as SAP S/4HANA and 
cloud services. We will also expand our »go to market« as part 
of our strategy offensive to ensure deeper penetration of our 
regular customer base and to expand our market access to in-
clude larger midmarket companies, as well as strengthening 
our organisation and rolling out a new brand architecture to cre-

ate a uniform visual identity throughout the Group. This strat-
egy offensive will incur a non-recurring charge in the mid-sin-
gle-digit millions in the financial year 2018/19. 
 
We therefore expect one-off license revenues to decline slightly 
in the financial year 2018/19, while recurring revenues are ex-
pected to increase significantly, with sales in the range of 
EUR  345 million to 355 million. EBIT 2018/19 will probably be 
in the range of EUR 13 million to 18 million – after consideration 
of the non-recurring charge for the strategy offensive. EBIT 
2018/19 adjusted for these one-off costs is expected to be be-
tween EUR 12 million and 22 million. 
 
The non-financial performance indicators of employee reten-
tion and health index were again used as supplemental man-
agement and control parameters. We have set ourselves the 
goal in the financial year 2018/19 of stabilising »employee re-
tention« at the same level of 91.6% as the current year under 
review. In 2018/19, we also want to keep the »health index« 
more or less on a par (+/- 0.5 percentage points) with the prior-
year level (2017/18: 97.5%). Despite the tight labour markets, 
the headcount is expected to grow at a disproportionately high 
rate in the financial year 2018/19 relative to sales growth. 
 
Based on current assessments, there are no further foresee-
able extraordinary factors that would influence the preceding 
projections for our financial year 2018/19 or the financial years 
beyond. Economic setbacks of the kind that are difficult to as-
sess and cannot be ruled out could endanger our ability to 
achieve our forecasts, especially since these may result in re-
duced demand along with bad debts and insolvencies among 
our existing customers. This is why potential economic set-
backs continue to pose the main risk to our projected business 
performance. 
 
 

 Other Information 

 Dependent Company Report 

Unternehmens Invest AG, Vienna/Austria, and UIAG Informatik-
Holding GmbH, Vienna/Austria, each directly holds 25.07% of 
the share capital of All for One Steeb AG. A voting agreement ex-
ists between both shareholders. In addition to Unternehmens 
Invest AG and UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH as directly con-
trolling entities, these companies‘ shareholders and other par-
ent companies, along with Dr Rudolf Knünz, can also indirectly 
exercise a controlling influence over All for One Steeb AG. For 
this reason, all relationships with controlling entities and their 
affiliated companies are documented in the dependent com-
pany report.  
 
In accordance with §312, section 3 »Aktiengesetz«, the man-
agement board declares in the dependent company report that 
– based on the circumstances known to it at the time the re-
spective legal transaction was undertaken – the company and 
its subsidiaries have received appropriate consideration for 
each transaction made.  
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 Corporate Governance Statement 

The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to §§289f, 
315d »Handelsgesetzbuch« is published in the Investor Rela-
tions section of the company’s website www.all-for-one.com.  
 

 Compensation Report  

The management board of All for One Steeb AG consisted of Lars 
Landwehrkamp and Stefan Land during the reporting year. The 
benefits granted to the members of the management board for 
the current financial year totalled KEUR 1,957 (2016/17: KEUR 
1,848) and the allocations amounted to KEUR 1,801 (2016/17: 
KEUR 1,682). Fixed compensation for the members of the man-
agement board consisted of a basic salary, benefits in kind for 
the use of a company car and the payment of direct insurance. 
The additional performance-related compensation component 
is based on the annual target achievement of the EBT as reflect-
ed in the audited consolidated financial statements of All for 
One Steeb AG. A long-term variable compensation component 
will also be paid and which is calculated based on the cumula-
tive earnings per share over a period of years. Pension-related 
expenses consisted of contributions to a support fund. The 
agreements with the company directors stipulate that if a 
member of the management board is removed early, that mem-
ber will continue to receive his or her base compensation until 
the end of the agreement. Furthermore, and likewise until the 
end of the agreement, the affected member of the manage-
ment board will receive the annual variable compensation at 
the mid-target achievement level of the previous two years and 
the long-term compensation component at a target achieve-
ment rate of 100%. 
 
The members of the supervisory board receive an annual fixed 
amount of compensation that is determined by the annual gen-
eral meeting. The chairman receives four times (prior year: 
three times) and the deputy chairman two times (prior year: 
one-and-a-half times) this amount of compensation. Further-
more, members also receive compensation for their work in 
committees. The chairman of a committee receives four times 
(prior year: four times) the amount of this committee member-
ship remuneration. Members of the supervisory board who 
were not in office for the entire financial year receive compen-
sation on a pro rata basis. No performance-based compensa-
tion is provided. Total compensation during the reporting year 
for the supervisory board was KEUR 157 (2016/17: KEUR 114).  
 
No loans were extended nor stock options granted to the mem-
bers of the management board or the supervisory board during 
the reporting year. Individual compensation for members of 
each of the boards is reported in the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 

 Information Concerning Takeovers 

Information Pursuant to §315a, Section 1 
»Handelsgesetzbuch« (HGB) 

 
Composition of Issued Share Capital (No. 1) 

The issued share capital in the amount of EUR 14,946,000 
(30  Sep 2017: EUR 14,946,000) consists of 4,982,000 
(30  Sep 2017: 4,982,000) registered no-par-value shares with 
a nominal value of EUR 3 per share.  
 
Restrictions on Voting Rights or the Transfer of Shares (No. 2) 

The management board is not aware of any restrictions affect-
ing voting rights or the transfer of shares, or in particular of any 
restrictions that could result from agreements among the 
shareholders.  
 
Direct or Indirect Shares in the Capital that Exceed 10% of the 
Voting Rights (No. 3) 

Unternehmens Invest AG, Vienna/Austria, holds 25.07%, UIAG 
Informatik-Holding GmbH, Vienna/Austria, holds 25.07% and 
BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co KG, Nöhagen/Austria, holds 11.58% 
of the share capital and voting rights in the company.  
 
Holders of Shares with Special Rights (No. 4) 

No All for One Steeb AG shares confer special rights of control.  
 
Type of Voting Rights Control for Employee Shares (No. 5) 

There are no employees holding an interest in the share capital 
of All for One Steeb AG, who cannot directly exercise their rights 
of control. 
 
Legal Provisions and Stipulations in the Company Articles of 
Association Governing the Appointment and Removal of 
Members of the Management Board and on Amending the 
Company Articles of Association (No. 6) 

a) Appointment of Members of the Management Board 

In accordance with §84, section 1 »Aktiengesetz« and §6, sec-
tion 2 of the company articles of association, the members of 
the management board are appointed by the supervisory board 
for a maximum term of five years. The management board will 
consist of at least two persons in accordance with §6, 
section  2 of the company articles of association. Furthermore, 
the supervisory board will determine the number of members 
in the management board in accordance with the provisions set 
forth by law. The supervisory board can appoint a member of 
the management board to be chairman of the management 
board and may also appoint deputy members of the manage-
ment board. Pursuant to §85, section 1 »Aktiengesetz« the 
court can, in urgent cases and on petition of an involved party, 
appoint the member in the event that a required member of the 
management board is lacking (for example when there is only 
one member of the management board in office). In any case, 
and pursuant to §85, section 2 »Aktiengesetz«, the term of the 
court-appointed member of the management board expires as 
soon as the original deficiency is corrected. 
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b) Removal of Members of the Management Board 

The supervisory board may revoke the appointment as member 
of the management board and the appointment as chairman of 
the management board with good cause in accordance with 
§84, section 3, sentence 1 »Aktiengesetz«. Good cause ac-
cording to §84, section 3, sentence 2 »Aktiengesetz« is gross 
dereliction of duty, inability to properly manage the business or 
a vote of no confidence by the annual general meeting, unless 
such confidence by the shareholders was withdrawn for clearly 
irrelevant reasons. The revocation of appointment to the man-
agement board is effective according to §84, section 3, sen-
tence 4 »Aktiengesetz« until such time as the invalidity of such 
revocation may be judged legally final. 
 
c) Amendments to the Company Articles of Association 

Pursuant to §179, section 1, sentence 1 »Aktiengesetz«, a res-
olution of the annual general meeting is required for any 
amendment to the company articles of association. The su-
pervisory board is, however, authorised according to §17 of the 
company articles of association in connection with §179, 
section 1, sentence 2 »Aktiengesetz« to approve amendments 
to the company articles of association that only affect its word-
ing. 
 
According to §179, section 2, sentence 1 »Aktiengesetz«, a 
resolution by the annual meeting on amending the company 
articles of association requires a majority vote that includes at 
least three-quarters of the represented share capital at the 
time the resolution was adopted. According to §179, section 2, 
sentence 2 »Aktiengesetz«, the company articles of asso-
ciation may set forth other requirements and a different capital 
majority, although only a larger capital majority may be stipu-
lated for any changes to the corporate purpose. On the basis of 
this statutory authority, §14, section 3, sentence 3 of the 
company articles of association provides that resolutions for 
amending the company articles of association be approved by 
simple majority vote to the extent that such is legally permis-
sible. 
 
Authority of the Management Board, Particularly Regarding 
its Ability to Issue or Repurchase Shares (No. 7) 

In accordance with §5, section 4 of the company articles of as-
sociation, and with the consent of the supervisory board, the 
management board is authorised until 10 March 2020 to in-
crease the share capital up to a total of EUR 7,473,000 through 
one or more issues of new registered shares for cash and/or 
contributions in kind (2015 Authorised Capital). Shareholders 
will always be granted a subscription right. The new shares may 
also be taken over by one or more financial institution with the 
obligation to offer them for subscription to the shareholders. 
The management board, with the consent of the supervisory 
board, will specify the conditions of the share issue. The super-
visory board is authorised to revise the wording of the company 
articles of association to reflect the scope of the capital in-
crease from authorised capital or after the expiration of the au-

thorisation period. The management board is, however, author-
ised with the consent of the supervisory board to exclude the 
statutory subscription rights for shareholders: 
 
a) to the extent such is necessary to even out fractional 

amounts; 
 
b) when a given volume of shares does not exceed 50% of 

the share capital and is being issued for contributions in 
kind for the purpose of buying companies or equity inter-
ests in companies or business units, or for the purpose of 
acquiring claims against the company; 

 
c) when a capital increase in exchange for cash contribu-

tions does not exceed 10% of the share capital and the is-
sue price of the new shares is not substantially lower 
than the stock exchange price (§186, section 3, »Aktien-
gesetz«); when using this authorisation to exclude sub-
scription rights according to §186, section 3, sentence 4 
»Aktiengesetz«, the exclusion of the subscription right 
on the basis of other authorisations according to §186, 
section 3, sentence 4 »Aktiengesetz« must be taken into 
account. 

 
The annual general meeting of 11 March 2015 authorised the 
management board in accordance with §71, section 1, number 
8 »Aktiengesetz« to repurchase shares of All for One Steeb AG 
stock in a total amount of up to 10% of the share capital by 
10  March 2020. This corresponds to 498,200 registered no-
par-value shares. The management board made no use of this 
authorisation during the reporting period. 
 
Material Agreements under the Condition of a Change of 
Control as a Result of a Takeover Bid (No. 8) 

Certain changes in the shareholder structure of All for One 
Steeb (change of control) may result in the holders of the prom-
issory notes being able to call their share of the notes due pay-
able immediately. 
 
Indemnity Agreements in the Event of a Takeover Bid (No. 9) 

No company indemnity agreements with members of the man-
agement board or other employees have been made for the 
event of a takeover bid. 
 
Filderstadt, 11 December 2018 
All for One Steeb AG 
 
 
 
 
Lars Landwehrkamp Stefan Land 
CEO   CFO 
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Group Income Statement and Other Comprehensive Income of All for One Steeb AG 
Financial Year from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 –  

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Income statement    

Sales revenues (1) 332,357 300,521

Other operating income (2) 4,988 2,972

Cost of materials and purchased services (3) -119,921 -109,242

Personnel expenses (4) -139,848 -124,168

Depreciation and amortisation (6) -10,629 -9,312

Other operating expenses (7) -46,370 -40,709

EBIT 20,577 20,062
      

Financial income 269 376

Financial expense -1,290 -1,045

Financial result (8) -1,021 -669

EBT 19,556 19,393
      

Income tax (9) -5,849 -6,308

Earnings after tax 13,707 13,085

   attributable to equity holders of the parent 14,031 13,103

   attributable to non-controlling interests -324 -18
      

Other comprehensive income    

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability 151 1,793

Related tax -74 -276

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss 77 1,517

Unrealised losses from currency translation -285 -54

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss -285 -54
      

Other comprehensive income -208 1,463
      

Total comprehensive income 13,499 14,548

   attributable to equity holders of the parent 13,823 14,566

   attributable to non-controlling interests -324 -18
      

Undiluted and diluted earnings per share    

Earnings per share in EUR (10) 2.82 2.63

      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Group Balance Sheet of All for One Steeb AG 
Financial Year as at 30 September 2018 

 
Assets    

in KEUR 30.09.2018 30.09.2017

Non-current assets    

Goodwill (11) 23,642 24,531

Other intangible assets (11) 38,605 41,618

Tangible fixed assets (12) 17,279 11,749

Financial assets (13) 6,569 6,034

Other assets (18) 1,036 1,115

Deferred tax assets (14) 1,413 681

  88,544 85,728
      

Current assets    

Inventories (16) 690 1,160

Trade accounts receivable (17) 47,257 42,876

Current tax assets (15) 2,678 2,304

Financial assets (13) 3,766 3,418

Other assets (18) 3,909 3,485

Cash and cash equivalents (19) 36,331 29,755

  94,631 82,998

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

Total assets 183,175 168,726

     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Equity and Liabilities    

in KEUR 30.09.2018 30.09.2017

Equity    

Issued capital (20) 14,946 14,946

Capital reserve (20) 11,228 11,228

Other reserves (20) 265 550

Retained earnings 50,769 42,639

Share of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 77,208 69,363

Non-controlling interests (22) -189 147

Total equity 77,019 69,510
      

Non-current liabilities    

Provisions (23) 357 361

Employee benefit obligations (5) 2,446 2,468

Financial liabilities (24) 27,343 20,681

Deferred tax liabilities (25) 14,516 14,516

Other liabilities (26) 513 2,026

  45,175 40,052
      

Current liabilities    

Provisions (23) 1,331 649

Current tax liabilities (15) 4,326 1,441

Financial liabilities (24) 1,967 6,528

Trade accounts payable (27) 15,532 14,907

Other liabilities (26) 37,825 35,639

  60,981 59,164

Total liabilities 106,156 99,216

Total equity and liabilities 183,175 168,726
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Group Cash Flow Statement of All for One Steeb AG 
Financial Year from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 –  

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

EBT 19,556 19,393

Amortisation of intangible assets (6) 4,790 4,755

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (6) 5,839 4,557

Financial result (8) 1,021 669

EBITDA 31,206 29,374

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in value adjustments and provisions 10 167

Other non-cash expense (+) and income (-) -288 -129

Changes in assets and liabilities:     

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade receivables -3,655 -5,361

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in financial assets -910 -808

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in other assets -1,517 -1,307

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables 610 2,353

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other liabilities 692 4,477

Income tax paid -2,741 -7,492

Cash flow from operating activities 23,407 21,274
      

Purchase of intangible, tangible fixed and other assets -7,668 -4,666

Sale of intangible, tangible fixed and other assets 334 379

Purchase of consolidated equity interests -825 -7,752

Interest received 416 312

Cash flow from investing activities -7,743 -11,727
      

Cash flow from from loans and financial liabilities 5,000 10,005

Repayment of loans and financial liabilities -5,020 -7,016

Interest paid -999 -966

Repayment of finance leases -1,938 -1,327

Increase in shareholding in consolidated equity interests 0 -7,880

Dividend payments to shareholders and non-controlling interests -5,990 -5,490

Cash flow from financing activities -8,947 -12,674
      

Increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents 6,717 -3,127
      

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash funds -141 -167

Change in cash from initial consolidation of fully consolidated companies 0 619

Cash funds at start of financial year 29,755 32,430

Cash funds at end of financial year (19) 36,331 29,755

      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity of All for One Steeb AG 
Financial Year from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018 

  

  Share of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 
(22) 

Total 
shareholders' 

equity 

in KEUR 
Issued share 
capital (20) 

Capital
 reserve 

(20)

Reserve 
from 

currency 
translation 

Retained
 earnings1 Total    

01.10.2017 14,946 11,228 550 42,639 69,363 147 69,510

Earnings after tax 0 0 0 14,031 14,031 -324 13,707

Other comprehensive income 0 0 -285 77 -208 0 -208

Total comprehensive income 0 0 -285 14,108 13,823 -324 13,499

Dividend distribution 0 0 0 -5,978 -5,978 0 -5,978

Distribution to non-controlling  
interests 0 0 0 0 0 -12 -12

Acquisition of a sudsidiary with  
non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transactions with owners  
of the company 0 0 0 -5,978 -5,978 -12 -5,990

30.09.2018 14,946 11,228 265 50,769 77,208 -189 77,019
                

01.10.2016 14,946 11,228 604 33,499 60,277 115 60,392

Earnings after tax 0 0 0 13,103 13,103 -18 13,085

Other comprehensive income 0 0 -54 1,517 1,463 0 1,463

Total comprehensive income 0 0 -54 14,620 14,566 -18 14,548

Dividend distribution 0 0 0 -5,480 -5,480 0 -5,480

Distribution to non-controlling  
interests 0 0 0 0 0 -11 -11

Acquisition of a sudsidiary with  
non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0 61 61

Transactions with owners  
of the company 0 0 0 -5,480 -5,480 50 -5,430

30.09.2017 14,946 11,228 550 42,639 69,363 147 69,510

1)   As at 30 September 2018, items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss are included in the amount of minus KEUR -1,068 (30 Sep 2017: KEUR -1,145). 

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements of All for One Steeb AG.  
Financial Year from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018.  
 
 

 General 

All for One Steeb AG is a public corporation with its headquarters 
at Gottlieb-Manz-Strasse 1, Filderstadt, Germany, and is a lead-
ing IT services and consulting provider and sought-after digital-
isation partner in the German-speaking midmarket. 
 
The financial year of All for One Steeb AG begins on 1 October 
and ends on 30 September of the following year. 
 
 

 Accounting 

The consolidated financial statements of All for One Steeb AG 
(hereafter called All for One Steeb, the company or the Group) 
as at 30 September 2018 are based on the company’s uniform 
accounting principles. The valuation, consolidation and classi-
fication principles were applied consistently by all the Group 
companies. The consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented in thousand euros (KEUR) rounded to the next thou-
sand.  
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), which are required to be applied in the European Union. 
All of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and International Accounting Standards (IAS) of the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee/Standing 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC/SIC) required for the prepara-
tion of the IFRS consolidated financial statements in this finan-
cial year were applied. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of All for One Steeb AG 
apply the cost method except for securities and first-time re-
ported assets and liabilities from business combinations at the 
time control was assumed. These assets and liabilities are re-
ported at their respective fair values. Expenses and income are 
allocated on an accrual basis. 

 New Accounting Standards 

Changes in Accounting Principles 

The following announcements issued by the International Ac-
counting Standards Board (IASB) and the. IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (IFRS IC) were adopted by the European Union (EU) 
and were applied for the first time in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements as at 30 September 2018: 
 
 IAS 7 »Disclosure Initiative« (Amendments) 
 IAS 12 »Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 

Losses« (Amendments) 
 
The application of these new announcements has not resulted 
in any impact on the earnings, assets and financial position of 
the consolidated financial statements of All for One Steeb AG. 
The first-time application of the amendments to IAS 7 did, how-
ever, lead to additional disclosures in the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. 
 
 
Additional New or Revised Standards and Interpretations 

The following announcements came into effect and were 
adopted by the European Union (EU) but were not yet manda-
tory for the consolidated financial statements of All for One 
Steeb AG for the year ended 30 September 2018. All for One 
Steeb AG will not voluntarily apply any of the following new or 
amended standards and interpretations prematurely: 
 
 IFRS 9 »Financial Instruments« 
 IFRS 15 »Revenue from Contracts with Customers«  
 IFRS 15 »Revenue from Contracts with Customers« (Clari-

fications)  
 IFRS 16 »Leases« 
 IFRIC 22 »Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Con-

sideration« 
 IFRIC 23 »Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments« 
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 IFRS 2 »Classification and Measurement of Share-Based 
Payment Transactions« (Amendments) 

 IFRS 4 »Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts« (Amendments)  

 IFRS 9 »Prepayment Features with Negative Compensa-
tion« (Amendments) 

 IAS 40 »Transfers of Investment Property« ( Amendments) 
 Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2014-2016 Cycle 
 
The following new announcements were not adopted by the EU: 
 
 IFRS 17 »Insurance Contracts« 
 IFRS 3 »Business Combinations« (Amendments) 
 IAS 1/IAS 8 »Definition of Materiality« (Amendments) 
 IAS 19 »Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 

(Amendments) 
 IAS 28 »Long-Term Interests in Associated and Joint Ven-

tures« (Amendments) 
 Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2015-2017 Cycle 
 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework 

in IFRS Standards 
 
Apart from the following announcements, All for One Steeb AG 
does not expect the first-time application of these amend-
ments and/or new regulations to have any material effect on 
the earnings, assets and financial position of its consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
IFRS 9 »Financial Instruments« is mandatory for reporting pe-
riods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Accordingly, All for 
One Steeb AG will be applying the new regulations for the first 
time in its financial year 2018/19. IFRS 9 is introducing new 
recognition and measurement regulations for financial instru-
ments and replaces the former regulations in IAS 39. The ef-
fects were examined in a Group-wide project focusing on the im-
plementation of the new standard. 
 
All for One Steeb AG expects the first-time application of IFRS 9 
from financial year 2018/19 onwards to have the following spe-
cific effects: 
 
 The new regulations governing the classification of finan-

cial assets will not result in any changes to measurement 
and disclosure. 

 By applying the new impairment model, the impairment of 
financial assets will increase marginally from 1 October 
2019, while the carrying amount of trade receivables will 
decrease marginally. In future, expected losses must be 
recognised as soon as the financial asset is recognised for 
the first time (»expected credit loss model«). Until now, 
IAS 39 specified that impairment was to be recognised 
when it was objectively indicated, e.g. an amount receiva-
ble that was already overdue (»incurred loss model«). 
Accordingly, under IAS 39, impairment was recognised at a 
later point in time compared to the new standard. As far as 
trade receivables are concerned, All for One Steeb AG uses 

the simplified approach and measures applicable impair-
ment on an ongoing basis relative to total maturity. 

 Since All for One Steeb AG currently does not apply the 
hedge accounting rules of IAS 39, the fundamental changes 
to hedge accounting will not produce any changes when 
moving from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The new accounting standard 
does, however, offer new options for designating future 
hedges as hedging relationships. 

 
Based on the current assessment of the management of All for 
One Steeb AG, neither the first-time nor the ongoing application 
of IFRS 9 will therefore have any material effect overall on the 
earnings, assets and financial position of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. Nevertheless, IFRS 9 could have material 
effects on the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations, depending on future agreements or 
transactions. It must be noted, in addition, that the first-time 
application of IFRS 9 will result in supplementary disclosure ob-
ligations in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments.  
 
The cumulative (not material) effect of the first-time applica-
tion will be recognised in equity as of 1 October 2018. In doing 
so, All for One Steeb AG will avail itself of the option not to adjust 
the comparison figures relating to prior reporting periods with 
regard to any changes in classification and measurement (in-
cluding impairment). 
 
IFRS 15 »Revenue from Contracts with Customers« is manda-
tory for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
Accordingly, All for One Steeb AG will be applying the new regu-
lations for the first time in its financial year 2018/19. IFRS 15 
replaces the former regulations governing revenue recognition 
(including IAS 18 and IAS 11) and defines a comprehensive 
framework specifying the amount and timing of revenue recog-
nition. The core of IFRS 15 is a standardised five-stage revenue 
recognition model that must be applied to all contracts with 
customers. After identifying the separate performance obliga-
tions in individual customer contracts, the next steps involve 
determining the transaction price for each customer contract 
and allocating the same to the previously separated perfor-
mance obligations. Following completion of the individual per-
formance obligations, revenue is recognised in the amount 
equivalent to the allocated transaction price in each case at the 
relevant time or over the relevant period. The effects were ex-
amined in a Group-wide project focusing on the implementation 
of the new standard. 
 
The Group provides cloud services and support as well as 
consulting and services. It also sells software licenses. Several 
services are provided to one customer under a standard con-
tract or on the basis of separate, individual contracts. 
 
All for One Steeb AG expects the first-time application of IFRS 15 
from the financial year 2018/19 onwards to have the following 
specific effects: 
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 Where services are agreed with a customer in separate, 
individual contracts in close temporal relation, these must 
be collated into a standard multi-component contract 
under IFRS 15 in future and not recognised individually, as 
has been the case so far. Irrespective of whether collation 
has been performed or not, the entire transaction price of a 
multi-component contract must in future be split among 
the individual performance obligations, based on relative 
individual sale prices. Previously, allocation was performed 
mainly on the basis of the contractually agreed market 
rates for the individual performance obligations. The man-
agement of All for One Steeb AG believes that the overall 
resulting effects on revenue recognition in respect of the 
customer contracts that are relevant at the time of the 
change are of only minor significance for the earnings, 
assets and financial position of the consolidated financial 
statements.  

 Revenue relating to the sale of software licenses will con-
tinue to be recognised at the time of software delivery 
(start of transfer of use). Revenue from cloud services and 
support, and consulting and services will continue to be 
recognised largely over a certain period in line with provi-
sion of the service. 

 At present, the cost of contract acquisition is not capital-
ised in the consolidated financial statements of All for One 
Steeb AG. In future, these costs must be capitalised under 
IFRS 15 and written off parallel to the transfer of right of dis-
posal of the underlying goods and services to the customer. 
All for One Steeb AG is choosing to avail itself of the option 
of immediately recognising an expense in cases where the 
period of amortisation would be less than one year. Overall 
therefore, the sales commission owing on software li-
censes, for example, will generally not be capitalised. In the 
case of sales commission subject to mandatory capitalisa-
tion that was paid prior to 1 October 2018 for customer con-
tracts that had not been fulfilled at the time, All for One 
Steeb AG will recognise assets in the opening balance sheet 
as of 1 October 2018. As things stand at present, the value 
of these assets is less than EUR 1 million. 

 In its retail business with software licenses, All for One 
Steeb AG will continue to mostly act as principal in future 
and to recognise the gross amounts as revenues. In its 
cloud services business, the Group also acts as agent and 
recognises the net amount of the relevant brokerage com-
mission. New business models could result in higher bro-
kerage commission volumes for All for One Steeb AG in fu-
ture.  

 Customers have the option of acquiring additional products 
and services in both software licenses and consulting and 
services businesses. As the vast majority of them do not 
grant any material rights to customers, there is no need to 
account for such options as separate performance obliga-
tions. 

 IFRS 15 also results in changes to the recognition of items 
on the balance sheet. Under IFRS 15, receivables are recog-

nised when goods or services have been provided or ad-
vance payments are due from customers. Legal entitle-
ments to consideration payable by customers may only be 
recognised as trade receivables if the legal entitlement is 
unconditional. Accordingly, the balances of trade receiva-
bles and trade payables recognised as assets and liabilities 
with regard to POC contracts will be recognised as contract 
assets and contract liabilities, respectively, in future. 

 
Based on the current assessment of the management of All for 
One Steeb AG, neither the first-time nor the ongoing application 
of IFRS 15 will therefore have any material effect overall on the 
earnings, assets and financial position of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. Nevertheless, there can be no guarantee 
that IFRS 15 will not have material effects on the presentation 
of the earnings, assets and financial position, depending on 
future agreements or transactions. It must be noted, in addi-
tion, that the first-time application of IFRS 15 will result in sup-
plementary disclosure obligations in the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.  
 
All for One Steeb AG will use the modified retrospective transfer 
method when applying IFRS 15 for the first time. The cumula-
tive (not material) effect of the first-time application will be rec-
ognised in equity as of 1 October 2018. All for One Steeb AG will 
avail itself of the option of only applying the new standard to 
contracts whose performance was still outstanding as of 1 Oc-
tober 2018. Comparison figures for prior-year periods will not 
be adjusted. 
 
IFRS 16 »Leases« is mandatory for reporting periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2019. The option of earlier applica-
tion is not being exercised. Accordingly, All for One Steeb AG will 
be applying the new regulations for the first time in its financial 
year 2019/20. IFRS 16 replaces the former regulations govern-
ing lease accounting (including IAS 17 and IFRIC 4) and intro-
duces a standardised accounting model for recognising all 
leases in the lessee's balance sheet ('right-of-use model'). Ac-
cordingly, the previous distinction between finance and oper-
ating leases has been eliminated for lessees. In future, lessees 
must recognise assets in their balance sheets for the acquired 
rights of use and corresponding liabilities for the underlying 
payment obligations. Exceptions only exist in respect of short-
term and low-value leases. By contrast, the distinction be-
tween finance and operating leases as defined in IAS 17 re-
mains applicable in the future under IFRS 16. As such, the bal-
ance sheet accounting of the lessor is not affected. In its busi-
ness transactions, All for One Steeb AG acts as both lessee and 
lessor.  
 
The effects were examined in a Group-wide project focusing on 
the implementation of the new standard. Given the large num-
ber and complexity of the relevant transactions, it is not cur-
rently possible to reliably determine the full quantitative ef-
fects on the net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions. 
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All for One Steeb AG expects the first-time application of IFRS 16 
from the financial year 2019/20 onwards to have the following 
specific effects where the Group acts as lessee: 
 
 The application of the right-of-use model will result in a not 

inconsiderable increase in the balance sheet total from the 
time of first application due to the capitalisation of the 
rights of use and recognition of the lease liabilities. Accord-
ingly, the associated decrease in the equity ratio is ex-
pected to be not inconsiderable. 

 In future, amortisation and interest expenses will be recog-
nised in the income statement instead of lease expenses. 
This will result in a not inconsiderable increase in EBITDA. 

 In the cash flow statement, the portion of lease instalments 
representing the repayment on former operating leases 
will, in future, reduce the cash flow from financing activities 
and no longer the cash flow from operations. By the same 
token, the interest portion of the lease instalments will be 
recognised in cash flow from financing activities in future. 

 
Based on the current assessment of the management, the con-
solidated financial statements of All for One Steeb AG will there-
fore change considerably from the time of first application, es-
pecially the results of operations, cash flow from operations, 
balance sheet total, and presentation of the net assets and fi-
nancial position. Added to which, the first-time application of 
IFRS 16 will lead to additional disclosures in the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The aim is to allow balance 
sheet readers to assess the effects of existing lease agree-
ments on the Group. 
 
All for One Steeb AG will use the modified retrospective transfer 
method when applying IFRS 16 for the first time, i.e. will recog-
nise the rights of use and lease liabilities for the first time on 
1 October 2018. Cumulative effects from the change will be 
recognised in equity without affecting profit or loss. 
 
 

 Definition of the Operating Segments  

The individual Group companies and entities that form the 
Group’s operating segments are what determine the organisa-
tion and the management of the Group. Two segments existed 
in the financial year: CORE and LOB. The CORE segment com-
prises ERP and collaboration solutions for companies' core 
business processes. The LOB segment ('Lines of Business') in-
cludes our business with IT solutions for departments such as 
sales and marketing, or human resources, which are increas-
ingly being sourced in the cloud. 
 
 

 Consolidation Principles 

All for One Steeb AG and all subsidiaries over which the com-
pany exercises legal or actual control are included in the 
company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Control is assumed to be exercised when the respective parent 
has the power to govern the potential subsidiary on the basis 
of voting or other rights, participates in positive or negative 
variable returns of the subsidiary, and can influence these 
returns through its power to govern. 
 
The financial statements of the companies to be included in the 
consolidated financial statements are included in the consol-
idated financial statements from the beginning of the time 
exercise of control was possible until the end of the time of 
exercise of control was possible. 
 
The purchase method and the full goodwill method are used in 
the capital consolidation of the subsidiaries. At the time of the 
acquisition the cost of the acquisition is offset against its reval-
ued equity. The subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are measured 
at fair value as part of the revaluation. Deferred taxes are recog-
nised on hidden reserves and liabilities disclosed as part of the 
initial consolidation to the extent that this realisation is not 
also applicable for tax purposes. Whereas any remaining posi-
tive difference between the cost of an acquisition and the net 
assets measured at fair value is recognised as goodwill, a neg-
ative difference is reported as income from the acquisition after 
again identifying all of the assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed. 
 
Whereas the measurement of the non-controlling interests’ 
goodwill using the purchase method is based on the proportion-
ate share of the revalued net assets, the full goodwill method 
uses fair value. In subsequent periods, any discovered hidden 
reserves and liabilities will be adjusted, amortised or elimi-
nated in accordance with how the corresponding asset or liabil-
ity is to be treated. 
 
Intergroup revenues, expenses and income, as well as all 
receivables and liabilities among the consolidated companies, 
were eliminated. The effects on income tax were taken into 
account for those consolidation transactions treated as in-
come and deferred taxes were recognised. Forward contracts 
for the purchase of additional shareholdings in existing subsid-
iaries are accounted for using the anticipated acquisition 
method, which means that no non-controlling interests are rec-
ognised. 
 
The effects that the acquisition of former non-controlling inter-
ests has on already fully consolidated companies are reported 
under equity. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 11, All for One Steeb AG accounts for its 
own assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as a joint opera-
tor. 
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 Scope of the Consolidation and Changes in 
Group Structure 

In addition to All for One Steeb AG, the consolidated financial 
statements include all domestic and foreign companies in 
which the company as at 30 September 2018 directly or indi-
rectly held a majority of the voting rights or exercised control 
on the basis of other rights in terms of IFRS 10. 
 
In addition to All for One Steeb AG, the following companies are 
included in the company’s consolidated financial statements 
as at 30 September 2018: 
 

Company 
Direct 

share in % 
Indirect 

share in %

Process Partner AG,  
St. Gallen/Switzerland 100.0  

All for One Steeb GmbH, Vienna/Austria 100.0  

AC Automation Center Sàrl,  
Luxemburg/Luxemburg  
(10% of which is indirect) 100.0  

AC Automation Center SA/NV, 
Zaventem/Belgium 100.0  

All for One Steeb Yazılım Servisleri LTD, 
Istanbul/Turkey 100.0  

KWP INSIDE HR GmbH, 
Heilbronn/Germany 100.0  

    KWP Austria GmbH, Vienna/Austria   100.0

    KWP France S.à.r.l., Entzheim/France   100.0

    KWP Czech s.r.o.,  
    Prague/Czech Republic   100.0

    KWP Professional Services GmbH,  
    Hamburg/Germany   100.0

avantum consult AG,  
Düsseldorf/Germany 100.0  

ALLFOYE Managementberatung GmbH, 
Düsseldorf/Germany 100.0  

OSC AG, Lübeck/Germany 100.0  

    OSC Smart Integration GmbH,  
    Hamburg/Germany   100.0

    OSC Business Xpert GmbH,  
    Burgdorf/Germany   51.0

Grandconsult GmbH, 
Filderstadt/Germany 100.0  

WEBMAXX GmbH, Munich/Germany 73.7  

B4B Solutions GmbH, Graz/Austria 70.0  

    B4B Solutions GmbH,  
    Ratingen/Germany   70.0
    

 
The scope of the consolidation remained unchanged and com-
prised ten domestic and nine foreign companies in the report-
ing year.  
 

Transactions and Changes in the Scope of the Consolidation 

B4B Group 

The acquisition of the B4B Group in the previous year did not 
materially influence the earnings, assets and financial position 
of the Group. 
 
inside Unternehmensberatung GmbH 

We already reported in detail within the Annual Report 2016/17 
about All for One Steeb AG having acquired all the shareholdings 
of inside Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Oldenburg, with an 
effective date of 1 April 2017 (see Annual Report 2016/17, 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, section F, 
Scope of the Consolidation and Changes in Group Structure, 
page 55 ff.). inside Unternehmensberatung GmbH has been 
included by way of full consolidation within the Group financial 
accounting and reporting of All for One Steeb AG since that date. 
A preliminary allocation of the fair value acquisition costs of the 
acquired assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
immediately prior to the business combination was under-
taken at the acquisition date. After the final verification was 
made in the reporting period, this purchase price allocation is 
as follows: 
 

inside Unternehmens- 
beratung GmbH 
in KEUR 

Carrying 
amount 

Adjust- 
ments to  
fair value 

Opening 
carrying 

value

Goodwill 0 3,505 3,505

Other intangible assets 7 5,231 5,238

Tangible fixed assets 258   258

Financial assets 144   144
Trade accounts 
receivable  878   878
Current income tax 
assets 6   6

Other assets 118   118
Cash and cash 
equivalents 599   599

Total assets 2,010 8,736 10,746

Provisions 18   18

Provisions for income tax 491   491

Financial liabilities 118   118

Deferred tax liabilities 11 1,632 1,643

Trade accounts payable 149   149

Other liabilities 896   896

Total liabilities 1,683 1,632 3,315
        

Net assets 327 7,104 7,431

Purchase price     7,431

Assumed cash and cash 
equivalents     599

Net purchase price     6,832
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The opening carrying value of the trade accounts receivable 
comprises the following:  
 

inside Unternehmensberatung GmbH 
in KEUR  

Gross receivables 878

Value adjustments 0

Fair value 878
  

 
After final verification of what to date had been preliminary 
carrying amounts, the identifiable intangible assets assumed 
through the acquisition are shown as follows: 
 

Other intangible assets  
in KEUR 

Purchase 
price 

Estimated 
useful life

Months

Customer base 4,000 36 – 144

Orders on hand 200 6

Brand name 1,031 unlimited

  5,231   
    

 
The goodwill of EUR 3.5 million consists in particular of intangi-
ble assets that can neither be identified nor recognised sepa-
rately as an asset other than as goodwill, and include »human 
capital«, such as the consultants’ qualifications and expertise. 
 
Following on from the purchase price allocation classified as 
provisional in the Annual Report 2016/17 (see Annual Report 
2016/17, Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, sec-
tion F, Scope of the Consolidation and Changes in Group Struc-
ture, page 55 ff.), goodwill has now been reduced by EUR 0.9 
million after the final review of the recognised value.   
 
Following the final review of the value recognised for the cus-
tomer base, the figure has been raised by EUR 1.2 million and 
the economic life extended. The values recognised for orders in 
hand and the brand name have only been increased slightly. 
The increases in value and adjustment to economic life result-
ed in the period under review in retrospective amortisation of 
EUR 0.1 million in total on intangible assets. 
 
This transaction is a business combination in accordance with 
IFRS 3. In September 2017, the acquired company was merged 
into KWP INSIDE HR GmbH, Heilbronn, retroactively to 1 April 
2017. The purchase price, less acquired cash, for the acquisi-
tion was EUR 6.8 million. Fixed purchase price components of 
EUR 5.2 million have already been paid in cash from on-hand 
liquidity in the financial year 2016/17. Furthermore, the total 
purchase price includes additional fixed purchase price instal-
ments of EUR 1.5 million, which are due payable in three 
tranches during the period of April 2017 to September 2019, as 
well as earnout components measured at EUR 0.7 million and 
whose amounts depend on the KWP INSIDE Group’s business 
performance during the period of April 2017 to March 2020. 

There is no provision for an upper limit. The earnout compo-
nents are calculated and due for payment each year. A discount 
of EUR 0.3 million for the future purchase price installments 
and the earnout components was recognised at the acquisition 
date.  
 
For all additional information regarding this transaction, please 
see the Annual Report 2016/17, Notes to the Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements, section F, Scope of the Consolidation and 
Changes in Group Structure, page 55 ff. 
 
Grandconsult GmbH 

In November 2017, All for One Steeb AG took over an additional 
25.1% of the shareholdings in Grandconsult GmbH, Filderstadt, 
as part of a call option from the 2015 share purchase agree-
ment, and consequently now holds 100% of the shares in the 
company.  
 
Companies Using the Exemption pursuant to §264, Section 3 
»Handelsgesetzbuch«  

Pursuant to §264, section 3 »Handelsgesetzbuch«, the com-
panies KWP INSIDE HR GmbH, Heilbronn, avantum consult AG, 
Düsseldorf, OSC AG, Lübeck, are exempt from the obligation to 
prepare, have audited, and disclose annual financial state-
ments and a management report under commercial law accord-
ing to regulations applicable to corporations. 
 
 

 Foreign Currency Translation 

The items recognised in the financial statements of the individ-
ual companies within the Group are valued on the basis of the 
respective functional currency. The consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in the euro currency. All for One 
Steeb’s reporting currency and functional currency is the euro.  
 
Transactions made in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the prevailing rate of exchange on the 
date of the transaction. Foreign-currency monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated at the exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date. Exchange differences are recognised in the income 
statement under other operating expenses. Non-monetary as-
sets and liabilities, which were valued at historical cost in a for-
eign currency, are translated at the exchange rate on the day 
of the business transaction. 
 
The translation of the financial statements of the included com-
panies, whose functional currency differs from the Group’s re-
porting currency, is made as follows: The assets and liabilities 
are translated at the period-end exchange rate, equity at his-
torical rates and the expenses and income at the average an-
nual exchange rate. The resulting exchange differences are rec-
ognised as equity not affecting net income.  
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The most important changes in exchange rates in relation to 
the euro were as follows: 
 

  Year-end rate Average exchange rate 

  
30.09. 

2018 
30.09. 

2017 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

CHF 1.1316 1.1457 1.1615 1.0909

CZK 25.7310 25.9810 25.5899 26.6722

TRY 6.9650 4.2013 5.2487 3.8868

Source: reference euro exchange rates from the European Central Bank 
published monthly by the Deutsche Bundesbank 

 
 

 Accounting  and Valuation Principles 

The financial statements of All for One Steeb AG and its domes-
tic and foreign subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with 
IFRS 10.19 using uniform accounting and valuation principles. 
 
Assumptions and Estimates 

Assumptions and estimates were made when preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, which affected the disclo-
sure and amounts of the reported assets, debts, income, ex-
penses and contingent liabilities. In some cases, the actual 
amounts may vary from the assumptions and estimates that 
were made. Changes will be recognised in the income state-
ment at the time more accurate information becomes avail-
able.  
 
In this regard, particular note should be made of the reporting 
and valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets 
(note 11), trade accounts receivable (note 17), provisions 
(note 23), current and deferred (income) tax assets and liabili-
ties (notes 14, 15 and 25). 
 
Recognition of Revenues and Expenses 

Sales revenues and other operating income are credited to the 
income statement at the time the product is delivered to, or the 
service is rendered for, the customer. Sales revenues are 
reported without value-added tax and take into consideration 
sales adjustments such as credit notes, commercial discounts 
and similar deductions.  
 
Revenues from software maintenance, service and cloud 
agreements, as well as from managed services, are recognised 
on an accrual basis when the relevant service is provided. Reve-
nues from the sale of licenses are considered realised when the 
customer acquires actual power of disposition over the soft-
ware. 
 
Consulting and training revenues are generated on the basis of 
individual service agreements and realised as the services are 
performed.  
 

In accordance with IAS 18 and in conjunction with IAS 11, reve-
nues from the rendering of long-term construction contracts 
(contracts for work) are recognised with reference to their 
stage of completion using the percentage of completion meth-
od of accounting. The stage of completion is determined on the 
basis of the hours of work already performed in relation to the 
estimated total number of hours for the respective project. The 
amount of revenue to be recognised on the reporting date is 
determined by applying this result (as a percentage) to the 
total revenues. Determining the stage of completion is a matter 
of judgement and subject to estimation uncertainty.  
 
Operating costs are recognised in the income statement at the 
time use is made of the rendered service, or at the time of its 
causation, while interest income and expenses are recognised 
on an accrual basis. Dividends are recognised at the time they 
are distributed. 
 
Financial Result 

Valuation differences from adjustments of foreign currency ex-
change rates, which arise on financial assets and liabilities 
including internal Group financial relationships, are reported in 
the financial result.  
 
In addition to interest income from loans granted and entitle-
ments from finance leases, other income directly related to the 
financing or the investment in financial assets is also reported 
under financial income. 
 
In addition to interest expenses from loans and finance lease 
obligations, other expenses directly related to the financing or 
the investment in financial assets are also reported under fi-
nancial expenses, provided these are not required to be re-
ported within equity. Interest expenses are recognised in the 
income statement using the effective-interest method. Borrow-
ing costs are not capitalised.  
 
Government Grants  

These government grants relate to assets. In accordance with 
IAS 20, they are only recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that any conditions attached to the grants will be 
complied with and that the grants will be awarded. 
 
Earnings per Share 

Earnings per share are determined on the basis of dividing the 
annual net earnings by the average number of shares out-
standing (issued shares less treasury stock). There are no 
effects from dilution. 
 
Goodwill 

Goodwill arises from the application of the purchase method 
and the full goodwill method to business combinations, pro-
vided the cost exceeds the fair value of the net assets of the 
purchased subsidiary on the acquisition date. 
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Other Intangible Assets 

In accordance with IAS 38, purchased and self-created intangi-
ble assets are capitalised at cost or fair value, provided that it 
is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the as-
sets will flow to the company and that the cost of the assets 
can be measured reliably. Regular straight-line amortisation is 
made over the projected useful lives of the assets, provided 
that their useful lives can be determined with sufficient accu-
racy. Please see note 11, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
for information about the useful life of assets. 
 
Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life are tested for impairment at least once a year in accordance 
with IAS 36. Each impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
the income statement. All other intangible assets are tested for 
impairment as circumstances dictate. For impairment testing, 
assets are allocated where necessary to the smallest iden-
tifiable group of assets, or cash-generating unit, which gener-
ates cash flows that can be measured. An impairment loss is 
recognised when the cash-generating unit’s carrying amount is 
greater than the recoverable amount. This is determined by the 
higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use as 
measured using the discounted cash flow method. Impairment 
testing is based on assumptions that are a matter of judge-
ment. The material assumptions relate to sales planning and 
discount rates. 
 
Tangible Fixed Assets 

Tangible fixed assets are reported at cost less regular straight-
line depreciation in accordance with IAS 16. 
 
Regular depreciation is made across the projected economic 
life of the assets within the Group, which are as follows: 
 

  Years

Leasehold improvements 2 – 15

IT systems 3 – 6

Operating and office equipment 4 – 13
  

 
An impairment loss is charged against earnings in accordance 
with IAS 36 in the event that the carrying amount is greater 
than the estimated recoverable amount. Any income or loss 
generated from the disposal of tangible fixed assets is reported 
in the income statement. 
 
Leasing Arrangements 

Leased assets under IAS 17, which are leased under terms by 
which the Group assumes all substantial risks and benefits in-
cident to ownership from an economic perspective, are classi-
fied as finance leases and capitalised as non-current assets at 
the time of acquisition. At the same time, financial liabilities of 

the corresponding amount are recognised. Recognition is made 
at the lower of the fair value at the inception of the lease or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The deprecia-
tion methods and useful lives should be consistent with those 
for other comparable purchased assets. The interest compo-
nent of lease payments is recognised in the interest result. 
 
Lease payments are recognised in full as an expense in the 
case of operating leases in which beneficial ownership remains 
with the lessee. 
 
Financial Assets 

Financial assets in terms of IAS 39, which are of relevance for 
All for One Steeb, are classified as follows:  
 
 Held-to-maturity financial investments 
 Receivables and loans  
 Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
With the exception of receivables and loans, financial assets 
with determinable payments and fixed terms, which the com-
pany can and wishes to hold to maturity, are classified as held-
to-maturity financial investments. These financial investments 
with a maturity of more than twelve months after the balance 
sheet date are reported as non-current assets, while all others 
are reported as current assets. In particular, the former in-
cludes entitlements from finance leases as well as other as-
sets. Their value is stated at nominal value or at the original 
cost including transaction costs less cumulative value adjust-
ments.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits 
in banks. Changes in fair values are recognised in the financial 
result. Trade accounts receivable and other receivables are re-
ported at amortised cost. Trade accounts receivable are re-
ported less value adjustments. Accounts receivable exposed to 
an increased risk of default are evaluated individually and writ-
ten down as needed. No value adjustments were made to any 
of the other financial assets. Non-current construction con-
tracts are valued using the percentage of completion method 
and reported under trade accounts receivable, provided it is 
probable that payment will be made to the Group. Included 
under available-for-sale financial assets are those assets that 
cannot be allocated to the categories above. Gains and losses 
from the evaluation of the fair value are recognised directly in 
equity. Cumulative profit or losses that were previously recog-
nised in equity are reported in the income statement at the 
time the financial investments are cancelled. 
 
Non-Controlling Interests 

As at the acquisition date, the non-controlling interests meas-
ured using the purchase method are recognised with the pro-
portionate share of revalued net assets of the subsidiary, while 
the non-controlling interests measured using the full goodwill 
method are recognised at the proportionate share of fair value 
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of the subsidiary. An adjustment of non-controlling interests 
will be made in subsequent periods taking into consideration 
current profits and losses, distributions to non-controlling in-
terests and currency differences. Non-controlling interests are 
reported as equity in the Group balance sheet. 
 
Inventories 

Inventories of merchandise (hardware and software held for 
sale) are valued at average cost or their potentially lower net 
realisable sale value. An appropriate value adjustment will be 
made for any other impairment. 
 
Provisions 

Provisions are recognised with respect to the cause or amount 
of uncertain obligations, provided there exists a legal or con-
structive obligation stemming from an underlying causal event 
occurring prior to the balance sheet date, and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
necessary in order to fulfill the obligation. Long-term provisions 
with a remaining term of more than one year are reported at 
their discounted settlement amount on the balance sheet date. 
 
Employee Benefit Obligations 

All for One Steeb’s active and former employees receive bene-
fits and pensions based on the various local statutory em-
ployee benefit plans. In addition to defined contribution plans, 
there are also defined benefit plans whose value is determined 
using the projected unit credit method stipulated in IAS 19. The 
employer contributions for the respective period are recog-
nised in the income statement for all defined contribution 
plans. The full amount of the post-employment benefit liabili-
ties is presented in the balance sheet as at the respective 
reporting date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised di-
rectly in other comprehensive income in the periods in which 
they occur, with deferred taxes being taken into account.  
 
Liabilities 

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities are reported at 
their nominal value, amortised cost or at fair value. 
 
Financial Liabilities 

The financial liabilities include interest-bearing liabilities from 
loans and from finance lease transactions as well as short-term 
liabilities to banks. These are reported at their nominal value or 
amortised cost. 
 
Taxes 

Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of earnings 
before taxes taking into account the respective country-spe-
cific regulations governing the computation of taxable income. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the differences 
between the amounts stated for assets and liabilities in the tax 
balance sheet and the IFRS consolidated financial statements, 
provided such differences are not permanent. The Group uses 
the liability method, according to which deferred tax assets or 
liabilities can be determined based on the legal principles that 
are either valid or actually in force on the balance sheet date. In 
this case the tax rates at the time of the projected tax realisa-
tion are applied. Deferred tax assets also result from accumu-
lated tax losses that can be carried forward (tax loss carry for-
wards), which can be offset against subsequent taxable earn-
ings. 
 
Deferred tax assets on temporary differences and on tax losses 
brought forward are only recognised in an amount correspond-
ing to the probability that in the foreseeable future there will be 
sufficient taxable income available and that the Group will de-
rive a benefit from applying them to it. The foreseeable future is 
principally considered to be the next three financial years.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted and are 
reported in the balance sheet as non-current assets and liabili-
ties. 
 
Other taxes, such as transaction taxes or taxes on wealth and 
capital, are shown as operating expenses. 
 
Personnel Figures 

Unless otherwise indicated, the personnel figures refer to the 
number of individuals employed. Part-time positions are not 
included on a pro rata basis.  
 
Segment Reporting 

All for One Steeb AG prepares its segment reporting according 
to IFRS 8 »Operating Segments«. Segment reporting reflects 
the Group’s internal management and reporting approach on 
the basis of the individual companies and entities within the 
Group that form the Group segments. The segment reporting is 
based on the same disclosure and measurement policies as for 
the consolidated financial statements. Transfer pricing be-
tween the segments (intersegment sales) is made at terms 
equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.  
 
Cash Flow Statement 

The cash flow statement depicts an analysis of the changes in 
cash and cash equivalents. In accordance with IAS 7, the cash 
flow statement differentiates between cash flows from operat-
ing activities, investing activities and financing activities. The 
operating cash flow is derived from the Group balance sheet 
and income statement using the indirect method. Influences 
from changes in the scope of the consolidation, effects from 
the application of IFRS 5, as well as any currency-related valu-
ation differences on the cash and cash equivalents, are re-
ported separately. 
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Contingent Liabilities 

Potential obligations for which the outflow of resources is con-
sidered improbable are not reported in the balance sheet and 
their potential projected financial effects (exposure) are re-
ported as contingent liabilities.  
 
 
 Financial Risk Factors 

Financial Risks 

Financial risk management is handled according to the prin-
ciples established by the company. These govern the com-
pany’s protection against currency, interest and credit risks, 
cash management and short-term and long-term financing. The 
goal is to reduce financial risks while weighing the hedging 
costs against the risks being taken. Derivative financial instru-
ments to hedge the mainstream business may be used when 
deemed appropriate. In order to minimise the counterparty 
credit risk, transactions will only be made with first-class coun-
terparts.  
 
Currency Risks 

Fluctuations in currency rates have an impact on the presen-
tation of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements that are prepared in euros, insofar as assets and 
liabilities are denominated in currencies other than the euro. 
This is why All for One Steeb strives to finance its assets in the 
same currency. Revenue recognition within the individual com-
panies is made predominantly in the same currency as that 
used for expenses. To the extent deemed necessary, remaining 
risks involved in foreign-currency accounting are covered using 
currency transactions (futures, options). Foreign currency 
hedges are not being used at the present time.  
 
Changes in Interest Rate Risks 

There will be exposure to changes in interest rates as long as 
there are long-term, interest-bearing liabilities with variable in-
terest rates. These risks are minimised by interest hedges and 
the continuous monitoring of global interest-rate policies. In-
terest hedges are not being used at this time. 
 
Because currently only fixed-rate long-term liabilities from the 
issuance of promissory notes exist, any potential change in in-
terest rates of +/- 100 basis points would have no impact on the 
net Group earnings before taxes. 
 

Liquidity Risks 

All for One Steeb places the utmost importance on maintaining 
solvency at all times. Each company maintains an adequate 
amount of cash. The lead operating company All for One Steeb 
AG also has liquidity reserves and unused operational funding 
lines of credit. 
 
In the case of the remaining All for One Steeb AG promissory 
notes in an amount of EUR 23.5 million, the holders of these 
promissory notes are authorised to raise the interest margin or, 
as applicable, to call the promissory notes due immediately 
should certain events occur on the basis of the covenants. 
These events primarily involve adhering to the agreed targets 
for the equity ratio and the relationship between total net debt 
and EBITDA. The creditors will also be authorised to cancel their 
loan commitments and call a total amount of EUR 23.5 million 
due immediately should certain changes be made in the All for 
One Steeb shareholder structure (change of control). These 
covenants had been complied with in full as at the balance 
sheet date. Because the management board continuously 
monitors compliance with the terms and conditions of the 
promissory notes, the risks resulting from such covenants are 
considered to be minor. 
 
Default Risks 

Default risks arise primarily from affording clients time to make 
payments and from the counterparty risk involved in financial 
transactions. The default risks from providing services and 
products are addressed in part through commercial credit in-
surance, credit checks on customers, monitoring of accounts 
receivable and the implementation of regular reminder proce-
dures. 
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Explanatory Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 

 Income Statement 

The income statement was prepared according to the aggre-
gate cost method. 
 

 Sales Revenues 

A new classification of sales revenues was introduced during 
the current reporting period: 
 
 Cloud services and support 
 Software licenses 
 Software support 
 Consulting and services 
 
This new classification has replaced the former distinction be-
tween consulting, outsourcing and cloud services (incl. soft-
ware maintenance), software licenses, and hardware and other 
revenues. Prior-year figures have been adjusted to reflect the 
new classification. 
 
Sales revenues are classified as follows: 
 

Sales by type  
in KEUR 

10/2017 –  
09/2018 

10/2016 – 
09/2017

Cloud services and support 59,579 46,678

Software licenses 43,384 38,640

Software support 95,965 89,392

Consulting and services  133,429 125,811

Total 332,357 300,521

 
 

Sales by country1 
in KEUR 

10/2017 – 
09/2018 

10/2016 – 
09/2017

Germany 284,506 257,174

Austria 18,009 15,085

Switzerland 14,604 15,504

Luxemburg 8,652 8,069

Italy 2,691 566

Other countries2 3,895 4,123

Total 332,357 300,521

1)  based on domicile of the customer     
2)  each with sales of less than EUR 1 million 

 

Sales revenues include revenues of KEUR 26,814 (prior year: 
KEUR 26,652) determined by using the percentage of com-
pletion method. The cumulative expenses for ongoing projects 
valued using the percentage of completion method totalled 
KEUR 51,791 (prior year: KEUR 49,856) and the cumulative 
gains were KEUR 8,878 (prior year: KEUR 6,218). 
 

 Other Operating Income 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Marketing support 1,766 973

Adjustments to variable purchase  
price obligations 686 0

Investment tax credits  
(public authorities) 405 0

Income from co-payments from 
employees 369 319

Income from disposal of assets 286 132

Income from currency differences 269 110

Reversal of provisions and employee 
benefit obligations 204 260

Income from cost allocation to  
partner networks 93 98

Other income 910 1,080

Total 4,988 2,972
      

 
 Cost of Materials and Purchased Services 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Purchased services 86,248 79,010

Cost of materials 33,673 30,232

Total 119,921 109,242
    

 
Purchased services mainly include expenses for SAP mainte-
nance contracts. The cost of materials is primarily a result of 
the purchase of SAP software licensing rights and the procure-
ment of hardware for customer projects.  
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 Personnel Expenses 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Salaries and wages 119,235 106,708

Social security contributions 18,306 15,864

Defined contribution plan expenses 870 882

Defined benefit plan expenses 372 552

Other personnel expenses 1,065 162

Total 139,848 124,168

 
The average number of people (by headcount) employed in the 
financial year 2017/18 was 1,602 (prior year: 1,407), of whom 
1.164 were in cloud and consulting (prior year: 1,023 employ-
ees), 167 in sales and marketing (prior year: 140 employees), 
162 in administration and management (prior year: 145 em-
ployees), 70 in marginal employment/on parental leave/on ex-
tended sick leave (prior year: 59 employees) and 39 appren-
tices and trainees (prior year: 40 employees).  
 
The following figures include apprentices and trainees: 
 

Average personnel capacity  
by function 

10/2017 – 
09/2018 

10/2016 – 
09/2017

Cloud and consulting   1,140 1,001

Sales and marketing 153 129

Administration and management 143 132

Total 1,436 1,262

 

 
Personnel capacity by country  
at financial year-end  

30.09. 
2018 

30.09.
2017

Germany 1,341 1,186

Austria 56 50

Switzerland 34 27

Other countries 65 59

Total 1,496 1,322

 
 Employee Benefit Obligations 

There are both defined benefit and defined contribution plans 
for retirement, disability and survivor benefits. The amount of 
the benefit obligations for the defined benefit plans is calcu-
lated primarily on the basis of the individual employee’s length 
of employment and compensation. There also exists a domes-
tic employee-funded retirement benefits plan in the form of a 
direct benefit commitment that is secured by a congruent and 
pledged reinsurance programme. Although the risk that All for 
One Steeb may be liable for a return that cannot be met by the 
insurance company is considered very small, this employee-
funded retirement benefits plan is not required to be classified 
as a defined benefit plan under IFRS. All plans are exposed to 
those risks that are customary for defined benefits, particularly 
the risks associated with changes in discount rates.  
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The following information provides an overview of the financial 
situation of the defined benefit plans as at 30 September 2018 
and 2017: 

 

 

in KEUR Defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of  
plan assets 

Net liabilities/assets from 
defined benefit plans 

  
10/2017 – 

09/2018
10/2016 – 

09/2017
10/2017 – 

09/2018
10/2016 – 

09/2017 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Balance as at 1 October 13,990 17,130 -11,522 -12,763 2,468 4,367

Recognised in profit and loss         

Current service cost 372 552 0 0 372 552

Past service cost 0 -75 0 0 0 -75

Interest expense/income 152 92 -132 -78 20 14

  524 569 -132 -78 392 491

Recognised in other  
comprehensive income         

Loss/profit from revaluations         

   Actuarial loss/gains from:         

      demographic assumptions 0 -409 0 0 0 -409

      financial assumptions -400 -1,148 191 219 -209 -929

      experience-based adjustments 16 -421 0 0 16 -421

   Return on plan assets 0 0 42 -34 42 -34

Foreign currency differences 41 -489 -64 295 -23 -194

  -343 -2,467 169 480 -174 -1,987

Other items         

Company contributions -262 -227 27 -23 -235 -250

Payments made -324 -1,015 319 862 -5 -153

  -586 -1,242 346 839 -240 -403

Balance as at 30 September 13,585 13,990 -11,139 -11,522 2,446 2,468
              

Of which are attributable to:         

Germany 6,265 6,512 -5,740 -5,983 525 529

Switzerland 7,320 7,478 -5,399 -5,539 1,921 1,939

  13,585 13,990 -11,139 -11,522 2,446 2,468

 



Company    I    Group Management Report    I    Consolidated Financial Statements    I    Notes    I    Additional Information 

 Annual Report All for One Steeb AG 65 

The assumptions for the actuarial valuations differ for each in-
dividual plan, since they were made by taking into considera-
tion the specific circumstances of the asset investment strat-
egy and the personnel structure of the affiliated companies. 
The table below lists the key plan figures that are relevant for 
the calculation, the weighted average assumptions on which 
the calculation is based, and the weighted average assump-
tions on which the actuarial calculations relating to the defined 
benefit pension plans are based. Calculation of the obligations 
in Germany was derived from the 2005G mortality tables 
issued by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck, which served as the bio-
metric basis for computation. The new 2018G mortality tables 
issued by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck were published on 20 July 
2018. For reasons of immateriality, they were not yet applied 
to the consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 
2018. In Switzerland, the BVG 2015 generation tables are used 
as the biometric basis for calculating the obligations. 
 

  
30.09.

2018
30.09.

2017

Number of plans 7 6

   of which with assets set aside 1 1

   of which with no assets set aside 5 4

Number of individuals participating  
in the plans 129 127

   of whom are active insurance participants 77 75

   of whom are inactive insurance participants 33 34

   of whom are retired 19 18

Discount rate Germany 1.57% 1.51%

Discount rate Switzerland 1.20% 0.75%

Development of salaries Germany 
0.00% – 

2.00%
0.00% – 

2.00%

Development of salaries Switzerland 1.00% 1.00%

Development of pensions Germany 1.70% 1.70%

Development of pensions Switzerland 0.00% 0.00%

 
On 30 September 2018 the weighted average duration of the 
defined benefit obligations was 8.2 years (prior year: 
11.6 years) in Germany and 19.7 years (prior year: 
21.2 years) in Switzerland.  
 

Plan assets as at 30 September 2018 and 2017 were as fol-
lows:  
 

in KEUR 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Rented properties 702 554

Obligations CHF 270 554

Obligations other currencies 1,511 1,440

Shares Switzerland 324 332

Shares other countries 1,296 1,080

Liquid assets and other financial assets 7,036 7,562

Total plan assets 11,139 11,522

 
The expected payments for All for One Steeb’s employee benefit 
plans for the financial year 2018/19 are KEUR 512 (prior year: 
KEUR 571).  
 
Sensitivity Analysis 

On the basis that other assumptions remain the same, a 
change of 0.25 percentage points in the discount rate or of 0.25 
to 0.5 percentage points in the development of pensions would 
have the following effects on the defined benefit obligations:  
 

  
Defined benefit 

obligation 

Effect in EUR Increase  Decrease

Germany    

Discount rate (+/- 0.25% points) -126 131

Pension progression (+/- 0.5% points) 103 -96
      

Switzerland    

Discount rate (+/- 0.25% points) -228 237

Pension progression (+0.25% points) 169 –
    

 
 Depreciation and Amortisation 

The amounts of depreciation and amortisation are determined 
by the changes in non-current assets (see the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets). In the financial year un-
der review, unscheduled depreciation (impairment) of 
KEUR 100 (prior year: KEUR 0) was performed on a customer 
base in the LOB segment to reflect the current and planned 
order situation. As a result, the carrying amount is now the 
same as the value in use. 
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 Other Operating Expenses 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Data processing expenses 13,491 10,913

Vehicle costs 9,421 8,397

Travel and overnight accommodation 
expenses 7,132 6,141

Cost of premises 5,138 4,810

Marketing and advertising 2,760 2,421

Human resource management expenses 2,706 1,838

Consulting and financial statement 
preparation costs 1,859 1,613

Insurances 665 561

Expenses from currency differences 0 42

Other items 3,198 3,973

Total 46,370 40,709

 
 Financial Result 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Finance lease interest income 237 265

Other interest income 32 111

Financial income 269 376

External bank loan interest expenses -763 -866

Finance lease interest expenses -103 -65

Other interest expenses -424 -114

Financial expenses -1,290 -1,045

Total -1,021 -669

 
 Income Tax 

Tax expenses consist of the following: 
 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Current tax expenses 7,054 6,524

Income from deferred taxes -1,205 -216

Total 5,849 6,308

 
 

Current tax expenses 
in KEUR 

10/2017 – 
09/2018 

10/2016 – 
09/2017

Current income tax for the reporting year 6,971 6,459

Current income and withholding taxes 
relating to prior periods 83 65

Total 7,054 6,524

 

 
Income from deferred taxes 
in KEUR 

10/2017 – 
09/2018 

10/2016 – 
09/2017

Change in tax charge on undistributed 
profits for the reporting year -16 -30

Change in timing differences for the 
reporting year -841 -142

Recognition of tax assets from tax 
losses brought forward -348 -44

Total -1,205 -216

 
The following table shows a reconciliation of the expected and 
the actually reported tax expenses: 
 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

EBT 19,556 19,393

Expected tax expense/revenue at the 
rate of 30% -5,865 -5,818

Temporary tax differences -171 -10

Non-tax-deductible expenses/revenues -92 -492

Capitalisation of tax losses brought 
forward 219 275

Current tax expenses/revenues relating 
to prior periods -83 -65

Use of uncapitalised tax losses brought 
forward for current year 93 46

Waiver of capitalisation of tax losses 
brought forward for current year -137 -403

Effect of different tax rates 101 157

Tax rate changes 54 0

Other effects 32 2

Total -5,849 -6,308

 
Current taxes are calculated on the basis of prevailing tax rates 
rates The Group’s tax rate of 30.0% (prior year: 30.0%) was de-
termined on the basis of a corporate income tax rate of 15.0% 
plus the solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on this rate, and a munici-
pal trade income tax rate of 14.2%. 
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The following table shows the composition of deferred tax as-
sets and deferred tax liabilities:  
  
 

in KEUR 

Deferred 
tax assets

30.09.2018

Deferred 
tax liabilities

30.09.2018

Deferred 
tax assets 

30.09.2017

Deferred  
tax liabilities 

30.09.2017 
Total 

30.09.2018 
Total

30.09.2017

Financial assets -101 1,328 0 1,229 1,227 1,229

Financial liabilities -19 50 0 60 31 60

Inventories -9 0 -16 0 -9 -16

Trade accounts receivable -151 1,947 -2 1,533 1,796 1,531

Intangible assets -76 11,680 -54 12,055 11,604 12,001

Employee liabilities -147 11 -40 0 -136 -40

Employee benefit obligations -689 0 -673 0 -689 -673

Provisions -185 34 -200 80 -151 -120

Tangible fixed assets 0 21 -1 80 21 79

Other timing differences 0 96 0 112 96 112

Other liabilities -47 0 -36 0 -47 -36

Tax loss carry forwards  -640 0 -292 0 -640 -292

Deferred tax assets (-) / liabilities (+) -2,064 15,167 -1,314 15,149 13,103 13,835

Balancing 651 -651 633 -633 0 0

Total deferred tax assets (-) /  
liabilities (+) -1,413 14,516 -681 14,516 13,103 13,835

 Earnings per Share  

Earnings per share were derived from the earnings after tax at-
tributable to the shareholders of the Group parent company 
and from the average number of shares in circulation. The earn-
ings after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Group par-
ent company increased year on year to KEUR 14,031 (prior 
year: KEUR 13,103). The average number of shares in circu-
lation was unchanged at 4,982,000 in the financial year 
2017/18. 
 
The average number of shares (diluted) outstanding is the 
same as the average number of shares (undiluted) outstand-
ing. The diluted earnings per share are therefore the same as 
the undiluted earnings per share share and increased year on 
year to EUR 2.82 (prior year: EUR 2.63) 
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 Notes to the Balance Sheet 

 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Your attention is directed to the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Fixed Assets included as an annex to these Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding the composi-
tion of this item. 
 
The Group balance sheet as at 30 September 2018 reported 
goodwill with a balance sheet value of KEUR 23,642 (prior year: 
KEUR 24,531) other intangible assets with a balance sheet val-
ue of KEUR 38,705 (prior year: KEUR 41,618). In order to deter-
mine if any assets may be impaired, the company estimated 
the expected cash flows from the use and eventual sale of the 
assets. The actual cash flows derived may vary from the pro-
jected cash flows and from the cash flows discounted to the 
balance sheet date. In particular, any departure of customers 
from the core client business accounted for in the balance 
sheet, and the subsequent lower-than-projected amount of 
products and services sold, may result in shortened useful 
lives and impairment. 
 
Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Trademark Rights 

For the purpose of performing impairment tests, All for One 
Steeb has designated the following companies as cash-gener-
ating units (CGU) to which the respective goodwill and trade-
mark rights are allocated. The value in use was applied when 
testing goodwill and trademark rights for impairment. The value 
in use of the future cash flows was determined using the dis-
counted cash flow method, which does not take tax payments 
into consideration. As in the prior year, the applied discount 
rate built on the capital asset pricing model and was derived 
from the average weighted cost of equity and borrowed capital. 
The cost of equity is based on a risk-free capital-market inter-
est rate for the respective period taking into consideration the 
Beta factor for the industry and a risk premium based on the 
relevant capital market. From this a pre-tax discount rate was 
derived based on the tax situation.  
 
Current assets and earnings projections for the next three 
years have been prepared for the cash-generating units (CGU), 
which reflect and incorporate the company’s latest estimates 
regarding how these units’ sales and costs will develop. Pro-
spective cash flow statements were derived from this and plau-
sible assumptions were made about the further development 
in the years to follow that reflect a growth rate of 1%. Further-
more, the projections assumed a constant or slightly improving 
EBIT margin. 
 

Goodwill  

Goodwill decreased by KEUR 889 to KEUR 23,642 (prior year: 
KEUR 24,531) in the reporting year. The change was due to the 
final review of the allocation of the purchase price for inside Un-
ternehmensberatung GmbH, Oldenburg, which necessitated an 
adjustment of the goodwill to KEUR 3,505.    
 
No write-downs on goodwill were made in the reporting year. 
 

Goodwill 
in KEUR 

30.09.
2018

30.09.
2017

CGU All for One Steeb AG   

Steeb Anwendungssysteme GmbH, 
Abstatt (merged into the Group parent in 
Dec 2011) 9,692 9,692

All for One Midmarket Solutions & 
Services GmbH, Stuttgart (merged into 
the Group parent in Sep 2008) 2,434 2,434

Other CGU's   

avantum consult AG, Düsseldorf 2,569 2,569

Subgroup OSC AG, Lübeck 2,327 2,327

Process Partner AG, St. Gallen/Switzerland 1,596 1,596

KWP team HR GmbH, Düsseldorf (merged 
into KWP Kümmel, Wiedmann + Partner 
Unternehmensberatung GmbH, 
Heilbronn, in Dec 2014) 482 482

KWP INSIDE HR GmbH, Heilbronn 
(formerly: KWP team HR GmbH, KWP 
Kümmel, Wiedmann + Partner 
Unternehmensberatung GmbH) 365 365

All for One Steeb GmbH, Vienna/Austria 125 125

Grandconsult GmbH, Filderstadt  18 18

Subgroup B4B Solutions GmbH,  
Graz/Austria 529 529

inside Unternehmensberatung GmbH, 
Oldenburg (merged into KWP INSIDE HR 
GmbH, Heilbronn, in Aug 2017) 3,505 4,394

Total 23,642 24,531

 
The goodwill and trademark rights were tested for impairment 
at the end of the financial year. This testing showed no impair-
ment of the goodwill and trademark rights allocated to the 
cash-generating units (CGU) as at 30 September 2018. The 
company believes, extraordinary events and circumstances 
aside, that a revision of its assumptions would not lead to the 
carrying amounts of the goodwill and trademark rights exceed-
ing their respective recoverable amounts. 
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Other Intangible Assets 

Other intangible assets include brand names (trademark 
rights) totalling KEUR 12,331 (prior year: KEUR 12,344). These 
brand names are company brands for which an economic life 
cannot be determined. Unlike product brands, these have no 
life cycle. For this reason it is generally assumed that they have 
an indefinite useful life. 
 
No internally generated software (prior year: KEUR 140) was 
capitalised during the reporting year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Other intangible assets 
in KEUR 

Purchase 
price

Estimated
useful life
in months

Remaining 
useful life 
in months 

Net carrying 
amount 

30.09.2018 

Net carrying
amount

30.09.2017

Trademark rights        

CGU All for One Steeb AG        

Trademark rights of former Steeb Anwendungssysteme 
GmbH, Abstatt 5,465 unlimited unlimited 5,465 5,465

Trademark rights of former All for One Midmarket 
Solutions & Services GmbH, Stuttgart  3,283 unlimited unlimited 3,283 3,283

Other CGU's        

Trademark rights of avantum consult AG, Düsseldorf 1,566 unlimited unlimited 1,566 1,566

Trademark rights of OSC AG, Lübeck 939 unlimited unlimited 939 939

Trademark rights of B4B Solutions GmbH, Graz/Austria 77 60 36 47 62

Trademark rights of former inside 
Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Oldenburg 1,031 unlimited unlimited 1,031 1,029

Customer base        

Customer base of former Steeb Anwendungssysteme 
GmbH, Abstatt 27,626 48 – 180 0 – 98 14,453 16,373

Customer base of former All for One Midmarket Solutions 
& Services GmbH, Stuttgart 6,225 180 28 968 1,383

Customer base of avantum consult AG, Düsseldorf 3,825 120 67 2,136 2,518

Customer base of OSC AG, Lübeck 5,903 144 73 2,992 3,484
Customer base of former KWP team HR GmbH, 
Düsseldorf 628 120 9 47 110

Customer base of  Grandconsult GmbH, Filderstadt 1,362 96 54 669 941

Customer base of B4B Solutions GmbH, Graz/Austria 276 120 96 221 248

Customer base of former inside Unternehmensberatung 
GmbH, Oldenburg 4,000 36 – 144 18 – 126 3,328 2,565

Other intangible assets          

Internal software solutions 535 60 – 72 0 – 48 163 239
Maintenance contracts of avantum consult AG, 
Düsseldorf 664 120 67 371 437

Orders on hand of Grandconsult GmbH, Filderstadt 848 9 – 21 0 0 0

Orders on hand of B4B Solutions GmbH, Graz/Austria 119 11 0 0 0

Orders on hand of former inside Unternehmensberatung 
GmbH, Oldenburg 200 6 0 0 0

Other acquired intangible assets 5,089 12 – 96 0 – 66 926 976

30.09.2018 69,661     38,605 41,618
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Impairment tests using the relief from royalty method were 
performed at the end of the financial year due to the trademark 
rights having an indefinite useful life (exception: B4B brand). 
No write-downs were made as at 30 September 2018. 
 
Impairment testing on goodwill and trademark rights was 
based on the following pre-tax discount rates: 
 
(Formerly) Steeb Anwendungssysteme GmbH, Abstatt: The 
implied average pre-tax discount rate is 9.47% (prior year: 
7.27%). 
 
(Formerly) All for One Midmarket Solutions & Services GmbH, 
Stuttgart: The implied average pre-tax discount rate is 9.47% 
(prior year: 7.27%). 
 
avantum consult AG, Düsseldorf: The implied average pre-tax 
discount rate is 10.98% (prior year: 7.66%). 
 
Subgroup OSC AG, Lübeck: The implied average pre-tax discount 
rate is 11.08% (prior year: 7.64%). 
 
Process Partner AG, St. Gallen/Switzerland: The implied aver-
age pre-tax discount rate is 9.14% (prior year: 6.38%). 
 
(Formerly) KWP team HR GmbH, Düsseldorf: The implied aver-
age pre-tax discount rate is 10.93% (prior year: 7.43%). 
 
(Formerly) KWP Kümmel, Wiedmann + Partner Unternehmens-
beratung GmbH, Heilbronn: The implied average pre-tax dis-
count rate is 10.93% (prior year: 7.43%).  
 
All for One Steeb GmbH, Vienna/Austria: The implied average 
pre-tax discount rate is 10.07% (prior year: 7.03%). 
 
Grandconsult GmbH, Filderstadt: The implied average pre-tax 
discount rate is 9.04% (prior year: 7.49%). 
 
Subgroup B4B Solutions GmbH, Graz/Austria: The implied aver-
age pre-tax discount rate is 9.83% (prior year: 6.86%). 
 
(Formerly) inside Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Oldenburg: 
The implied average pre-tax discount rate is 10.93% (prior year: 
7.43%). 
 

 Tangible Fixed Assets 

Your attention is directed to the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Fixed Assets included as an annex to these Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding the composi-
tion of this item. 
 

Also included under leasehold improvements are those im-
provements over which the lessor has since assumed legal 
ownership, but which remain in the beneficial ownership of the 
lessee for the term of the lease. The useful life for depreciation 
purposes is the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the 
useful life.  
 
The other tangible fixed assets include office machines and 
equipment, office furniture and furnishings, as well as com-
pany cars.  
 
The lessor has legal ownership of the tangible fixed assets in 
the amount of KEUR 5,777 (prior year: KEUR 3,487) under fi-
nance leases.  
 

 Financial Assets 

 

in KEUR 

Total 
receiv-

ables 

Due 
  

<1 year 

Due 
>1 <5  
years

Due
>5 

years

Gross receivables from 
finance leases  10,097 3,614 6,483 0

   Unrealised share  
   of interest therein -305 -39 -266 0

Net receivables from 
finance leases 9,792 3,575 6,217 0

Other loans 366 120 246 0

Security deposits 177 71 106 0

Total as at 30.09.2018 10,335 3,766 6,569 0

Gross receivables from 
finance leases  9,235 3,320 5,915 0

   Unrealised share of  
   interest therein -375 -44 -331 0

Net receivables from 
finance leases 8,860 3,276 5,584 0

Other loans 410 91 319 0

Security deposits 182 51 131 0

Total as at 30.09.2017 9,452 3,418 6,034 0

 
Receivables from finance leases pertain to customer-specific IT 
systems for managed cloud services and fulfil the application 
regulations set forth in IFRIC 4.  
 
Other loans include a loan receivable of KEUR 400 that has been 
completely written off. 
 



Company    I    Group Management Report    I    Consolidated Financial Statements    I    Notes    I    Additional Information 

 Annual Report All for One Steeb AG 71 

 Deferred Tax Assets 

See note 9, Income Tax, for detailed information about the 
structure of the deferred tax assets. 
 
The subsidiary Grandconsult GmbH, Filderstadt, established 
deferred tax assets for tax loss carry forwards in the amount of 
KEUR 275 in the prior year. These deferred tax assets were 
used in their entirety during the current financial year. 
 
The subsidiary ALLFOYE Management Beratung GmbH, Düssel-
dorf, established deferred tax assets for tax loss carry forwards 
in the amount of KEUR 181. 
 
The subsidiary B4B Solutions GmbH, Graz/Austria, established 
deferred tax assets for tax loss carry forwards in the amount of 
KEUR 176 (prior year: KEUR 17). In the course of this financial 
year, the subsidiary B4B Solutions GmbH, Ratingen, capitalised 
deferred taxes of KEUR 283. 
 
Recognition of deferred tax assets is made on the basis of each 
respective company’s budget. These budgets are revised annu-
ally and require a variety of estimations. These estimations 
may change as a result of changes in the market, competitive 
environment, customer structure and general economic situa-
tion. There is a great deal of volatility involved in recognising 
deferred tax assets in light of the regular reassessments that 
are made. 
 

 Current and Deferred (Income) Tax Assets and 
Liabilities 

As at 30 September 2018, All for One Steeb showed net liabili-
ties from current income taxes in the amount of KEUR 2,511 
(prior year net assets: KEUR 863) and net liabilities from de-
ferred taxes in the amount of KEUR 13,103 (prior year: 
KEUR 13,835). The management board has to make far-
reaching estimates to determine the receivables and liabilities 
relating to current income taxes and deferred taxes. These 
estimates are based among other things on the interpretation 
of each country’s prevailing tax laws and regulations. The 
management board makes estimates about the subsidiaries’ 
future taxable earnings situation both upon the initial recogni-
tion and regular determination of deferred tax assets from 
chargeable tax loss carry forwards. Numerous internal and ex-
ternal factors can have a favourable or unfavourable impact on 
the assets and liabilities from deferred income taxes. Changes 
can also be attributable to amendments in tax legislation, final 
tax assessment notices and the favourable or less-favourable 
way that the taxable income projections for the subsidiaries de-
velop. Such factors may necessitate adjustments in the re-
ported income tax assets and liabilities. 
 

 Inventories 

Inventories mainly consist of hardware held for sale in the 
amount of KEUR 675 (prior year: KEUR 1,022). 
 

 Trade Accounts Receivable 

 

in KEUR 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Accounts receivable from other third 
parties 48,868 45,181

Value adjustments -1,611 -2,305

Total 47,257 42,876

 
Trade accounts receivable include construction contracts with 
a credit balance due from customers in the amount of 
KEUR 1,350 (prior year: KEUR 878).  
 
There are no trade accounts receivable from related parties or 
companies at the present time, nor were there any in the prior 
year (see note 31, Related Parties).  
 
Changes in Allowances for Doubtful Accounts 

The KEUR 1,725 in allowances for doubtful accounts as at 
30 September 2016 was utilised in the amount of KEUR 158 
and increased by KEUR 738. This resulted in an allowance for 
doubtful accounts in the amount of KEUR 2,305 as at 30 Sep-
tember 2017. 
 
The KEUR 2,305 in allowances for doubtful accounts as at 
30 September 2017 was utilised in the amount of KEUR 550 
and decreased by KEUR 144. This resulted in an allowance for 
doubtful accounts in the amount of KEUR 1,611 as at 30 Sep-
tember 2018. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of trade accounts re-
ceivable not yet due and overdue based on the terms agreed to 
with the customers and the age structure of the receivables: 
 

in KEUR 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Total gross trade accounts receivable 48,868 45,181

Thereof:    

   Not yet due 35,689 29,817

   Due under 1 month 7,117 8,251

   Due between 1 and 3 months 2,471 3,325

   Due between 3 and 6 months 965 303

   Due between 6 and 12 months 575 1,649

   Due after 12 months 2,051 1,836

Allowance for doubtful accounts -1,611 -2,305

Total net trade accounts receivable 47,257 42,876
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The allowances for doubtful accounts are determined based on 
the difference between the nominal value of the accounts re-
ceivable and their estimated net recoverable amounts. 
 
The following shows the maturity analysis for trade accounts 
receivable: 
 

in KEUR 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Not past due, not individually impaired 35,497 29,398

Past due, but not individually impaired    

   Less than 1 month past due 6,875 8,109

   Between 1 and 3 months past due 2,095 2,986

   Between 3 and 6 months past due 716 173

   Between 6 and 12 months past due 331 153

   More than 12 months past due 63 98

Total receivables past due, but not 
individually impaired   10,080 11,519

Individually impaired, after allowance 
for doubtful accounts 1,680 1,959

Total net trade accounts receivable 47,257 42,876

 
 Other Assets 

 

in KEUR 

Total
receiv-

ables

Due 
<1  

year 

Due
>1 <5 
years

Due
>5 

years

Prepaid services 4,263 3,272 991 0

Other accounts receivable 682 637 45 0

Total as at 30.09.2018 4,945 3,909 1,036 0

Prepaid services 4,103 3,025 1,078 0

Other accounts receivable 497 460 37 0

Total as at 30.09.2017 4,600 3,485 1,115 0

 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 

in KEUR 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Cash assets 36,267 26,790

Financial investments with an original 
fixed term of under 90 days 49 2,950

Cash on hand 15 15

Total 36,331 29,755

 
The average interest on bank deposits was 0.07% (prior year: 
0.34%). Of the cash and cash equivalents, 93.6% (prior year: 
90.7%) is denominated in EUR; 4.7% (prior year: 7.0%) in CHF; 
0.4% (prior year: 0.7%) in CZK and 1.3% (prior year: 1.6%) in TRY. 
 

 Shareholders’ Equity 

As at 30 September 2018 the issued share capital was divided 
into 4,982,000 (30 Sep 2017: 4,982,000) registered no-par-
value shares (individual share certificates) and has been fully 
paid in. The arithmetic nominal value of the shares outstanding 
remains unchanged at EUR 3.00 per share. 
 
The annual general meeting of 11 March 2015 approved – each 
limited until 10 March 2020 – the creation of new authorised 
capital totalling EUR 7,473,000 and an authorisation to repur-
chase shares of All for One Steeb AG up to a total amount of 10% 
of the share capital. This corresponds to 498,200 registered 
no-par-value shares. The management board made no use of 
this authorisation during the reporting period. 
 
One of the items approved by the annual general meeting of 
15 March 2018 was a dividend of EUR 1.20 per share, which 
was distributed in an amount of EUR 6.0 million (prior year: 
EUR 5.5 million). 
 
All for One Steeb’s capital is governed by the cost of equity. In-
vestments and acquisitions will continue to be made with bor-
rowed capital as long as borrowing costs are lower than the 
cost of equity. Variable interest rates were agreed to as part of 
the loans. Should certain events occur as described in cove-
nants stipulated in the loan agreements, then the lenders will 
be authorised to increase the interest rate on the loans and, as 
applicable, call the loans due payable immediately. These cov-
enants pertain to maintaining established corporate operating 
figures. All figures are calculated and evaluated at the Group 
level. The management board monitors compliance with con-
tractual requirements and observes the movement in interest 
rates.  
 
All for One Steeb seeks to use its dividend policy to enable 
shareholders to partake directly in the company’s earnings and 
cash flow. However, the basic premise is to always maintain ad-
equate financial flexibility for greater business performance 
and additional inorganic growth. 
 
The capital reserve consists primarily of the premium from the 
issue of shares. 
 
The other reserves pertain to the reserve from currency trans-
lation. The reserve from currency translation results from gains 
and losses on currency translation that arise from the conver-
sion of the financial statements of foreign Group companies in-
cluded in the consolidation. This item will be reclassified in the 
income statement as soon as the balance sheet items belong-
ing to it are disposed of through deconsolidation. 
 

 Treasury Stock 

As in the prior year, All for One Steeb AG holds no treasury stock.  
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 Non-Controlling Interests 

 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

At start of financial year 147 115

Distribution of profit to non-controlling 
interests -12 -11

Profit share of current year -324 -18

Acquisition of a subsidiary with non-
controlling interests 0 61

At end of financial year -189 147

 
This figure essentially contains a 26% shareholding in WEB-
MAXX GmbH, Munich, and a 30% shareholding in B4B Solutions 
GmbH, Graz/Austria. 
 

 Provisions 

 

in KEUR 01.10.2017
Provisions 

made
Provisions

used
Provisions 

reversed 30.09.2018

Anniversary provision  298 29 -17 -3 309

Impending losses from  
construction contracts 189 79 -189 0 79

Severance payments Austria 45 3 0 0 48

Severance payments 226 427 -194 -32 427

Warranty and damage claims 234 677 -10 -151 750

Asset retirement obligations 18 0 0 -18 0

Other provisions 0 75 0 0 75

Total 1,010 1,290 -410 -204 1,688

Long-term (> 12 months) 361     357

Short-term (< 12 months) 649     1,331

Total 1,010      1,688
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Anniversary Provision 

Anniversary payments are valued using the internationally re-
cognised projected unit credit method. Under this method, the 
value of this obligation is defined as the actuarial present value 
of the anniversary benefits that the employees have earned ac-
cording to their length of service as at the reference date. Any 
existing assets used to fund the obligation are measured at fair 
value.  
 
This item consists only of a non-current portion.  
 
Impending Losses from Construction Contracts 

This item consists only of a current portion (see note 28, 
Amounts Due to Customers Under Construction Contracts). 
 
Severance Payments Austria 

This item pertains to statutory entitlements to severance pay-
ments or redundancies in cases of regular retirement or sever-
ance actions initiated by the company in Austria. The valuation 
of provisions for severance payments is made according to ac-
tuarial principles using the projected unit credit method in ac-
cordance with IAS 19 on the basis of an accounting interest rate 
of 1.57% (prior year: 1.51%) and a retirement age of 60 for 
women and 65 for men (prior year: age 60 for women, age 65 
for men). A salary increase of 2% (prior year: 2%) was assumed 
when making the calculation. 
 
This item consists only of a non-current portion. 
 
Severance Payments 

Provisions for severance payments are recognised when exist-
ing employment relationships must be terminated for oper-
ational reasons or dissolved by mutual consent. The amount of 
such severance payments is not always established defini-
tively at the time the balance sheet is prepared. In such cases, 
provisions are recognised in the amount that would be ex-
pected to be paid were the matter to be settled through a legal 
process.  
 
This item consists only of a current portion. 
 
Warranty and Damage Claims 

These items mainly relate to provisions for warranty or com-
pensation risks arising from disputed rollout projects (con-
tracts for work).  
 
This item consists only of a current portion.  
 
In cases where there are no special valuation rules or principles 
for individual provisions, the management board made the pro-
visions by estimating the probabilities and the amounts of the 
expected future outflow of resources to settle the obligations in 
each of the cases. These estimates are reviewed at each bal-
ance sheet date. If the effect is material, then in the case of 
long-term provisions the expected future cash outflows are dis-

counted. Provisions are also recognised for contractual obliga-
tions where the unavoidable costs involved in fulfilling or revok-
ing them are greater than the expected benefits and value to be 
received (onerous contracts). 
 
The other provision items consist only of a current portion. 
 

 Financial Liabilities 

 

in KEUR 

Total 
liabil- 

ities 

Due 
<1  

year 

Due 
>1 <5 
years

Due
>5 

years

Future payments for 
finance leases 5,962 1,834 4,128 0

   Interest therein -156 -14 -142 0

Finance lease liabilities 5,806 1,820 3,986 0

Bank loans 23,504 147 19,376 3,981

Total as at 30.09.2018 29,310 1,967 23,362 3,981

Future payments for 
finance leases 3,773 1,437 2,336 0

   Interest therein -107 -13 -94 0

Finance lease liabilities 3,666 1,424 2,242 0

Other financial liabilities 52 52 0 0

Bank loans 23,491 5,052 14,462 3,977

Total as at 30.09.2017 27,209 6,528 16,704 3,977
        

 
The finance lease agreements consist primarily of lease-to-own 
agreements on parts of data center facilities, the legal owner-
ship of which is transferred to the company with the respective 
payment of the final lease instalment. 
 
Promissory notes in an amount of EUR 35 million were placed 
as at 30 April 2013. The financing terms and conditions were 
locked in for an extended period of time and mostly in the form 
of fixed interest rates. The promissory notes are not subordi-
nated and are unsecured.  
 
In the prior year, new promissory notes of EUR 10 million in to-
tal were placed at much more favourable terms and conditions 
and due to mature in 2022 and 2024, respectively (fixed rate 
of around 1.3% to 1.7%). A further promissory note tranche of 
EUR 8.5 million remains scheduled for repayment on 30 April 
2020 (fixed rate: 4.3%). A residual financial liability consisting 
of a promissory note tranche of EUR 5 million (fixed rate of 
around 3.4%) was repaid as scheduled as of 30 April 2018 and 
replaced with a new tranche of EUR 5 million (fixed rate of 
around 1.4%, due on 30 Apr 2022). As a result, the entire port-
folio of promissory notes for a total of EUR 23.5 million (30 Sep 
2017: EUR 23.5 million) now has a long-term structure.  
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The holders of these promissory notes are authorised to raise 
the interest margin or, as applicable, to call the promissory 
notes totalling EUR 23.5 million due immediately should certain 
events occur on the basis of the covenants. These events in-
volve adhering to the agreed targets for the equity ratio and the 
sum of equity as well as the relationship between total net debt 
and EBITDA. The creditors will also be authorised to cancel their 
loan commitments and call the remaining total amount of 
EUR 23.5 million due immediately should certain changes be 
made in the All for One Steeb shareholder structure (change of 
control). The management board believes that these require-
ments can be met both during the reporting year and in the 
future. 
 
The B4B Group has a loan valued at KEUR 18 (prior year: 
KEUR 30) from the Raiffeisen Bank International AG. The loan 
is being repaid semi-annually in the amount of KEUR 6. The 
fixed interest rate is 1.0%. 

The B4B Group has a loan valued at KEUR 25.5 (prior year: 
KEUR 32.8) from the Raiffeisen Bank International AG. Starting 
on 30 June 2017, this loan is being repaid semi-annually in the 
amount of KEUR 3.65. The fixed interest rate is 0.75%. 
 
The average weighted interest rate for lease liabilities during 
the reporting period was 1.66% (prior year: 1.98%). The lease 
payments are established at the beginning of the contract and 
are not subject to changes in the instalment amount or interest 
rate for the duration of the term.  
 
As at the balance sheet date, the All for One Steeb Group had 
approved lines of credit at banks in the amount of KEUR 9,801 
(prior year: KEUR 10,301).  
 
Aval guarantees for rental security deposits are being utilised 
in the amount of KEUR 1,376 (prior year: KEUR 722).  
 
The change in financial liabilities affected the cash flow from fi-
nancing activities as follows: 
 

 
 Financial liabilities Equity   

in KEUR 
Finance lease 

liabilities Bank loans

Other 
financial 

liabilities
Retained 
earnings 

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

Balance as at 01.10.2017 3,666 23,491 52 42,639 147 69,995

Changes in cash flow from  
financing activities         

Cash flow from loans and long-term 
financial liabilities 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000

Repayment of loans and long-term 
financial liabilities 0 -5,020 0 0 0 -5,020

Income tax paid -103 -683 -213 0 0 -999

Repayment of finance leases -1,938 0 0 0 0 -1,938

Dividend payments to shareholders 
and non-controlling interests 0 0 0 -5,978 -12 -5,990

Total change in cash flow from 
financing activities -2,041 -703 -213 -5,978 -12 -8,947

Other changes         

Finance leases 4,239 0 0 0 0 4,239

Other non-cash transactions -58 716 161 0 0 819

Total other changes with  
regard to financial liabilities 4,181 716 161 0 0 5,058
Total other changes with  
regard to equity 0 0 0 14,108 -324 13,784

Balance as at 30.09.2018 5,806 23,504 0 50,769 -189 66,106
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 Deferred Tax Liabilities 

See note 9, Income Tax, for detailed information about the 
structure of deferred tax liabilities. 
 

 Other Liabilities 

 

in KEUR 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Personnel obligations 23,167 21,823

Advanced payment on maintenance 
charges 4,904 4,766

Other tax liabilities 4,634 4,138

Purchase price obligations 798 2,208

Other liabilities 4,835 4,730

Total 38,338 37,665

Short-term element thereof 37,825 35,639

Long-term element thereof 513 2,026

 
The »personnel obligations« item relates predominately to lia-
bilities from unused holiday leave, as yet unpaid variable com-
pensation components, commissions, flexi-time and overtime 
payments, bonuses and obligations to social security provid-
ers.  
 

The purchase price obligations item decreased by KEUR 1,410 
during the financial year. As at the end of the financial year, the 
obligations for payment of purchase price elements consisted 
principally of liabilities from the acquisition of inside Unterneh-
mensberatung GmbH. These include variable purchase price 
obligations in the amount of KEUR 0, (prior year: KEUR 740) and 
fixed purchase price obligations in the amount of KEUR 798 
(prior year: KEUR 1,512), which are due in the next financial 
year.  
 
An amount of KEUR 68 (prior year: KEUR 21) was reported as 
interest expense from compounding the interest on the non-
current other liabilities. 
 

 Trade Accounts Payable 

The general payment term for trade accounts payable is 0 to 60 
days.  
 

 Amounts Due to Customers Under Construction 
Contracts 

The amounts due to customers under construction contracts 
total KEUR 921 (prior year: KEUR 1,188). Of this amount, 
KEUR 842 (prior year: KEUR 998) were recognised under trade 
accounts payable and KEUR 79 (prior year: KEUR 189) under 
provisions. 
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 Additional Information about Financial Instruments 

 
Measurement Categories as at 30 September 2018 
in KEUR Category 

Carrying amount 
30.09.2018 

Fair value
IFRS 71

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables 36,331 –

Trade accounts receivable Loans and receivables 45,907 –

Receivables from finance leases Loans and receivables 9,792 9,868

Other loans/deposits Loans and receivables 543 –

Equity and liabilities      

Trade accounts payable Financial obligations 14,690 –

Bank loans Financial obligations 23,504 –

Finance lease liabilities Financial obligations 5,806 5,821

Other financial liabilities Financial obligations 0 –

Purchase price elements Financial obligations 798 –

1) the carrying amount represents a suitable approximate value for the fair value in those cases where a fair value was not stated 
      

 
 

Measurement Categories as at 30 September 2017 
in KEUR Category 

Carrying amount 
30.09.2017 

Fair value
IFRS 71

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables 29,755 –

Trade accounts receivable Loans and receivables 41,998 –

Receivables from finance leases Loans and receivables 8,860 9,019

Other loans/deposits Loans and receivables 592 –

Equity and liabilities      

Trade accounts payable Financial obligations 13,909 –

Bank loans Financial obligations 23,491 –

Finance lease liabilities Financial obligations 3,666 3,686

Other financial liabilities Financial obligations 52 –

Purchase price elements Financial obligations 2,208 –

1) the carrying amount represents a suitable approximate value for the fair value in those cases where a fair value was not stated 
      

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and pay-
able, as well as other loans/deposits have largely short remain-
ing terms or are subject to variable interest rates that follow the 
market interest rates. These items are recognised at amortised 
cost.  
 
Receivables from finance leases and the finance lease liabili-
ties are also reported at amortised cost. The fair value meas-
urement of the receivables from finance leases is made based 
on the present value of the payments associated with the as-
sets. The fair values were measured based on the current inter-
est parameters which reflect market-related changes in terms 
and expectations. The fair value measurement of the finance 
lease liabilities was made similarly. 
 
The purchase price elements are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The fair value is measured as the present 
value of the expected discounted cash flows on the basis of the 

future business performance that is planned for the affected 
companies. The valuation parameters for measuring the fair 
value are based on unobservable market data (level 3). 
 
The total interest income for financial assets not recognised as 
income at fair value was KEUR 238 (prior year: KEUR 265). The 
other interest expenses for financial liabilities, which were not 
measured at fair value in profit and loss, totalled KEUR 167 
(prior year: KEUR 136). 
 
The net losses from loans and receivables mainly included the 
results of impairment losses in an amount of KEUR 337 (prior 
year: KEUR 758). There were no significant net gains or losses 
on financial liabilities. 
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 Segment Reporting 

The segments at All for One Steeb AG are classified as follows:  
 
The »CORE« operating segment includes software solutions for 
the areas of ERP (enterprise resource planning) and corporate-
wide collaboration for midmarket customers. This operating 
segment also provides consulting and infrastructure services.  
 
Another segment is called »LOB« (Lines of Business). This 
Lines of Business portfolio includes proprietary brands to spe-
cifically address the individual specialised departments within 
businesses.

The following segment information reflects the parameters uti-
lised in the internal reporting and management systems, and 
which the management board uses for performance assess-
ment and resource allocation purposes. In addition to the seg-
ment’s sales revenues, the other results-based key perfor-
mance indicator is earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). 
For control purposes, acquisition-related depreciation and 
amortisation is presented separately or in the aggregate. De-
preciation and amortisation from acquisitions pertain mainly to 
the customer relationships and intangible assets that result 
from completed acquisitions. Reporting is also made about the 
liquidity situation. 

 
  CORE LOB Consolidation Total 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017
10/2017 – 

09/2018
10/2016 – 

09/2017
10/2017 – 

09/2018
10/2016 – 

09/2017 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Income statement            

Sales to external customers 277,956 251,743 54,401 48,778 0 0 332,357 300,521

Intersegment sales 3,857 3,498 9,932 8,725 -13,789 -12,223 0 0

Sales revenues (1) 281,813 255,241 64,333 57,503 -13,789 -12,223 332,357 300,521

Other operating income (2) 6,471 3,653 753 962 -2,236 -1,643 4,988 2,972

Cost of materials and  
purchased services (3) -117,465 -106,960 -14,599 -13,219 12,143 10,937 -119,921 -109,242

Personnel expenses (4) -102,841 -92,936 -37,007 -31,232 0 0 -139,848 -124,168

Other operating expenses (7) -37,903 -32,547 -12,349 -11,000 3,882 2,838 -46,370 -40,709

Depreciation (6) -5,859 -4,711 -591 -479 18 0 -6,432 -5,190

EBITA 24,216 21,740 540 2,535 18 -91 24,774 24,184

Amortisation -2,830 -2,829 -1,367 -1,293 0 0 -4,197 -4,122

EBIT 21,386 18,911 -827 1,242 18 -91 20,577 20,062
                  

Investments 11,485 6,547 422 744 0 0 11,907 7,291

             

  
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017
30.09.

2018
30.09.

2017
30.09.

2018
30.09. 

2017 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Cash and cash equivalents 29,810 23,093 6,521 6,662 0 0 36,331 29,755

Segment assets 172,432 157,254 38,764 38,502 -28,021 -27,030 183,175 168,726

Financial liabilities 29,079 26,864 1,581 1,595 -1,350 -1,250 29,310 27,209

Segment liabilities 90,801 85,396 19,638 16,994 -4,283 -3,174 106,156 99,216
                

 
 

 Related Parties 

Unternehmens Invest AG, Vienna/Austria, and UIAG Informatik-
Holding GmbH, Vienna/Austria, each directly hold 25.07% of the 
share capital of All for One Steeb AG. A voting agreement exists 
between both shareholders. Therefore, All for One Steeb AG is 
considered a dependent company of Unternehmens Invest AG 
and UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH in accordance with §§16 
sections 1, 2; 17 section 2 »Aktiengesetz«. In addition to Un-
ternehmens Invest AG and UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH as di-
rectly controlling companies, these companies‘ shareholders 
and other parent companies, along with Dr Rudolf Knünz, can 

also indirectly exercise a controlling influence over All for One 
Steeb AG. For this reason, all relationships with controlling enti-
ties and their affiliated companies are documented in the de-
pendent company report.  
 
No revenues were generated with related persons or entities 
during the period 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018. Busi-
ness transactions between All for One Steeb AG and its subsidi-
aries are eliminated during consolidation and therefore not ex-
plained in these Notes. 
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Joint Arrangements (IFRS 11) 

Food & Beverage Alliance 

The Food & Beverage Alliance has been in place since 19 March 
2015. This service partnership of longstanding All for One Steeb 
business partners is a one-stop resource that delivers all-en-
compassing support for SAP solutions and systems together 
with a commitment to cost and performance leadership. Earn-
ings of KEUR 1 (prior year: KEUR 3) and expenditures of KEUR 3 
(prior year: KEUR 2) arose in connection with the Food & Bev-
erage Alliance in the current financial year. There were no re-
ceivables (prior year: none) or liabilities (prior year: none) as 
at the balance sheet date. 
 
Construction Alliance 

The agreement entitled »Letter of Mutual Agreement – Verein-
barung zur Partnerschaft« has been in place since February 
2016. The joint Construction Alliance (in German: »Bau Alli-
anz«) actively pursues sales among small to mid-sized busi-
nesses within the construction and building materials industry 
and with various builders merchants in order to provide li-
censes and consulting services for joint SAP projects. Earnings 
of KEUR 3 (prior year: KEUR 3) and expenditures of KEUR 6 
(prior year: KEUR 6) arose in connection with the Construction 
Alliance in the current financial year. There were no receivables 
(prior year: none) and no liabilities (prior year: none) as at the 
balance sheet date. 
 
In each case All for One Steeb AG is considered a joint operator 
within the meaning of IFRS 11. 
 
Members of the Supervisory Board 

Josef Blazicek (independent businessman, chairman), Peter 
Brogle (independent businessman, deputy chairman up to 
15 Mar 2018), Paul Neumann (member of the management 
board of Unternehmens Invest AG und managing director of 
UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH, both in Vienna/Austria, deputy 
chairman since 15 Mar 2018), Peter Fritsch (managing director 
of BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co. KG, Nöhagen/Austria, and mem-
ber of control bodies in other BEKO Group companies), Dr. Ru-
dolf Knünz (chairman of the management board of Unterneh-
mens Invest AG, Vienna/Austria, member since 15 Mar 2018), 
Maria Caldarelli (head of legal & compliance at All for One Steeb 
AG, Filderstadt/Germany, member since 26 Feb 2018), Jörgen 
Dalhoff (organisation development at All for One Steeb AG, 
Filderstadt/Germany), Detlef Mehlmann (head of business 
development international at All for One Steeb AG, Filder-
stadt/Germany, retired), Nicole Schultheiß (assistant to the 
management team at All for One Steeb AG, Filderstadt/Ger-
many, member from 30 Nov 2017 to 26 Feb 2018).  
 

The composition of the supervisory board changed during the 
period under review. At the annual general meeting on 15 March 
2018, Dr. Rudolf Knünz was elected as one of six members to 
the company's supervisory board for the first time. Dr. Knünz is 
CEO of Unternehmens Invest AG, Vienna/Austria, which – to-
gether with UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH, Vienna/Austria – 
holds 50.14% of the shares in All for One Steeb AG. The share-
holders again elected Josef Blazicek (independent business-
man), Paul Neumann (management board member of Invest 
AG and managing director of UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH, 
both in Vienna/Austria) and Peter Fritsch (managing director of 
BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co KG, Nöhagen/Austria) to the super-
visory board. Peter Brogle (independent businessman), who 
had been on the supervisory board of All for One Steeb AG since 
2000, did not stand for re-election.  
 
From 30 November 2017 until the employee representatives 
were elected on 26 February 2018, Nicole Schultheiß (assis-
tant to the management team at All for One Steeb AG, Filder-
stadt/Germany) replaced Detlef Mehlmann (head of Business 
Development International, All for One Steeb AG, Filder-
stadt/Germany) on the supervisory board of All for One Steeb 
AG following the latter's appointment before the start of the cur-
rent reporting year as legal representative of a firm that is de-
pendent on the company.  
 
Exercising their right to co-determine one third of the supervi-
sory board composition, on 26 February 2018 the employees 
elected Maria Caldarelli (head of legal & compliance) for the 
first time and re-elected Jörgen Dalhoff, organisation develop-
ment), both All for One Steeb AG, to represent them on the com-
pany's newly formed supervisory board. 
 
During the reporting year, the supervisory board members 
were also members of the supervisory boards and control 
bodies of the following companies in terms of §125, section 1, 
sentence 5 »Aktiengesetz«: 
 
Josef Blazicek: KTM Industries AG, Wels/Austria (chairman of 
the supervisory board), Pankl Racing Systems AG, Kapfen-
berg/Austria (deputy chairman of the supervisory board), 
Pierer Industrie AG, Wels/Austria (deputy chairman of the su-
pervisory board), W Verwaltungs AG, Wels/Austria (chairman of 
the supervisory board up to 24 Apr 2018), QINO AG, Hünen-
berg/Switzerland (chairman of the administrative board up to 
Mar 2018), QINO Group Holding AG, Hünenberg/Switzerland 
(chairman of the administrative board up to Mar 2018), Qino 
Management and Advisory Ltd., Limassol/Cyprus (Executive 
Director of The Board), Qino JB Ltd., Limassol/Cyprus (Execu-
tive Director of The Board since Feb 2018), (Qino Pipe One Ltd., 
Limassol/Cyprus (Executive Director of The Board since Jun 
2018). 
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Peter Brogle (deputy chairman up to 15 Mar 2018): alupak AG, 
Belp/Switzerland (member of the administrative board), 
Nahrin AG, Sarnen/Switzerland (member of the administrative 
board), Neumatt-Park AG, Hünenberg/Switzerland (president 
of the administrative board up to 11 Dec 2017), Similasan AG, 
Jonen/Switzerland (member of the administrative board). 
 
Paul Neumann: none 
 
Peter Fritsch: TRIPLAN AG, Bad Soden/Germany (deputy chair-
man of the supervisory board). 
 
Dr. Rudolf Knünz (member since 15 Mar 2018): Ganahl Aktien-
gesellschaft, Frastanz/Austria (chairman of the supervisory 
board). 
 
Maria Caldarelli (member since 26 Feb 2018): none  
 
Jörgen Dalhoff: none  
 
Detlef Mehlmann (retired): none  
 
Nicole Schultheiß (member from 30 Nov 2017 to 26 Feb 2018): 
none 
 
Compensation for Supervisory Board 

Total fixed compensation for the supervisory board was as fol-
lows: 
 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Josef Blazicek 65 43

Peter Brogle (up to 15 Mar 2018) 13 18

Paul Neumann (since 11 Nov 2016) 25 13

Peter Fritsch 23 20

Dr. Rudolf Knünz (since 15 Mar 2018) 8 –

Maria Caldarelli (since 26 Feb 2018) 7 –

Jörgen Dalhoff 13 10

Detlef Mehlmann (stepped down) – 10

Nicole Schultheiß  
(30 Nov 2017 to 26 Feb 2018) 3 –

Total 157 114

 

The members of the supervisory board also receive reimburse-
ment for their expenses. 
 
The annual general meeting on 15 March 2018 adopted a reso-
lution to amend the specification of supervisory board compen-
sation, starting in the financial year 2017/18. The amended 
compensation for the supervisory board is now structured as 
follows: 
 
The members of the supervisory board each receive a fixed 
compensation in the amount of KEUR 12.5 (prior year: 
KEUR 10) (plus any value-added tax that may be owed) for 
each full financial year that they belong to the supervisory 
board, and which is payable at the end of the financial year, and 
for the first time at the end of the financial year 2017/18. The 
chairman of the supervisory board receives four times (prior 
year: three times) and the deputy chairman two times (prior 
year: one-and-a-half times) the preceding fixed amount of com-
pensation. The members of the supervisory board also receive 
a remuneration for their work in committees as follows: 
 
a) A simple member of a committee receives KEUR 3.0 per 

year (prior year: KEUR 2.5) (plus any value-added tax that 
may be due) for each committee membership.  

b) The chairman of a committee receives four times (prior 
year: four times) the above committee membership 
remuneration. 

 
Performance-related components are not included in the com-
pensation for the supervisory board. Payment of the total fixed 
compensation for the supervisory board will be made in the fi-
nancial year 2018/19 and is reported under »Other Liabilities« 
as at 30 September 2018. 
 
Members of the Management Board 

During the reporting year, the management board consisted of 
Lars Landwehrkamp (CEO since May 2007) and Stefan Land 
(CFO since Apr 2008). Membership by management board 
members in control bodies in terms of §125, section 1, sen-
tence 5 »Aktiengesetz« are limited to various companies 
within All for One Steeb AG. The compensation for the manage-
ment board members for all of their employment relationships 
in companies included within the scope of the consolidation for 
the financial year 2017/18 include salaries, bonuses (perfor-
mance-related components) and benefits in kind from the use 
of company cars, insurance and pension plans. 
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Compensation for Management Board 

Compliant to the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, the amounts of benefits granted for the re-
porting year and the allocations (i.e. amounts disbursed) for 
the reporting year are listed separately in the disclosure of 
compensation for members of the management board: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lars Landwehrkamp 

 
Benefits granted Lars Landwehrkamp – CEO since 5/2007 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018
10/2016 – 

09/2017
10/2017 –  

09/2018 (Min) 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 (Max)

Fixed compensation 336 336 336 336

Fringe benefits1 61 60 61 61

Total fixed compensation 397 396 397 397

One-year variable compensation2 581 605 0 581

Multi-year variable compensation2      

   Target achievement depends on the aggregate  
   earnings per share for the timeframe 10/2014 to 09/2019 104 24 0 104

Total variable compensation 685 629 0 685

Service cost 81 81 81 81

Total compensation 1,162 1,106 477 1,162

1)  Include the company car benefit in kind and disbursements for health and long-term-care insurance 
2) The variable benefits granted are based on estimates 

 
 

Allocation Lars Landwehrkamp – CEO since 5/2007 

in KEUR 10/2017 – 09/2018 10/2016 – 09/2017

Fixed compensation 336 336

Fringe benefits1 61 60

Total fixed compensation 397 396

One-year variable compensation2 605 538

Multi-year variable compensation   

   Target achievement depends on the aggregate  
   earnings per share for the timeframe 10/2014 to 09/2019 0 0

Total variable compensation 605 538

Service cost 81 81

Total compensation 1,083 1,015

1)  Fringe benefits include the company car benefit in kind (notional amount paid) and disbursements for health and long-term-care insurance 
2) The allocation of the one-year variable compensation pertains to the respective prior financial year 

 



Company    I    Group Management Report    I    Consolidated Financial Statements    I    Notes    I    Additional Information 

82 Annual Report All for One Steeb AG 

Stefan Land 

 
Benefits granted Stefan Land – CFO since 4/2008 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018
10/2016 – 

09/2017
10/2017 –  

09/2018 (Min) 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 (Max)

Fixed compensation 252 252 252 252

Fringe benefits1 18 18 18 18

Total fixed compensation 270 270 270 270

One-year variable compensation2 398 403 0 404

Multi-year variable compensation2  
   Target achievement depends on the aggregate  
   earnings per share for the timeframe 10/2014 to 09/2019 83 24 0 83

Total variable compensation 480 427 0 486

Service cost 45 45 45 45

Total compensation 795 742 315 801

1) Include the company car benefit in kind and disbursements for health and long-term-care insurance.  
2) The variable benefits granted are based on estimates 

 
 

Allocation Stefan Land – CFO since 4/2008 

in KEUR 10/2017 – 09/2018 10/2016 – 09/2017

Fixed compensation 252 252

Fringe benefits1 18 18

Total fixed compensation 270 270

One-year variable compensation2 403 353

Multi-year variable compensation   

   Target achievement depends on the aggregate  
   earnings per share for the timeframe 10/2014 to 09/2019 0 0

Total variable compensation 403 353

Service cost 45 45

Total compensation 718 667

1)  Fringe benefits include the company car benefit in kind (notional amount paid) and disbursements for health and long-term-care insurance 
2) The allocation of the one-year variable compensation pertains to the respective prior financial year 

 
Total Management Board Compensation 

The total compensation (benefits granted) for the two manage-
ment board members, Lars Landwehrkamp and Stefan Land, 
was KEUR 1,957 for the reporting year (prior year: KEUR 1,848) 
and the allocation was KEUR 1,801 (prior year: KEUR 1,682). 
The variable amount of this total compensation amounted to 
KEUR 1,165 (prior year: KEUR 1,056) and includes estimates, 
which may deviate from the amounts determined as part of the 
final accounting.  
 

An allocation from the multi-year variable compensation was 
not made in the reporting year. Furthermore, no loans were ex-
tended and no options for shares of All for One Steeb AG were 
granted to the management board during the reporting year. 
Unusual transactions with related parties did not take place. 
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The agreements with company directors stipulate that if a 
member of the management board is removed early, that mem-
ber will continue to receive his or her base compensation until 
the end of the agreement. Furthermore, and likewise until the 
end of the agreement, the affected member of the manage-
ment board will receive the annual variable compensation at 
the mid-target achievement level of the previous two years and 
the long-term compensation component at a target achieve-
ment rate of 100%. 
 
The compensation system for members of the management 
board is described in detail in the Group Management Report. 
 

 Other Financial Liabilities not Reported on the 
Balance Sheet 

The financial obligations from »Operating Leases« not re-
ported on the balance sheet primarily consist of leases for com-
pany cars and the leasing of EDP infrastructure (predominantly 
hardware and operating software). The lease periods range 
from 1 to 10 years. These obligations are as follows: 
 

Operating leases 
in KEUR 

30.09. 
2018 

30.09.
2017

2017/18 – 4,435

2018/19 4,888 2,922

2019/20 3,227 1,329

2020/21 1,484 88

2021/22 31 19

2022/231 1 1

2023/24 and later 0 –

Total 9,631 8,794

1) in the prior year: 2022/23 and later   
      

 
In addition there are other unreported financial obligations, par-
ticularly from rental agreements, as shown below:  
 

Rental agreements 
in KEUR 

30.09. 
2018 

30.09.
2017

2017/18 – 7,535

2018/19 9,560 4,422

2019/20 5,378 2,814

2020/21 4,651 2,116

2021/22 3,458 1,382

2022/231 2,365 2,121

2023/24 and later 6,503 –

Total 31,915 20,390

1) in the prior year: 2022/23 and later   

 

The expenditures for operating leases and rental agreements 
totalled EUR 9.4 million in the financial year 2017/18 (prior 
year: EUR 7.7 million). 
 
There is also an order commitment for investments in tangible 
fixed assets amounting to KEUR 234 (prior year: KEUR 4,247). 
 
The finance lease liabilities are included under financial liabili-
ties (see note 24, Financial Liabilities). 
 

 Currency Hedges 

Revenues generated by the individual companies are predomi-
nantly made in the same currency in which expenses are in-
curred. Therefore, no currency hedges were undertaken in the 
years 2016/17 and 2017/18.  
 

 Non-Current Assets by Country 

 

in KEUR1 
30.09. 

2018 
30.09.

2017

Germany 78,681 77,148

Austria 355 373

Switzerland 1,705 1,737

Other countries 6,390 5,789

Total 87,131 85,047

1) based on domicile of the service provider and not including deferred tax 
      assets 

 
 Notifications about the Share of Voting Rights in All 

for One Steeb AG according to §21, Section 1 and §25a, 
Section 1 »Wertpapierhandelsgesetz« (WpHG) 

As at 30 September 2018 there were equity interests held in 
the company about which the following notifications and public 
disclosures were made in accordance with the provisions of the 
»Wertpapierhandelsgesetz« (WpHG): 
 
1. On 16 March 2011, BEKO HOLDING AG (since 31 Dec 2015: 
BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co KG), Nöhagen, Austria, has informed 
us according to article 21, section 1 of the WpHG that the share 
of voting rights of BEKO HOLDING AG in All for One Midmarket AG, 
Filderstadt-Bernhausen, Germany, ISIN: DE0005110001, WKN: 
511000 has fallen below the limits of 50%, 30%, 25%, 20%, 15% 
on 12 March 2011 and on that day amounted to 11.11% (this 
corresponds to 540,000 voting rights). 
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2. On 8 January 2016, Prof. Ing. Peter Kotauczek, Austria, in-
formed us according to article 21, section 1 of the WpHG that 
BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co. KG, Nöhagen, Austria, (formerly: 
BEKO HOLDING AG), has a total share of voting rights from 
shares of All for One Steeb AG, Filderstadt-Bernhausen, Ger-
many, ISIN: DE0005110001, WKN: 511000, in the amount of 
11.58%. In relation to the total number of voting rights 
(4,982,000), this corresponds to a total share of 576,742 vot-
ing rights that are attributable to Prof. Ing. Peter Kotauczek ac-
cording to article 22, section 1, sentence 1, number 1 of the 
WpHG. The full chain of controlled companies starting with the 
ultimate controlling natural person is as follows: 
 Prof. Ing. Peter Kotauczek 
 BEKO HOLDING GmbH 
 BEKO HOLDING GmbH & Co KG (share of the voting rights: 

11.58%) 
 
3. On 22 November 2016, Dr Rudolf Knünz, Austria, informed us 
according to article 21, section 1 of the WpHG that Unterneh-
mens Invest AG and UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH, both of Vi-
enna, Austria, have concluded a voting share agreement be-
tween subsidiaries (acting in concert) from shares of All for One 
Steeb AG, Filderstadt-Bernhausen, Germany, ISIN: 
DE0005110001, WKN: 511000, in the amount of 50.14%. In re-
lation to the total number of voting rights (4,982,000), this cor-
responds to a total share of 2,497,746 voting rights that are at-
tributable to Dr Rudolf Knünz according to article 22, section 1, 
sentence 1, number 1 of the WpHG. The full chain of controlled 
companies starting with the ultimate controlling natural per-
son is as follows:  
 Dr Rudolf Knünz 
 Knünz GmbH 
 Robotec GmbH 
 Knünz Invest Beteiligungs GmbH 
 Unternehmens Invest AG (share of the voting rights: 

50.14%) 
 UIAG Informatik-Holding GmbH (share of the voting rights: 

50.14%) 
 
4. On 2 June 2017, MainFirst SICAV, Senningerberg, Luxem-
burg, informed us according to article 21, section 1 of the WpHG 
that they have a total share of voting rights from All for One 
Steeb AG, Filderstadt-Bernhausen, Germany, ISIN: 
DE0005110001, WKN: 511000, in the amount of 7.74%. In rela-
tion to the total number of voting rights (4,982,000), this cor-
responds to a total of 385,607 voting rights.  
 
The total number of shares with voting rights of All for One Steeb 
AG is an unchanged 4,982,000.  
 

 Corporate Governance, Non-Financial Statement, 
Compensation Report 

The reports and statements relating to the above can be found 
in the Investor Relations section on the company's website at 
www.all-for-one.com.  
 

 Group Auditors Fees and Services 

The auditors’ fees were as follows: 
 

in KEUR 
10/2017 – 

09/2018 
10/2016 – 

09/2017

Audit services 267 244

of which are only KPMG AG 215 208

Other confirmation services 112 80

of which are only KPMG AG 112 80

Tax advisory services 25 28

of which are only KPMG AG 0 5

Other services 1 8

of which are only KPMG AG 0 8

Total 405 360

of which are only KPMG AG 327 301

 
The fee for audit services provided by KPMG AG Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft relates mainly to the audit of the consol-
idated financial statements and the annual financial state-
ments of All for One Steeb AG as well as the various audits of the 
annual accounts of its subsidiaries to include the audit focal 
points agreed to with the supervisory board. 
 
Other confirmation services refer to the conduct of agreed in-
vestigations pertaining to All for One Steeb AG‘s financial indi-
cators. Also provided were ISAE 3402 Type II audit services and 
testing of the controls that are used with respect to the perfor-
mance of the administrative operations and hosting services 
on customer systems. Tax advisory services encompass sup-
port services in the preparation of tax returns. The other ser-
vices pertain to diverse advisory services. 
 

 Release of Consolidated Financial Statements for 
Publication 

The management board released these consolidated financial 
statements for publication on 11 December 2018. 
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 Subsequent Events 

With effect from 1 January 2019, All for One Steeb AG will ac-
quire all shares in TalentChamp Consulting GmbH, Vienna/Aus-
tria. The corresponding share purchase agreement was signed 
on 30 November 2018. The company is a recognised talent 
management and cloud specialist in the German-speaking 
marketplace, generates annual revenues in excess of EUR 4 
million, currently employs 35 people and has successfully 
completed more than 150 SuccessFactors projects. All for One 
Steeb is striving to become market leader in the German-
speaking SAP Cloud HR market. The transaction constitutes a 
business combination under IFRS 3. The entity will be fully 
included in the consolidated financial statements from 1 Jan-
uary 2019 onwards. The provisional total purchase price for 
acquiring all the shares in TalentChamp is in the mid-single-
digit million euros range plus a performance-related two-year 
earn-out component. Since purchase price allocation is still 
outstanding, no statements can as yet be made with regard to 
the earnings and profits of the combined business. 
 
No other reportable events occurred after 30 September 2018. 
 
Filderstadt, 11 December 2018 
All for One Steeb AG 
 
 
 
 
Lars Landwehrkamp Stefan Land 
CEO   CFO 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets of All for One Steeb AG 
Financial Year from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018  

 
 Costs 

in KEUR 01.10.2017 

Foreign
currency

differences

Change in 
scope of 

consolidation Additions Disposals
Reclassifi-

cations 30.09.2018  

Intangible assets           

Goodwill 25,803 0 -889 0 0 0 24,914  

Other intangible assets 68,001 0 1,292 491 -131 8 69,661  

  93,804 0 403 491 -131 8 94,575  
                   

Tangible fixed assets           

Leasehold improvements 1,637 -14 0 137 -12 0 1,748  

IT systems 24,559 5 0 8,051 -861 -6 31,748  

Operating and office 
equipment 5,388 -14 0 3,228 -230 -2 8,370  

  31,584 -23 0 11,416 -1,103 -8 41,866  

Total 125,388 -23 403 11,907 -1,234 0 136,441  

KEUR 4,239 in finance leases are included in the additions to the non-current assets.  

 
 
Financial Year from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017  

  
 Costs 

in KEUR 01.10.2016 

Foreign
currency

differences

Change in 
scope of 

consolidation Additions Disposals
Reclassifi-

cations 30.09.2017  

Intangible assets           

Goodwill 20,880 0 4,923 0 0 0 25,803  

Other intangible assets 64,110 0 4,420 445 -974 0 68,001  

  84,990 0 9,343 445 -974 0 93,804  
                  

Tangible fixed assets           

Leasehold improvements 933 -10 12 760 -58 0 1,637  

IT systems 21,578 -27 147 5,328 -2,467 0 24,559  

Operating and office 
equipment 4,664 -16 215 758 -233 0 5,388  

  27,175 -53 374 6,846 -2,758 0 31,584  

Total 112,165 -53 9,717 7,291 -3,732 0 125,388  

KEUR 2,625 in finance leases are included in the additions to the non-current assets.  
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  Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Carrying amounts 

  01.10.2017 

Foreign 
currency 

differences 
Deprec./

amortisation Disposals
Reclassifi-

cations 30.09.2018 30.09.2018 30.09.2017

              

  1,272 0 0 0 0 1,272 23,642 24,531

  26,383 0 4,790 -117 0 31,056 38,605 41,618

  27,655 0 4,790 -117 0 32,328 62,247 66,149
                  

              

  795 -15 211 -7 0 984 764 842

  15,615 5 4,790 -851 -6 19,553 12,195 8,944

  3,425 -10 838 -209 6 4,050 4,320 1,963

  19,835 -20 5,839 -1,067 0 24,587 17,279 11,749

  47,490 -20 10,629 -1,184 0 56,915 79,526 77,898

        
 
 
 

 
 Accumulated depreciation/amortisation Carrying amounts 

  01.10.2016 

Foreign 
currency 

differences 
Deprec./

amortisation Disposals
Reclassifi-

cations 30.09.2017 30.09.2017 30.09.2016

              

  1,272 0 0 0 0 1,272 24,531 19,608

  22,602 0 4,755 -974 0 26,383 41,618 41,508

  23,874 0 4,755 -974 0 27,655 66,149 61,116
                  

              

  679 -10 184 -58 0 795 842 254

  14,197 -20 3,660 -2,222 0 15,615 8,944 7,381

  2,952 -12 713 -228 0 3,425 1,963 1,712

  17,828 -42 4,557 -2,508 0 19,835 11,749 9,347

  41,702 -42 9,312 -3,482 0 47,490 77,898 70,463
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Responsibility  
Statement 
of the Management Board 
 
 
»To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the 
applicable reporting principles, we affirm that the consolidated 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 
financial position and earnings of the Group, and that the Group 
Management Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the Group, 
together with a description of the principal opportunities and 
risks associated with the expected development of the Group«. 
 
Filderstadt, 11 December 2018 
All for One Steeb AG 
 
 
 
 
Lars Landwehrkamp Stefan Land 
CEO CFO 
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Independent  
Auditors’ Report 
to All for One Steeb AG 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Group Management Report  
 
Auditors’ Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of All for 
One Steeb AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), comprising the 
Group income statement and other comprehensive income for 
the financial year 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018, the 
Group balance sheet as at 30 September 2018, the Group cash 
flow statement and the Group statement of changes in equity 
for the financial year 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018, 
and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, to-
gether with a summary of significant accounting policies. 
Furthermore, we have audited the group management report of 
All for One Steeb AG for the financial year from 1 October 2017 
to 30 September 2018.  
 
In our opinion based on the findings of our audit: 
 
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements com-

ply in all material respects with IFRS as adopted in the EU 
and with the additional requirements of German law pursu-
ant to §315e, section 1 German Commercial Code (»HGB«) 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets and financial 
position of the Group as at 30 September 2018 and of the 
results of operations for the financial year 1 October 2017 
to 30 September 2018.  

 
 The accompanying group management report provides an 

overall suitable view of the Group’s situation. The group 
management report conforms in all material respects with 
the consolidated financial statements, complies with the 
requirements of German law, and suitably presents the op-
portunities and risks of future development.  

 
Pursuant to §322, section 3, sentence 1 HGB, we declare that 
our audit has not led to any reservations with regard to the reg-
ularity of the consolidated financial statements or the group 
management report. 

 
Basis for the Auditors’ Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments und group management report in accordance with §317 
HGB, the Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 on Specific Require-
ments regarding Statutory Audits of Public-Interest Entities 
(»EU Regulation 537/2014«), and German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by 
the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (»IDW Institute of Public Au-
ditors in Germany«). Our responsibility pursuant to these pro-
visions and principles are described in the section entitled »Au-
ditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and group management report«. We are inde-
pendent of the Group and its companies in accordance with 
German commercial and professional laws and regulations, 
and have fulfilled our other German professional duties in ac-
cordance with these requirements. Furthermore, we declare 
pursuant to Article 10, section 2(f) of EU Regulation 537/2014 
that we provided no prohibited non-audit services as stipulated 
in Article 5, section 1 of EU Regulation 537/2014. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinion about the consoli-
dated financial statements and the group management report. 
 
Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Key audit matters are those matters which, in our professional 
judgement, were of the most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the financial year 1 Octo-
ber 2017 to 30 September 2018. These matters were ad-
dressed within the context of our audit of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements as a whole and in forming our audit opinion 
thereof. We do not provide a separate audit opinion on these 
matters. 
 



Company    I    Group Management Report    I    Consolidated Financial Statements    I    Notes    I    Additional Information 

90 Annual Report All for One Steeb AG 

Impairment of goodwill and the trademark rights of the cash 
generating unit All for One Steeb AG 

 
Information about the accounting and valuation methods ap-
plied and the impairment testing performed are contained in 
sections H. »Accounting and Valuation Principles« and K. 11. 
»Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets« of the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements. 
 
The Risk to the Financial Statements 

The goodwill totalled EUR 12.1 million and the trademark rights 
EUR 8.7 million in the cash generating unit All for One Steeb AG 
as at 30 September 2018.  
 
The goodwill and the trademark rights are tested for impair-
ment at the level of the cash generating unit All for One Steeb 
AG. The impairment testing of goodwill and the trademark rights 
is complex and based on a number of discretionary factors. The 
most significant assumptions concern the expected future 
sales revenues and the discount rates applied.  
 
No need for recognition of an impairment loss was identified as 
a result of the impairment testing made by the company. There 
exists the risk to the consolidated financial statements that 
the goodwill and the trademark rights of the cash generating 
unit All for One Steeb AG may not be recoverable. 
 
Our Audit Approach 

On the basis of the explanations provided by the individuals re-
sponsible for planning, we assessed the planning process and 
the material assumptions used. Using publicly available infor-
mation, we evaluated whether the key budget figures con-
tained in the planning and the underlying assumptions are ap-
propriate. 
 
For the cash generating unit All for One Steeb AG, we compared 
the expected future cash flows with the planning submitted by 
the supervisory board. In addition, and by having used a retro-
spective comparison of the budget figures (e.g. sales reve-
nues) from years past with the actual results attained, we were 
satisfied with the company’s sound basis for making plans. We 

assessed the assumptions and parameters used in determin-
ing the applied discount rate, particularly the market risk pre-
mium and the beta, and evaluated the measurement model. 
Furthermore, we performed our own sensitivity analysis so as 
to enable us to estimate a potential impairment risk in connec-
tion with what is considered to be a potential change in the ma-
terial assumptions of the valuation.  
 
We evaluated the impairment test’s measurement method and 
mathematically reviewed the calculation of the discounted 
cash flows. 
 
Our Conclusions 

The underlying measurement method used for the impairment 
test of the goodwill and the trademark rights of the cash gener-
ating unit All for One Steeb AG as at 30 September 2018 is 
proper and complies with applicable IFRS measurement princi-
ples. The most significant underlying assumptions used in the 
impairment test are appropriate. 
 
Recognition of sales revenues from consulting and services 

 
The disclosures pertaining to the recognition of the reported 
sales revenues are contained in sections H. »Accounting and 
Valuation Principles« and J. 1. »Sales Revenues« of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Risk to the Financial Statements 

The sales revenues of EUR 133.4 million from consulting ser-
vices in financial year 2017/2018 account for 40.1% of the 
Group’s revenues. These revenues stem primarily from consult-
ing services and long-term project contracts.  
 
Proper recognition of sales revenues in the consolidated finan-
cial statements is of utmost importance for the economic situ-
ation of the Group. In the consulting business, the diverse 
range of customer requirements lead to complex contracting 
arrangements that have a bearing on revenue recognition. 
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The company provides consulting services that are invoiced 
and recognised on the basis of the hours recorded by the em-
ployees after the services have been rendered (time and mate-
rial projects). The company also carries out long-term projects 
on the basis of contracts for work, the revenues from which are 
recognised using the percentage of completion method. In the 
case of long-term project contracts, the stage of completion, 
and with it the amount of revenues recognised, is determined 
by comparing the number of hours worked and the total num-
ber of expected hours in the project. The total number of ex-
pected hours for completion of the project requires discretion-
ary decisions on the part of the company, involves uncertainty 
associated with the estimate, and can have a significant effect 
on the amount of sales revenues. 
 
There exists the risk for the consolidated financial statements 
that the sales revenues from the long-term project business 
are not recognised in an appropriate amount. 
 
Our Audit Approach 

Our examination of the effectiveness of the internal controls 
with respect to the proper recognition of the contract-related 
personnel and other expenses in the internal job accounts was 
based on our understanding of the processes and an evalua-
tion of the structure and implementation of these measures. 
With these controls, the company ensures that only project-re-
lated hours and expenses are invoiced and recorded in the re-
spective job accounts. 
 
We reviewed the contractual agreements underlying a repre-
sentative sampling of time and material projects to determine 
if the projects are in fact time and material projects with reve-
nue recognition made when the service is provided.  
 
For this sampling, we then evaluated the customer invoices for 
conformity with the contractual agreements and the internal 
job accounts. 
 
We reviewed the contractual agreements underlying a repre-
sentative sampling of unfinished long-term projects to deter-
mine if the projects are in fact long-term projects with revenue 
recognition made using the percentage of completion method.  
 

For this sampling of unfinished long-term projects, we then as-
sessed the underlying stage of completion used for revenue 
recognition by reviewing and evaluating the total actual hours 
recorded, the total expected hours, and the expected revenues 
in the calculation for the customer.  
 
In the case of the long-term projects completed in the financial 
year, we inspected selected risk-oriented acceptance certifi-
cates to evaluate the recognition of the sales revenues in the 
appropriate periods. 
 
Our Conclusions 

The company’s actions for differentiation and recognition of the 
sales revenues from consulting and services are proper. The es-
timates of the stages of completion are appropriate. 
 
Other Information 

The legal representatives are responsible for providing the 
other information. Other information includes the business re-
port – which will probably not be available to us until after the 
date of issuing this audit certificate – with the exception of the 
audited consolidated financial statements and Group manage-
ment report, and our audit certificate. 
 
Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report does not extend to the other in-
formation. Accordingly, we will not issue an audit assessment, 
nor any other form of conclusions drawn from an audit. 
 
In performing our audit, we are responsible for reading the other 
information and assessing whether the other information 
 
 contains any material inconsistencies relating to the con-

solidated financial statements, the Group management 
report or the knowledge gained during our audit, or 

 
 seems to be otherwise materially misstated. 
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Responsibility of Management and the Supervisory Board for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and Group Manage-
ment Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the EU and the additional requirements of German law pur-
suant to §315e, section 1 HGB, and for ensuring that the con-
solidated financial statements provide a true and fair view of 
the results and financial position of the Group in accordance 
with these regulations. Furthermore, management is responsi-
ble for such internal controls as it determines are necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free of material misstatements due to fraud or error. 
 
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for evaluating the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern. Furthermore, manage-
ment is responsible for disclosing matters relating to going-
concern principles as appropriate, and using the going-concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liqui-
date the Group or cease operations, or has no realistic alterna-
tive but to do so. 
 
Management is also responsible for the preparation of the 
group management report, which as a whole provides a suita-
ble view of the Group’s position and is consistent in all material 
respects with the consolidated financial statements, complies 
with the requirements of German law, and suitably presents 
the opportunities and risks of future development. Further-
more, management is responsible for such policies and proce-
dures (systems) as it determines are necessary to enable the 
preparation of the group management reports in accordance 
with the requirements of German law, and for providing suffi-
cient and appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group 
management report. 
 
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process for the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements and the group management re-
ports. 
 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Group Management Report  

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free of in-
tentional or unintentional material misstatements due to fraud 
or error, and whether the group management report provides 
an overall suitable view of the Group’s position and is con-
sistent in all material respects with the consolidated financial 
statements as well as the findings of our audit, and complies 
with the requirements of German law and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development; and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our audit opinion of the consoli-
dated financial statements and the group management report.  
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but not a 
guarantee, that an audit conducted in accordance with §317 
HGB, EU Regulation 537/2014, and German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by 
the IDW Institute of Public Auditors in Germany will always de-
tect a material misstatement. Misstatements may arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if they could, individ-
ually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users made on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements and group management re-
port. 
 
We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in 

the consolidated financial statements and in the group 
management report whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
material misstatements resulting from fraud is higher than 
for those resulting from error, as fraud may involve collu-
sion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal controls. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of the internal control system rel-

evant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and the policies and procedures relevant to the audit of the 
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group management report in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate to the given circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of these systems. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and re-
lated disclosures made by management. 

 
 Draw conclusions about the appropriateness of manage-

ment’s use of the going-concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there exists 
a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material un-
certainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our au-
ditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or in the group management report or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our audit opin-
ion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence ob-
tained up to the date of our auditors’ report. Future events 
or conditions may, however, lead to the Group being unable 
to continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 

the consolidated financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a man-
ner that the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the net assets and financial position as well 
as the results of operations of the Group in accordance with 
IFRS as adopted by the EU and the requirements of German 
law pursuant to §315e, section 1 HGB.  

 
 Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities or business activi-
ties within the Group to express an audit opinion on the con-
solidated financial statements and the group management 
report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We are solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 

 Evaluate the consistency of the group management report 
with the consolidated financial statements, its compliance 
with legal requirements and the view of the Group’s position 
that it presents. 

 
 Perform audit procedures on the prospective information 

presented by management in the group management re-
port. Based on appropriate and sufficient audit evidence, 
we thereby, and in particular, evaluate the material as-
sumptions used by management as a basis for the pro-
spective information and assess the reasonableness of 
these assumptions as well as the appropriate derivation of 
the prospective information from these assumptions. We 
do not issue a separate audit opinion on the prospective in-
formation or the underlying assumptions. There is a signifi-
cant and unavoidable risk that future events will deviate 
significantly from the prospective information. 

 
Among other matters, we communicate with those charged 
with governance the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in the internal control system that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance a statement 
that we have complied with the relevant independence require-
ment and communicate to them all the relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on 
our independence, and the safeguards applied with regard to 
them. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with gov-
ernance, we determine those matters that were of most signif-
icance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for 
the current reporting period and which are therefore consid-
ered the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
unless laws or regulations prohibit public disclosure of the mat-
ter. 
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Other information pursuant to Article 10 of EU 
Regulation 537/2014 
 
We were appointed by the annual general meeting to be the au-
ditors of the consolidated financial statements on 15 March 
2018. We were engaged by the supervisory board on 7 June 
2018. We have been working on behalf of All for One Steeb AG as 
the auditors of the consolidated financial statements continu-
ously for 21 years. 
 
We declare that the audit opinions contained in this auditors’ 
report are consistent with the additional report to the audit 
committee that was prepared pursuant to Article 11 of EU Reg-
ulation 537/2014. 
 
Responsible auditor 
 
The auditor responsible for the audit is Arne Stratmann. 
 
Stuttgart, 11 December 2018 
 
KPMG AG  
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
 
Stratmann Köpke 
Auditor  Auditor 
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Service 
 
Financial Calendar for Financial Year 2018/19 
 

Donnerstag 07.02.2019 Quarterly Statement 2018/19 as at 31 December 2018 

Wednesday 13.03.2019 Annual General Meeting, Leinfelden-Echterdingen 

Thursday 09.05.2019 Half-Year Financial Report 2018/19 as at 31 March 2019 

Thursday 08.08.2019 Quarterly Statement 2018/19 as at 30 June 2019 

Monday 16.12.2019 Publication of Consolidated and Annual Financial Statements 
Financial Year from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019 

Monday 16.12.2019 Press Conference on Consolidated and Annual Financial  
Statements, Filderstadt 

Tuesday 17.12.2019 Analyst Presentation, Frankfurt 
      

 
IR Service 
Our homepage offers an extensive IR Service. Apart from finding company reports, analyst 
reports, financial presentations or information concerning the annual general meeting, you 
can also put yourself on the distribution list for press and financial announcements. 
www.all-for-one.com/ir-relations 
 
Disclaimer 
As far as this annual report contains forecasts, estimates or expectations, these can be 
associated with risks and uncertainties. The actual results and developments can deviate 
from the expectations and assumptions made. Changes in the general economic and 
competitive situation, particularly in the core business divisions and markets, changes in 
legislation, in particular tax regulations, can cause such deviations. The German version is 
the definite version of this annual report. The company assumes no obligation to update 
statements made in this annual report. 
 
Imprint 
Investor Relations 
Dirk Sonntag 
Head of Corporate & Investor Relations 
T +49 711 78 80 7-260 
F +49 711 78 80 7-222 
E-Mail dirk.sonntag@all-for-one.com 
 
Responsible for the Content 
All for One Steeb AG 
Filderstadt, Germany 
 
Concept and Design 
IR-ONE, Hamburg, Germany 
www.ir-one



 

 

All for One Steeb AG 
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70794 Filderstadt-Bernhausen 
Germany 
Tel. +49 (0) 711 788 07-0 
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